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Purmo Group Plc is a leader in sustainable indoor 
climate comfort solutions. Our offering covers heating 

and cooling, its distribution, ventilation, emission 
and control. We provide solutions and systems, heat-
pumps, radiators, towel warmers, underfloor heating, 
convectors, valves and controls, mostly to residential 

markets. Our approximately 3,500 employees operate 
in 46 locations in 21 countries, manufacturing and 
distributing to more than 100 countries globally.

Our mission is to be the global leader in  
sustainable indoor climate comfort solutions.  

Buildings in the EU, for example, are responsible  
for approximately 40% of total energy consumption  

and 36% of greenhouse gas emissions.

Our vision is that perfect indoor climates  
should not cost the planet’s climate.

 
www.purmogroup.com
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CEO review

Great progress in an unusual year

Strong performance improvement
2021 was a record year for adjusted EBITDA. With 
strong organic growth, sales recovered to above 
pre-pandemic levels and the value of our PGUp 
earnings and cost improvement programme shone 
in our bottom-line performance. 

The seasonal pattern was markedly different from 
normal years. 2021 started with higher-then-usual 
demand, driven by a strong recovery from the pan-
demic and customers pre-buying ahead of expected 
price increases. The demand normalised towards the 
end of 2021.

The world stepped up its response to climate 
change, which we expect to benefit our markets. 
The EU’s Energy Performance of Buildings Directive 
(EPBD) recognized the enormous effect that its 240 
million buildings have on CO2 emissions and it set 

out the measures needed in heating and cooling to 
reach carbon neutrality. The relevance of indoor  
climates not costing the planet’s climate became  
a dominant issue.

Our strategy of 
smart products, 
whole solutions  
and growth markets 
is a solid base for 
the future.

2021 was a great success for Purmo Group and 
we are proud of what the company achieved, 
culminating in our listing on the Nasdaq Helsinki.
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John Peter Leesi
CEO

Highlights from our divisions
In our Radiators division, volumes grew organically 
by 10 per cent. The price of steel more than doubled 
and supply chains were stretched. Nonetheless, we 
were able to supply and the need to pass on the in-
creased steel cost was largely met. In China we sur-
passed our sales goals. 

bination of post-pandemic recovery, sales-price 
increases as well as underlying market growth of 
indoor climate systems.

Strategy and operations
We crowned the year by becoming listed on Nasdaq 
Helsinki. We are excited to step into our next phase 
as a publicly listed company with a clear ambition to 
become the global market leader in indoor climate 
comfort solutions. This allows us to pursue our growth 
strategy including notable M&A ambitions.

Our strategy of smart products, whole solutions and 
growth markets is a solid position for the future. 
If Europe is to reach its goal of carbon-neutrality 
by 2050, all new residential buildings must have 
net-zero emissions, and the worst-performing 15% 
of existing buildings must be upgraded by 2030. 
Whole solutions will reduce the consumption  
and emissions of heating buildings. Smart prod-
ucts are more aesthetic and more installable. 
New and existing systems can be made more ef-
ficient and bridge the transition into modern sys-
tems such as those driven by heat pumps.

In 2021 we released Tinos H, a smart and less con-
spicuous decorative panel radiator that offers flex-
ibility in colour, configuration and thermal output, 
while the Figuresse range of bathroom heaters de-
livered new, more sophisticated styles. We expand-
ed underfloor heating in Romania and the Balkan 

states, launched initiatives in France and Germany 
for water distribution systems, released radiant heat-
ing and cooling panels for ceilings in Sweden, and 
expanded thermostatic valves in Eastern Europe. In 
the UK we increased our focus on installers of be-
spoke underfloor heating systems.

During the year we developed a four-sided sus-
tainability strategy called “Complete Care”. We also 

launched our first PGOS (Purmo Group Operations 
System) initiative in Hungary to drive continuous im-
provement. We also saw a record turnout in our em-
ployee engagement survey, revealing an increase in 
engagement and some very clear pointers to what 
management can do to make the Group a better 
place to work.

So, for the performance in 2021, I would like to thank 
all of our stakeholders, including employees, share-
holders, customers, suppliers and other business 
partners for the engagement and trust you have 
shown us.The relevance of  

indoor climates not 
costing the planet’s 
climate became  
a dominant issue.

Our strategy addresses 
three fundamental 
demands: adopting 
modern heating systems, 
lower energy consumption, 
and the performance  
and aesthetic needs  
of renovation  
and repurposing.

ICS Division’s (Indoor Climate Systems) 2021 
sales were up by 23 per cent and margins ex-
panded significantly. Italy was our strongest 
market supported by the Italian government’s 
green incentive programme. Several other 
markets also performed well, thanks to a com-
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Our vision 
Perfect indoor 
climates should 
not cost the 
planet's climate

The planet 
is driving every 
agenda 
 
From government  
to business to 
consumer, our  
effect on the planet 
affects almost  
every decision

Households  
make up 26% of  
the final energy 
consumption in Europe

People  
are rethinking their 
relationships with 
buildings

1 2 3

 Read more in the Sustainability section of this report on page 21
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At the centre of the European sustainability journey

Reaching EU objectives by 2030 requires:

 18% reduction in energy consumption 
  60% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions 
of buildings

The challenge in working towards an 18% reduction in energy
consumption by 2030 is:

  40% of EU’s CO2 emissions  
come from buildings
  75% of buildings in EU30 require deep energy 
renovation. That equals approximately 240 million 
buildings in Europe that need renovation. 

• To support this substantial and fast change the European Union 
is through the EU Green Deal providing EUR 72 billion of addi-
tional funding over the next seven years to support sustainability 
initiatives.

• A regulatory push towards energy efficiency and recyclability.
• Consumer preferences drive demand for more sustainable 

indoor climate comfort products and solutions.

Enabled by strong governance, safe working practices and ethical behavior, Purmo Group’s sustainability strategy focuses on four key areas:

Solutions  
– that drive and enable smart,  
energy efficient and aesthetic  
indoor climate comfort for our customers

Key themes: Climate smart choices;  
circularity and end-of-life.

Production 
– that aims for carbon  
neutrality throughout our  
manufacturing network

Key themes: Emission and energy;
Resource efficiency and waste;
Responsible sourcing.

People 
– that deliver as a happy,
future-fit and diverse workforce

Key themes: Diversity, equality and
inclusion; Engagement at work;  
Employeeupskilling; Health and safety.

Communities 
– that we enable
to be climate resilient

Key themes: Community engagement
and work in locations where we have
operations.

Purmo Group’s sustainability strategy supports our growth ambitions in sustainable indoor climate comfort solutions

EU objectives by 2030 The challenge The drivers
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Strong growth despite challenging market 
conditions. The listing on Nasdaq Helsinki in 

January 2022 will support the execution of  
our strategy, growth plans and M&A agenda.

Purmo Group in 2021
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Purmo Group Plc at a glance – a leader 
in sustainable indoor climate comfort 
solutions in Europe
We provide complete heating and cooling solutions 
to residential and non-residential buildings, including 
radiators, towel warmers, underfloor heating, con-
vectors, valves and controls. Our mission is to be the 
global leader in sustainable indoor climate comfort 
solutions. About 50% of our sales is new builds and 
50% is renovation.

Our nearly 3,500 employees operate through 46 lo-
cations in 21 countries, manufacturing and distribut-
ing top quality products and solutions to customers in 
more than 100 countries globally. 

Purmo Group has a key role in the global focus on a 
sustainable future. Buildings in Europe are responsi-

USA CHINA

#1*
in Radiators

#4*
in Radiant Heat 
and Cooling 
and cooling

~3,500
employees globally

46
locations globally in

ble for approximately 40% of total energy consump-
tion and 36% of greenhouse gas emissions. Heating 
and cooling of residential buildings makes up 17% 
of Europe's total energy consumption. 240 million 
buildings in Europe need renovation to meet EU’s 
2030 energy efficiency objectives. Sustainability is at 
the centre of our operations.

Our strategy
Our strategy is focused on solution selling, smart 
products and growth markets. We are also sup-
portive of growth through M&A opportunities that 
contribute to consolidation, expansion and diver-
sification. Our strategy is enhanced by operational 
excellence, and our people and culture.

21
countries

BRAZIL

Purmo Group Plc is listed 
on Nasdaq Helsinki

Net sales by division (2021) 

Radiators
Indoor Climate 
Systems (ICS)

40%

60%

844 M€

Western Europe
Central and  
Eastern Europe
Northern Europe
Southern Europe
RoW

Net sales by geographical area 2021,
EUR million

12%

19%

6%

39%

24%

844 M€

Net sales by division (2021) 

Radiators
Indoor Climate 
Systems (ICS)

40%

60%

844 M€ Western Europe
Central and  
Eastern Europe
Northern Europe
Southern Europe
RoW

Net sales by geographical area 2021,
EUR million

12%

19%

6%

39%

24%

844 M€

* Management 
estimates based 
on a third-party 
data. Relates to 
European market 
share by volume; 
market position in 
RHC is based on 
radiant heating 
and cooling 
solutions including 
underfloor heating 
and radiant panel 
volumes. 
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Long-term financial targets
EUR million 2021 2020 Change %
Net sales 843.6 671.2 26%

Adjusted EBITDA 103.9 85.1 22%

Adjusted EBITDA margin, % 12.3% 12.7%

Adjusted EBITA 70.8 50.3 35%

Adjusted EBITA margin, % 8.4%  7.8%

EBIT 3,5 42.0 -92%

EBIT margin, % 0.4% 6.3%

Profit for the period -18.8 25,3 -174%

Adjusted Profit for the period 51.4  38.5 34%

Earnings per share, basic, EUR -0.65  0.86 -175%

Adjusted Earnings per share, basic, EUR 1.77  1.32 33%

Cash flow from operating activities 35.4 68.9 -48%

Adjusted operating cash flow, last 12 months1 53.1 94.2 -44%

Cash conversion %, last 12 months2 51.1% 110.7%

Operating capital employed 3 271.8  235.6 15%

Return on operating capital employed, %4 1.3%  17.8%

Net debt 239.5  75.1 219%

Net debt / Adjusted EBITDA 2.3  0.9 161%

1 Adjusted EBITDA on a rolling 12 month basis deducted by the change in net working capital and capex on a rolling 12 month basis.  
2 Adjusted operating cash flow divided by Adjusted EBITDA, both on a rolling 12 month basis. 
3 Net working capital, other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use-assets. 
4 EBIT based on a rolling twelve-month calculation divided by operating capital employed. Return on operating capital employed without 
non-recurring items was 27.1% (23.4%).

Key strengths of Purmo Group 

• At the centre of the global  
sustainability journey

• Broadest offering 
• Brand portfolio recognized for  

product quality and innovation
• Longstanding relationships  

with wholesalers and installers 
• Clear and well-defined strategy  

supported by key growth drivers
• Strong historical financial track record
• Experienced management team with a 

clear focus on value creation and growth 

     Read more on on page 17

Long term financial targets  
and dividend policy

Growth: Purmo Group targets organic net sales 
growth in excess of market growth. In addition,  
Purmo Group aims for notable inorganic growth 
through acquisitions.

Profitability: Purmo Group targets an adjusted 
EBITDA margin above 15% in the medium-  
to long-term. 

Leverage: The leverage ratio is targeted not to 
exceed 3.0x, measured as interest bearing net debt 
/ Adjusted EBITDA on a rolling twelve-month basis. 
However, leverage may temporarily exceed the target 
level, for example in conjunction with acquisitions or 
restructuring actions. 

Dividend: Purmo Group’s aim is to distribute at least 
40% of annual net profit as dividends or return of 
capital, intended to be paid out bi-annually after 
considering earnings trends for the group, its  
financial position and future growth potential.
 

Key Figures
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Net sales, M€
Adjusted EBITDA margin, % 
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Responding to challenges  
and building for the future

We manufacture and sell two forms of radiators: 
panel radiators, about 80% of sales, and tubular 
radiators such as towel warmers, flat tube decora-
tive products and column radiators. Both forms are 
offered as hydronic and electric versions. Demand 
is primarily driven by residential new construction 
(about 40% of sales), and repair and maintenance 
(about 60% of sales). 

The European radiator market grew strongly in 2021 
driven by growth in construction in both residential 
new-builds and repair. The reverse seasonality forced 
longer delivery times as the sector was unable to build 

up inventory of finished products after the traditional 
winter peak. However, demand normalised during the 
fourth quarter. We launched new products in both the 
panel and tubular segments and began the expansion 
of our largest manufacturing plant in Rybnik, Poland.

On a general level, and across all forms (electri-
cal, panels, tubular, towel warmers etc.) the di-
vision recognised 14% volume growth, approxi-
mately 4% of which was due to the acquisition of 
Evroradiators. Good sales development was driv-
en by strong demand, successful management of 
steel-supply constraints, and the roll-out of price 

Divisional review - Radiators

The radiator market is split into electrical and 
hydronic, of which the hydronic market is easily 
the biggest. Purmo Group has the number 1 
position in Europe in terms of sales volumes. 20212019 2020
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Radiators division: Net sales (EUR million) 

Net sales, M€

506.3

411.1 396.9

~90%
 

of radiator sales come from  
the residential segment and 10% from  

the non-residental segment.

5.7

150.6

24.3
112.3

213.5

506.3 M€

Northern Europe
Western Europe
Central and Eastern Europe
Southern Europe
RoW

Net sales by region,  
EUR million
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Tinos H
CASE STUDY

Tinos H is a new addition to our collection of 
flat-form panels. It is a smart product that 
reflects current and future demand, conven-
tional boilers and heat pumps. It is designed 
to offer an unrivalled choice of installation 
configurations, colours and thermal output. 

Aesthetically, it has a high-quality finish  
that blends in with its surroundings.  
Lower-temperature systems such as  
those driven by heat pumps generally  
require bigger units, and customers  
want them to be less visible. 

increases in response to the rising price of materi-
als - mostly cold-rolled steel.

Record production in China increased our year-on-
year volumes by 56% which was some way above 
the market. China is arguably the highest potential 
growth-market in panel radiators and our market 
share now sits at about 17%.

We’ve seen strong growth in electric radiators. This 
is mostly driven by modern, better insulated build-

“The European radiator market is expected to 
grow, driven by a renovation wave that affects a 
large number of buildings in Europe.”
Tomasz Tarabura,  
Senior Vice President, Radiators Division

ings and the growth in people upgrading insulation. 
These products have immediate compatibility with 
home control solutions and we predict a good  
future for this product family in mature markets 
such as Sweden, France, Austria and Benelux.

In summary, the year offered many challenges and  
opportunities: some were a result of the recent past 
and some were the result of a shifting path into the fu-
ture. The Radiators division showed the adaptability, re-
lationships and inventiveness to make the best of both.
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Divisional review – Indoor Climate Systems (ICS)

Recovery, resilience, sustainability

The Indoor Climate Systems (ICS) division offers 
Radiant Heating and Cooling (RHC), primarily  
in the form of underfloor heating, air heating  
and cooling, water-distribution and connection  
systems, as well as system components such as  
hydronic and electronic controls as well as flow 
balancing technology. 

In 2021, the European ICS market generally showed 
growth and strong demand with some markets ris-
ing above pre-pandemic levels. New construction 
activity was positive. The renovation market was 

also lifted by government incentives in a number of 
core markets and by consumers redirecting discre-
tionary expenditure into homes. Market demand 
was overall positive although some raw material 
shortages slowed growth in some countries.

Products with strong links to renewable energy 
and sustainable energy saw good demand. For 
example, government incentives linked to improv-
ing energy efficiency of homes in Italy and central 
Europe contributed to an increase in demand for 
heat pumps and renewable energy systems. Per-

Purmo Group’s ICS division provides heating 
and cooling systems and components to 
specifiers, installers and wholesalers in the 
residential and non-residential market.

20212019 2020
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ICS division: Adj. EBITDA (EUR million)

22.1
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43.7

13.0%9.8%7.7%

Net sales, M€
Adjusted EBITDA margin, % 
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ICS division: Net sales (EUR million)

337.2
285.7 274.3

~70%
of ICS sales come from the new-build 

market, the rest from repair, maintenance 
and improvement.

96.3

50.9

28.1

113.1

337.2 M€

Northern Europe
Western Europe
Central and Eastern Europe
Southern Europe
RoW

Net sales by region,  
EUR million

48.8
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“Our core ICS markets are expected to provide 
continued stable growth with environmental 
legislation and general attitude driving 
transition towards sustainable systems.”
Mike Conlon,  
Senior Vice President, Indoor Climate Systems

formance in Italy was particularly strong and was 
capitalised upon, although demand outstripped 
supply capabilities across the general HVAC sector.

Much of the division’s growth was driven by  
volume growth and successful implementation of 
price increases to compensate for rises in mate-
rial and production costs, including energy. Some 
supply constraints relating to global issues such as 
semi-conductor availability and to materials for 
pipe production had a slowing effect during the 
last quarter of 2021.

A number of investment projects to increase ca-
pacity in pipe and brass based production, and 
to enable growth in target markets, were brought 
forward to the fourth quarter of 2021. Following 

a review, it was agreed in September that the 
brass based production in Newcastle West, Ire-
land, would be closed and capacity reallocated 
into existing sites in Italy and Sweden. This will 
be completed by mid-year 2022.

In November, we partnered with Materna Group 
as part of the strategic plan to further incorpo-
rate connectivity and control technology into our 
system offering, to accelerate the move towards 
connected smart-home systems and to improve 
the thermal indoor climate experience of users. 

In summary, in 2021, the ICS division was able to 
capture growth opportunities in core markets, 
capitalise on renovation investments in domestic 
buildings and to achieve record sales and profit. 

iVECTOR S2
CASE STUDY

A good example of a smart product is 
our next generation iVECTOR S2 range of 
fan-convectors. These convectors provide 
dynamic air heating and cooling when 
combined with heat pumps but are also 
compatible with conventional boilers for 
heating only. They offer responsive control, 

improved efficiency and reduced noise, 
making them fast-reacting in domes-
tic dwellings, and a popular choice in the 
non-residential sector such as in schools, 
universities, care homes and retail facilities, 
where they can be integrated in Building 
Management Systems (BMS).
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Why Purmo Group
People are rethinking how they heat and cool the 

places in which they live, work and socialise.  
They are also reconsidering what they demolish, 
build or repurpose. Sustainability is at the centre 

of Purmo Group’s vision that perfect indoor 
climate should not cost the planet’s climate.
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• Digitalisation is increasingly 
driving the building markets,  
offering better capabilities  
such as improved flow of  
product and logistic information, 
smart controls, large data  
sets and Building Information 
Modelling (BIM). 

• Data availability and the rise  
of artificial intelligence enabled 
control systems have been  
increasing operational efficien-
cy, responsiveness and system 
reaction times. They will  
also improve decision making  
and information gathering, 
which are, to a greater extent, 
moving online.

UrbanisationGrowth in  construction of  
new buildings  and renovationsDigitalisation

• Between 2020 and 2025, Purmo 
Group’s core market is estimat-
ed to grow at an average annu-
al rate of approximately 2.5 per 
cent. Purmo Group is expanding 
beyond its core markets by ad-
dressing China and Brazil. 

• The COVID-19 pandemic has in-
creased emphasis on homes and 
the comfort of the time spent 
there, causing a strong increase 
in do-it-yourself (DIY) renovation.

Sustainability

• To sustainably transform the build-
ing stock, governments and local 
authorities increasingly incentivize 
low-energy systems and well-insu-
lated housing, as well as mandate 
energy performance requirements 
for new and renovated buildings. 

• Consumers show a distinct and  
increasing preference for slowing 
down climate change and support-
ing sustainability. Their preferences 
therefore also drive the transition 
towards sustainable solutions  
and products. 
 
 

• EU countries are required to have 
long-term renovation strategies to 
achieve energy-efficient and de-
carbonised building stock by 2050 
and to facilitate cost-effective trans-
formation of existing buildings into 
nearly zero-energy buildings. The 
renovation trend is expected to 
benefit the radiator market, due to 
the large installed base of old ra-
diators in existing housing stock. 
Energy requirements for new and 
existing buildings are expected to 
influence demand increasingly  
for the Heating, Ventilation and  
Air Conditioning (HVAC) solutions 
that Purmo Group offers.

• Urbanisation has historically been a 
megatrend impacting the European 
new building and renovation mar-
ket. However, the growth of newly 
built flats in relation to family resi-
dences is estimated to be flat from 
2018, indicating slowing urbanisa-
tion in Europe. 

• Despite the possible slowdown  
in urbanisation growth, the build-
ing material and HVAC industry 
is still, according to management 
estimates based on third-party  
information, positively affected  
by increased popularity of energy 
efficiency and customer demand 
for improved aesthetic and  
invisible systems.

Megatrends and operating environment
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Strategy and mission
Purmo Group’s mission is to be the 
global leader in sustainable indoor 
climate comfort solutions. We have  
a well-defined strategy based on  
three pillars: solution-selling, smart 
products and growth markets.  
We support growth through M&A 
opportunities that contribute to 
consolidation, expansion  
and diversification.

Our strategy is supported by  
continuous improvement of  
operational excellence  
and by investment in  
our people and culture. 

People & Culture - focusing on employee engagement, values, 
leadership, skills and competence development

Operational Excellence - pivoting to the next level of efficiency 
in operational, commercial and business support

Becoming the global 
leader in sustainable 

indoor climate comfort 
solutions

Capture biggest  
opportunities  

beyond current  
core markets

Focus on
Growth beyond core markets

Launch new smart products 
– intelligent,  sustainable, 

aesthetic – to deliver  
higher customer value  

and promote sustainability

Launch new
Smart products

Increase specification  
sales to sell whole 

solutions in the most  
mature markets

Scale-up  
Solution-selling

Growth enabler
M&A

Opportunities for 
consolidation, expansion 

and diversification  
in both Radiators and ICS
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Key strengths
Why we are a leader in sustainable indoor 
climate comfort solutions

Overall, buildings in the EU are responsible 
for approximately 40 per cent of the EU’s 
energy consumption and for 36 per cent 
of its CO2 emissions. It is estimated that up 
to 75 per cent of Europe’s building stock is 
not energy efficient according to current 
and emerging building standards. As a 
provider of sustainable and energy-effi-
cient heating and cooling solutions, Purmo 
Group stands to benefit greatly from its 
role in the combat against climate change 
in Europe and globally.

1 At the centre of  the global sustainability journey

Purmo Group has a well-known brand 
portfolio with a focus on product qual-
ity, design, innovation and sustainabil-
ity. Through development of our own 
original Purmo brand and M&A activ-
ity, we have built a renowned portfolio 
of brands with a strong local presence 
and recognition among installers and 
specifiers. Based on volumes, we are 
estimated to be the European leader in 
radiators and have a top 4 position  
in RHC in Europe. 

3 Brand portfolio recognized for  product quality and innovation

Purmo Group is a leading European sup-
plier of sustainable indoor climate solu-
tions. Our offering is sold primarily to the 
residential segment. It is available in most 
of Europe and can be used in both new 
build and renovation projects. We are 
well-positioned to benefit from the  
ongoing megatrends of digitalisation,  
urbanisation and sustainability. 

2 Broadest offering
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The aim of Purmo Group’s strategy is 
to grow both organically and through 
acquisitions in order to implement our 
mission to be the global leader in sus-
tainable indoor climate comfort solu-
tions. To achieve this mission, we have a 
well-defined strategy based on three pil-
lars – solution selling, smart products and 
growth markets – that is supported by our 
key growth drivers and by a continuous 
improvement of operational excellence 
and investment in people and culture. 

5 Clear and well-defined strategy supported by key growth pillars

Purmo Group’s management team 
consist of highly skilled and indus-
try-experienced professioals who 
possess the capabilities to continue 
achieving operational excellence in  
the near-term and to execute the com-
pany’s strategy of becoming the global 
leader in sustainable indoor climate 
comfort solutions. 

7 Experienced management team with a clear focus 
on value creation and growth

One of Purmo Group’s key competitive  
advantages is our strong relationship with 
some of the Europe’s largest wholesalers in 
the heating, ventilation and air conditioning  
(HVAC) space. Wholesalers form a central 
distribution channel in our value chain, sim-
plifying logistics by consolidating demand 
and managing credit risk, as well as ensur-
ing the availability of products in the market. 
Brand loyal technical installers are another 
important advantage in our value chain 
that enable growth in solution-selling.

4 Longstanding relationships with wholesalers and installers

Purmo Group has during recent years 
shown a strong track record in terms 
of financial performance. The adjusted 
EBITDA has grown with a CAGR of 26 
per cent in 2019 to 2021. Thoughout the 
COVID-19 pandemic, which has had an 
adverse effect on us through, for exam-
ple, significant increases in raw material 
prices – we have been able to maintain 
a good financial performance and show 
sales resilience. 

6 Strong historical financial  track record
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Sustainability
Sustainability means meeting our needs as a 
business without compromising the needs of 
anyone or anything else, today or tomorrow.  
We believe we can help create a significant 

positive impact on the planet’s future.
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Transparent, tangible,  
measurable, effective 
We are pleased to present our first sustainability 
disclosure as a listed company for the reporting 
period January to December 2021. It shows how we 
are creating sustainable value for our customers, 
people, communities and stakeholders. 

We will cover the key reporting principles of 
materiality, sustainability context, complete-
ness, balance and stakeholder inclusion. 
Links to relevant online content can be found 
in this report. Our sustainability reporting 
reference is the GRI (Global Reporting Ini-
tiative) Standards. In 2022, we will enhance 

our disclosure according to the revised 
Universal Standards, giving even more 
transparency on our progress. For now, 
we are committed to both delivering  
on our newly enhanced sustainability 
strategy and ensuring we capitalise  
on ESG opportunities. 

Our approach to sustainability:
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The sustainability challenge
We believe that sustainability means meeting our needs as a 
business without compromising the needs of anyone or anything 
else, today or tomorrow, and we firmly believe we can help 
create a significant positive impact on the planet’s future. 

Making a positive impact
We are already at the centre of a global sustainabil-
ity journey for the built environment. Firstly, fuelling 
indoor climates currently contributes significantly to 
global emissions. Secondly, responsible solutions will 
be increasingly in demand as society adapts to fre-
quent climate extremes. 

Addressing the sustainability challenge starts with un-
derstanding and capitalising on megatrends, such as 
climate action, digitalisation and the societal shift to-
wards hybrid working and living. We can also achieve 
more for our customers and the planet by uniting our 
entire value chain, including manufacturers, wholesal-
ers (distributors), installers, specifiers and end-custom-
ers behind our shared cause. 

Sustainable renovation 
Transforming the energy efficiency of European buildings 
is of paramount importance. Buildings in the EU are re-
sponsible for approximately 40% of the EU’s energy con-
sumption and 36% of its greenhouse gas emissions. 85% of 
European building stock was built before 2001 and 75% of 
it (including its HVAC systems) is not energy efficient, ac-
cording to current building standards. Therefore, most of 
this is in urgent need of refurbishment1 because 85%  
to 95% of these buildings will still be standing in 20502. 

The European Commission has introduced the Europe-
an Green Deal, the EU taxonomy and the ‘Clean energy 
for all Europeans’ package (which includes the Energy 
Efficiency Directive). These initiatives aim to drive ac-
tion towards climate neutrality across member states. 
Reaching the EU’s climate and energy targets by 2030 
requires a decrease of 18% in heating and cooling en-
ergy consumption, with the European Green Deal high-
lighting building renovations as key to energy savings. 
This is enshrined in the Green Deal’s Renovation Wave 
strategy, which aims to at least double renovation rates 
in the next ten years and make sure the renovation of 
buildings leads to higher energy and resource efficiency.

We are well placed to meet the increasing demand  
for energy-efficient heating and cooling solutions by 
offering sustainable HVAC solutions. Through our sus-
tainability strategy, we understand that responding 
quickly to new and updated regulations is essential to 
reducing market-related risks, including the effects of  
a potential carbon tax.

PLANET 

Climate drives the agenda of ev-
ery business sector, with glob-
al consensus on climate action 
growing post COP26. The built 
environment is moving towards 
climate neutrality, which increases 
the need for energy-efficient sys-
tems running on renewable ener-
gy. Circular approaches are also 
gaining traction at production and 
business-model level. 

ENERGY EFFICIENCY  
MEGATREND
Governments and local authori-
ties are increasingly incentivising 
low-energy systems and well-in-
sulated homes to meet the goals 
of the Paris Agreement through 
directives under the EU Green 
Deal. New energy performance 
requirements for new and ren-
ovated buildings mean building 
stock must be transformed. Coun-
tries are required to have long-
term renovation strategies to de-
carbonise building stock by 2050. 

Where we can make 
a difference:
• Energy-efficient heat sources 
• Shift to hydronic heating 
• Low-temperature systems

HOUSEHOLDS

Heating and cooling of house-
holds accounts for 17% of the EU’s 
energy consumption. Consumers 
are demanding efficient solutions 
and there is growing pressure for 
companies to provide solutions 
that reduce energy use in the 
home. Consumers increasingly 
demand integrated solution con-
trol as a part of their more con-
nected lives.

DIGITALISATION  
MEGATREND
Industry 4.0 (the digital revolu-
tion) is reshaping the business 
model of every sector, and the 
rise of smart controls and Build-
ing Information Modelling (BIM) 
is rapidly changing how people 
use their homes and their built 
assets. Digital capabilities are, 
therefore, of increasing impor-
tance to energy management in 
home and work environments.

Where we can make  
a difference:
• Control systems for efficiency 
• Decision making moving  

online 
• Growth in alternative sales 

channels (e.g. online and DIY)
• Training and upskilling the 

manufacturing workforce

PEOPLE

With the rise of hybrid and home 
working since COVID-19, people 
are rethinking, re-evaluating and 
repurposing their relationships 
with buildings. 

URBANISATION  
MEGATREND 
Construction of newly built apart-
ment blocks for family residences 
has been relatively flat since 2018, 
indicating slower urbanisation. 
However, the world is still experi-
encing the largest wave of urban 
growth in history, and this will 
benefit the HVAC industry due to 
the demand for seamless, invisible 
and energy-efficient heating and 
cooling. The outlook for both new 
build and repair HVAC projects, 
therefore, remains positive as the 
pandemic eases.

Where we can make a difference:
• Integrated, holistic solutions  

for new stock
• Multi-stakeholder collabora-

tions for energy-efficient  
buildings

Sustainability megatrends
At Purmo Group, we see three important megatrends shaping our industry, 
these focus on our planet, households and people.

Read more in the Production Sustainability section  
of this report on page 25
1 European Commission (2020) A Renovation Wave for Europe - greening 
our buildings, creating jobs, improving lives. Available at: https://eur-lex.
europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/HTML/?uri=CELEX:52020DC0662&rid=5 
2 Ibid.
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Sustainability vision  
and strategy

2021 Materiality assessment 
In 2021, we needed a clearer plan to strengthen our  
sustainability, so we found out what sustainability means 
to our stakeholders, employees, customers and suppliers. 
This rigorous stakeholder engagement process was  
part of our materiality assessment, consisting of over  
130 interviews, a landscape assessment and workshops. 
The exercise allowed us to formulate a strong strategy 
for sustainable value creation and growth, with key  
issues prioritised and targets put in place. 

CLIMATE
AT HEART

Perfect indoor  
climates should 

not cost 
the planet’s 

climate
Aligning 

 ourselves with  
a 1,5° future

Achieve scope 1 & 2 
carbon neutrality in 

our operations

Reduce the embod-
ied carbon in the 

steel we use

Delivering through 
a future-fit and  

diverse workforce

Increase the proportion 
of women in manage-

ment positions

Improve our  
Employee Net 

 Promoter Score

Driving and  
enabling climate 
friendly solutions

Goal to be recognised as 
the number 1 choice for 

energy-efficient solutions

Improve our customer 
sustainability Net  
Promoter Score

Enabling  
communities to

be climate resilient

Devote 25,000 hours  
(8 hrs per employee per 
year) supporting local 

communities

OUR PEOPLE

OUR
 SO

LU
TIONS

O
UR PRODUCTION OUR COMM

UNIT
IE

S

SH
O

W
IN

G  W
E’R

E PROUD, W
E CARE, WE’RE COURAGEOUS, AMBITIOUS AND MAKE CHANGES THAT M

ATTER

ENABLED BY STRONG GOVERNANCE, SAFE WORKING PRACTICES AND ETHICAL BEHAVIO
URS

OUR PEOPLE
 

6.
Diversity, equality and inclusion

Create a diverse and inclusive 
culture within Purmo Group

7.
Engagement at work

Ensure our employees are  
satisfied at work

 8.
Employee upskilling

Inspire a future-fit workforce  
to tackle the skills gap and  

build pipeline of future workers. 

9.
Health & Safety

Ensuring Purmo Group is  
a safe place to work

 

OUR COMMUNITIES 

10.
Community engagement 

We will support the  
most vulnerable people to  
have access to adequate  
shelter and indoor climate

OUR SOLUTIONS 
 

4. 
Climate smart choices

We will help our customers 
to save energy and make 

sustainable choices

5.
Circularity & end of life

All products will have cir-
cular design principles ap-
plied and invest into new 

solutions where circularity is 
not immediately possible

OUR PRODUCTION
 

1.
Emissions and energy

We will align with a 1.5° future 
and target carbon neutrality

2.
Resource efficiency and waste 

We will use less resource to make 
products and eliminate waste 

3.
Responsible sourcing
We will source our key  
materials responsibly

Based on our vision that indoor 
climates should not cost the planet’s 
climate, our mission is to be the global 
leader in sustainable indoor climate-
comfort solutions.
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Climate at the heart of our strategy 
The climate crisis is one of the biggest existential threats that 
humans have ever faced. Unless we change the way we live 
radically and rapidly, our planet faces serious consequenc-
es. Therefore, our strategy puts climate at the heart of every 
aspect of our business. It addresses what we make, how we 
make it, how we treat our people and how we support the 
communities around us. To be understandable and measur-
able, these four areas translate into 10 commitments, mea-
sured by 24 KPIs and realised by a range of focused actions. 

Read more about our commitments, KPIs and actions on page 24

Designing the strategy and actions is a huge achievement
A sustainability approach that is all-encompassing, tangible and measurable

“Complete care”

Throughout the year,  
we circulate the highest 

priority issues for 
focused effort

10 Commitments

6.  Diversity, equality  
and inclusion

7. Engagement at work
8. Employee upskilling
9. Health & Safety

1. Emissions and energy
2.  Resource efficiency  

and waste
3. Responsible sourcing

4. Climate smart choices
5. Circularity & end of life

10.  Community 
engagement

4 Focus Areas

Production

Solutions

People

Communities

24 Targets

“I am incredibly proud of what we achieved in 
2021. With tackling climate change at the heart of 
our new ‘Complete Care’ sustainability strategy, 
we have laid the foundations for authentic, 
incremental and transformative actions over the 
next eight years. What is ahead for us is not only 
actioning our commitments, but also ensuring 
that all approximately 3,500 individuals at 
Purmo Group, and all our stakeholders can be 
part of our exciting journey.”
Sam Hodlin, Head of Sustainability & CSR
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In 2021, we performed a UN Sustainable Develop-
ment Goals (SDGs) materiality study to better under-
stand how we could make the biggest contribution 
by tackling the SDGs most materially relevant to us 
at Purmo Group. We believe our business, products 
and solutions, strengthened by our ESG targets, can 
make a material difference to four of the UN’s Sus-
tainable Development Goals. These are:

The United Nations’ 
Sustainable 
Development Goals

Complete Care
Our cultural motto, "We are proud of what we do, 
and we care," is echoed in our sustainability strate-
gy, which we call 'Complete Care'. For us, Complete 
Care means meeting our business objectives while 
demonstrating care in:

1. Production. We strive to contribute to the goal 
of the Paris Agreement to limit the rise of global 
mean temperature, preferably to 1.5˚C.

2. Solutions. We will champion climate-friendly 
heating and cooling solutions. We will take  
every opportunity to inform and educate our 
stakeholders about energy efficiency and im-
prove the way we make and deliver our products 
to enhance their performance and recyclability.

3. People. We will nurture and grow a future-fit  
and diverse workforce that has the skills and  
commitment to deliver our sustainability goals. 

Indicator 2021 2020
GHG emissions (market based)1 86,780 tCO2e 83,260 tCO2e

Carbon emissions from procured steel2 377,698 tCO2e 308,578 tCO2e

EU taxonomy eligible: Revenue3 86% Not required

EU taxonomy eligible: Capex4 69% Not required

EU taxonomy eligible: Opex5 93% Not required

Employee Net Promoter Score (eNPS) -9 -12

Proportion of women in senior management positions 24% 16%

Incident rate (LTIFR)6 5.2 4

Anti-corruption policy training coverage7 99% completion No data available

Carbon intensity ratio8 102.9 124.1

1 Location based: 73,950 (2021); 74,640 (2020).
2 Based on World Steel Data and our consumption in tonnes.
3 843.9 MEUR.
4 14.8 MEUR.
5 17.6 MEUR.
6 LTIFR refers to Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate, the number of lost time injuries occurring in a workplace per 1 million hours worked.
7 Of Purmo Group employees in position to make decisions on behalf of the Company.
8 Total GHG emissions, tCO2e / total net sales, MEUR.

Our key non-financial indicators

4. Communities. We will collaborate with external 
organisations to give greater access to energy- 
efficient indoor climates for all and enable  
climate resilience. 

How we intend to achieve this
To achieve our vision, we take a holistic approach  
to finding solutions that align with the Paris Agree-
ment. We understand that to make the biggest dif-
ference we need to provide end-to-end solutions  
for our customers. To do this, our strategy leverages 
our leading position via our well-known brand port-
folio and strong wholesaler relationships to provide  
integrated systems. 

With the broadest product offering in the industry,  
we have a unique ability to offer systems, solutions 
and smart products that save more energy for our 
customers. We are therefore well placed to give 
homeowners, public organisations and private busi-
nesses the flexibility and connectivity they need to 
run their buildings’ HVAC systems smartly, efficiently 
and sustainably and with respect for the planet.

We have mapped the content of this report  
against the SDGs.  

Read more in the Sustainability Governance  
section of this report on page 33

SDG 8 
Decent work  
and economic  
growth

SDG 11  
Make cities and 
human settle-
ments inclusive, 
safe, resilient 
and sustainable

SDG 12  
Ensure sustain-
able consump-
tion and pro-
duction patterns

SDG 13  
Climate action
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Sourcing and manufacturing for  
a low-carbon, resource-efficient world
How we make our products has a direct impact on the 
sustainability of our industry, business and products  
through reduced embodied energy. Our operations  
are, therefore, a key factor in our sustainability strategy. 

Our performance

Indicator 2021 tCO2e 2020 tCO2e
Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions 
(Market-based)1

86,780  83,260 

Scope 3 carbon emissions from 
procured steel (Market-based) 377,698 308,578 

1 Market-based means we used publicly available CO2 data to  
calculate our own emissions

Carbon intensity 2021 2020
Total gross emissions (tCO2e) 86,780 83,260

Total net sales (€ m) 843.6 671.2

Carbon intensity ratio 102.9 124.1

Improvement in % 17.1%  

2 Total gross emissions, tCO2e / Total net sales, MEUR

Commitment 1 – We will align with a 1.5˚C 
future and target carbon neutrality in  
our Scope 1 and 2 emissions

To accelerate progress on energy-usage reduction, 
we have committed to installing energy monitoring 
devices at all our plants by 2025. Our plants all have 
sustainability action plans, which include installing LED 
lighting, taking energy efficiency measures and identi-
fying heat recycling opportunities. In 2021, we approved 
€478,000 of works to improve the energy efficien-
cy of our plants. Each of our manufacturing sites al-
ready manages its environmental impact through ISO 
14001-certified environmental management systems 
and we also aim to achieve ISO 50001 certification 
across our plants by 2025.

In 2021, we began baselining our GHG emissions with 
the aim of achieving carbon neutrality across our op-
erations (absolute Scope 1 and 2 emissions, measured 

EU taxonomy assessment

During 2021, we conducted an EU taxonomy  
eligibility assessment. The EU Taxonomy Regulation 
defines whether an economic activity carried  
out by a company can be classified as environ-
mentally sustainable. An economic activity  
is classified as such when it meets the technical 
screening criteria: 

• Contributes substantially to one or more of the 
taxonomy’s six environmental objectives, these 
are: climate change mitigation, climate change 
adaptation, the sustainable use and protection 
of water and marine resources, the transition 
to a circular economy, pollution prevention and 

control, and the protection and restoration of 
biodiversity and ecosystems;

• Does not do any significant harm to  
any other environmental objective;

• Complies with minimum safeguards related to 
UNGP, OECD Guidelines and ILO Conventions.

We know that the majority (86%) of our turnover, as 
well as 69% of CapEx and 93% of OpEx, comes from 
EU taxonomy-eligible economic activity. As such, 
most of our activities are eligible for a full EU taxon-
omy alignment assessment in 2022. We expect fur-
ther EU guidance on taxonomy alignment, and we 
will work on aligning with the taxonomy in 2022. 

Focus area – Our production:
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in cubic tonnes). We are analysing the results of our 
baselining activity to create science-based targets in 
2022 and will provide a more detailed update on our 
path to Scope 1 and 2 carbon neutrality in 2022. We 
are also targeting our Scope 3 emissions, including 
embodied carbon in steel, but due to the complexity 
of our supply chain, progress will follow in a subse-
quent phase. Carbon emissions from procured steel 
has been calculated for 2020 and 2021 and, in 2021 
our emissions from procured steel increased signifi-
cantly due to our acquisition of Evrorad.

To assess progress, we have introduced a sustain-
ability monitoring system, ‘Resource Advisor’, created 
by Schneider Electric. The platform ensures that we 
have consistent monitoring and reporting in place. 
We will continue rolling it out in 2022. 

As part of our recently completed baselining activi-
ty, we identified renewable purchasing as a priority. 
We are committed to only sourcing clean energy by 
2030. This includes our commitment to generating 
energy onsite from renewable technologies in the 
coming year (part of Scope 2). This year, we started 
working with our energy broker, Schneider Electric,  
to source more clean energy. 

We are also investigating how we can use more low-
er-carbon steel, such as recycled and green steel, in 
our products. Steel production is highly carbon inten-
sive and is responsible for approximately 7% of glob-
al greenhouse gas emissions3. In early 2022, we en-
tered a non-binding agreement with H2 Green Steel 
and agreed to receive 140,000 tonnes of between 
2024 and 2031. 

In 2021, we decided that no more fully petrol or diesel 
cars will join our company fleet. Our ultimate aim is to 
transition all our company cars and onsite vehicles to 
self-charging petrol hybrid or fully electric by the end 
of 2025. A significant number of our plants already 
have electric-car charging points, and this will increase 
in 2022. In Zonhoven, Belgium 45 employees are par-
ticipating in an Electric Bicycle Lease Plan that takes 
advantage of government subsidy and requires only 
a small contribution by employees. We are looking to 
introduce this in other countries where we operate.

Innovating everywhere – Meiningen

On our Delta radiator production line (PL2)  
in Meiningen, Germany, we installed an  
outer welding laser in December 2021. By re-
placing the laser module with a new, more sus-
tainable alternative that uses argon gas rather 
than helium, we have realised a daily energy 
consumption drop of over 700 kWh for the en-
tire plant. The replacement also generated a 
substantial reduction in the peak power sum of 

all PL2 lasers, from 125 kW to 80 kW. Because of 
this, every five days we save more energy than 
an average German household uses in a year. 

We have also installed car charging points  
and switched all our company cars from diesel 
to hybrid, helping the plant move towards zero 
emissions. We are implementing similar actions 
at our other sites. 

3 Bernstein, L., J. Roy, K. C. Delhotal, J. Harnisch, R. Matsuhashi, L. Price, 
K. Tanaka, E. Worrell, F. Yamba, Z. Fengqi. (2007) ‘Industry. In Climate 
Change 2007: Mitigation’ Contribution of Working Group III to the 
Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change [B. Metz, O.R. Davidson, P.R. Bosch, R. Dave, L.A. Meyer (eds)], 
Cambridge University Press. Available at: https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/
uploads/2018/02/ar4-wg3-chapter7-1.pdf 

“At all our sites we are establishing baselines to ramp up our 
operational efficiency programmes. With our new sustainability 
monitoring system, we can take meaningful data-led actions to 
reduce our GHG emissions.” 
Linda Currie, Chief People Officer

Annual Report

2 
0 
2 
1

26

Why Purmo GroupPurmo Group in 2021 Sustainability Governance Financial review

26



Commitment 2 – We will use fewer  
resources to make products and  
eliminate waste

Our materiality assessment highlighted packaging, 
product end-of-life and material efficiency as  
areas for us to tackle. We have a target of zero  
waste to landfill by 2030 and we take an integrated 
approach to reducing waste and promoting circular 
approaches in our operations and production  
processes. For instance, our Purmo Group Operations 
System (PGOS) helps our employees to continually 
identify ways to use fewer raw materials while  
still providing great products.

We are committing to a reduction in water consumption 
across our operations by 2030. We have started moni-
toring water use through a system called ‘Resource  

Advisor’, which will enable us to track our progress. 
In 2021, our plant in Brescia, Italy, began a project to 
recycle the emulsion of water used in the production 
process of fittings, valves and manifolds. In 2022, in 
Zonhoven, Belgium, we plan to replace the UF-Module 
of our testing tanks, reducing N and P-concentration in 
our wastewater, improving its quality and decreasing 
our consumption of water treatment chemicals. This 
will also result in reduced freshwater consumption.

We have also committed to sourcing 100% of our 
packaging from recycled, recyclable or biodegrad-
able materials by 2030 and we will be launching a 
sustainable packaging review in 2022. Our Emmeti 
brand has already started using paper as filling in 
packaging, saving 167 kg of polystyrene in 2021.  
We have also replaced white cardboard with  
unpainted cardboard to further limit our impact.

PGOS – a leaner, greener Purmo Group

In 2021, we established PGOS (Purmo Group 
Operational System), an all-encompassing  
‘lean manufacturing’ approach designed to  
develop better ways of working and reduce 
waste. This approach focuses on the key pa-
rameters of customer, capacity, capital, cost and 
culture. In 2021, our Core Leadership Team (CLT) 
was trained in PGOS, and we held a dialogue 

with the Extended Leadership Team (ELT)  
and Plant Managers about the ambitions and 
merits of PGOS. We also commenced the first  
pilot in Moson, Hungary. In 2022, we plan to 
continue PGOS training and start at least four 
more pilots with the help of two PGOS experts. 
We will also be holding our first PGOS  
conference in September.

Commitment 3 – We will source our key 
materials responsibly

Our products are designed and built to last. In many 
cases, 20 to 30 years, and some of our materials, 
such as steel, can be infinitely recyclable. Yet we also 
realise the importance of sourcing these responsibly 
and minimising the negative impacts on people and 
environment. In 2021, we continued to extend the use 
of ‘slim steel’, a steel alloy that uses less steel without 
sacrificing product quality or heat output. 

We aim to source all our key materials responsibly,  
including steel, brass, plastic and packaging  
materials, and ensure we can trace these back  
to source by 2030.

Our procurement team works according to responsi-
ble sourcing standards, set out by our Supplier Code 
of Conduct: 

• Respecting human rights
• Adhering to the high standards set out in the  

International Labour Organization’s Declaration  
on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work 

• Reducing our carbon footprint 
• Increasing the use of both recycled  

and recyclable materials
• Refusing to source conflict minerals4

EcoVadis operates an evidence-based online 
platform that provides supplier sustainability 
ratings and allows companies to assess the ESG 
performance of their global suppliers. We chose 
EcoVadis, a global CSR (Corporate Social Re-
sponsibility) rating company, to conduct individ-
ual sustainability performance assessments of 
our supply chain partners based on industry and 
international standards. This will help to develop 
transparency around the CSR performance of 
our trading partners and their suppliers. 

Suppliers will take the EcoVadis assessment  
and then receive a sustainability scorecard with 
detailed insights into their strengths and areas 
for improvement. In the first phase of the project, 
we have invited 115 suppliers to complete this  
assessment as part of our commitment to  
responsible sourcing. 

EcoVadis – sustainable 
supply chains 

4 Purmo Group does not source minerals such as tin, tungsten, tantalum 
and gold, often referred to as ‘conflict minerals.’ These derive from 
politically unstable areas and their trade may be used to finance armed 
groups, fuel forced labour and other human rights abuses. As such, these 
would need to be responsibly sourced, in compliance with local regula-
tions, such as the EU Conflict Minerals Regulation.
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Smart, sustainable and healthy solutions

Commitment 4 – We will help our customers 
save energy and make sustainable choices

If we want to advance a climate-smart and  
resilient indoor climate industry, we need to  
drastically reduce emissions across the lifecycle  
of our products. To do this, we need the help of our 
customers, suppliers, employees and local commu-
nities as we work together to deliver more efficient, 
circular and integrated systems. To help our  
customers make more informed choices, we will 
develop Environmental Product Declarations (EPDs) 
which provide an overview of our products’  
environmental impact across their lifecycles.

Our Performance

We want to be recognised as the number one choice 
for energy-efficient solutions, as measured by our 
customer Net Promoter Score (NPS). This ambition is 
supported by our target to publish EPDs for all new 
products by 2025. To track and set our sustainability 
NPS target, we are carrying out two NPS surveys – 
one in early 2022, the other later in the year. These 

surveys will show how sustainable and desirable  
our solutions are considered.

The building and construction sectors account  
for more than 50% of all material extracted globally, 
and demand is set to increase5. In 2021, we  
engaged an expert partner to develop our first  
EPD for our Thermopanel radiator. This declaration  
will be completed by the end of Q2 2022. Our  
new product roadmap includes a sustainability 
tracker to help integrate sustainability intelligence 
as a core feature. 

To future-proof our promise of ‘Comfort Delivered’ 
in increasingly digital and connected homes, we 
have partnered with Materna Group – a specialist 
in the Internet of Things (IoT) to help homeowners 
better manage and reduce their energy use  
with our solutions.

Offering customers the whole package

Solution selling helps us combine and optimise. 
The more holistic a system, the more efficient it 
can be. Integrated solutions also lead to better 
balanced systems that allow greater flexibility, 
responsiveness and connectivity – this length-

ens system-life and helps customers use HVAC 
more efficiently. A significant proportion of  
Emmeti sales are already solution-based  
and we want to bring more of our  
products and  systems into such solutions.

Focus area - Our solutions:

5 Global Alliance for Buildings and Construction (2020) ‘Global Status 
Report For Buildings and Construction’. Available at: https://globalabc.
org/sites/default/files/inline-files/2020%20Buildings%20GSR_FULL%20
REPORT.pdf 

The majority of our solutions and products help to 
create more sustainable homes. However, we know 
we must do more to ensure the materials we use are 
sustainably sourced and ethically produced.
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Commitment 5 – We will apply circular 
design principles to all products. We will 
invest in new solutions where circularity is 
not immediately possible

Since our products are made largely from steel,  
they have great potential to be made more sustain-
able through recycling and circular processes.  
Materials such as polymer pipes, however, are  
much harder to recycle.

To maximise the circular potential of our products, we 
will develop a training programme in 2022, showing 
how we can create more circularity-focused solutions. 
We aim to incorporate circular design principles in  
all new products by 2025. We are also committed to 
implementing a donation service by 2025, enabling 
consumers to donate old but functioning systems.

We intend to increase sales of our sus-
tainable products year-on-year. To ensure 
we are leading the market, we will iden-
tify three thought leadership or academic 
partnerships by the end of 2022, helping us 
explore more sustainable and innovative 
systems and solutions. These partnerships 
will build on our product development and 
innovation work in 2020, which involved col-
laborating with European experts and uni-
versities to conduct a comprehensive study 
on deep renovation in different European 
climate areas. As a result, a select range of 
solutions have been developed to renovate 
and transform the existing building stock in 
Europe to meet the energy requirements for 
nearly zero-energy buildings (NZEBs). This 
work aligns with the EU taxonomy. 

FAN-ASSISTED 
RADIATORS 

A fan-assisted radiator uses 
convection to increase the  
heat output and efficiency  
of the radiator. Similarly, our  
hybrid radiators can combine 
the benefits of electric and  
hydronic radiators, depending  
on local availability and the 
accessibility of electricity from 
renewable resources.

Our innovative products and systems

ZIGBEE SMART 
CONTROLS 

Controls are crucial compo-
nents of a sustainable HVAC 
system. We have a whole 
range of connected controls 
launching in 2022 as part of 
our connectivity strategy for 
our Integrated Climate Solu-
tions division. This includes our 
advanced protocol controls 
that give customers complete 
control over their Purmo Group 
system. We currently utilise Zig-
bee chips which, running off a 
battery, can communicate with 
smart control systems such as 
electronic thermostatic radia-
tor valves, allowing easier au-
tomation and the flexibility to 
connect radiators into embed-
ded systems. 

EMMETI INTEGRATED 
SYSTEMS 

Emmeti is an integrator  
focused on residential buildings  
that incorporates our smart 
products and controls into one 
system. Emmeti allows us to 
specify complete, integrated 
solutions quickly, helping  
to strengthen our offering to 
customers. Systems such as 
these can create significant  
efficiency savings compared  
to an unbalanced system.

A significant proportion of  
Emmeti sales are already  
solutions based rather than 
product based, and this is a 
sustainability enabler for us, 
as it means that whenever we 
specify a system, we know it is 
fully balanced, well controlled 
and as efficient as it can be.  

“With the broadest product range in the industry, Purmo Group is in the 
best position to offer choice and integrated solutions, driven by a culture 
of innovation that embeds sustainability into the heart of every offering.”
Mike Conlon, Vice President of Integrated Solutions 
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Investing in a future-fit workforce

Our Performance
Indicator 2021 2020
Employee Net Promoter 
Score, eNPS (% of promoters –  
% of detractors)

-9

 

-12 

Proportion of senior  
management positions 
filled by women

24% 16% 

Incident rate, LTIFR (Number 
of lost time injuries in the 
reporting period x 1,000,000 
/ Total hours worked in the 
reporting period)1

5.2 4 

Anti-corruption policy 
training coverage2

Completion rate: 
99% 

n/a

1 The LTIFR rate increased from 4.0 in 2020 to 5.2 in 2021. An action 
plan has been put in place to address the increase
2 Of Purmo Group employees in position to make decisions on behalf 
of the Company

Commitment 6 – We will create a diverse 
and inclusive workplace culture

We are determined to increase diversity in our 
business. In 2021, we reviewed all our global  
policies to ensure we are doing everything  
we can to foster an inclusive culture. We believe  
a thriving business is diverse and inclusive, and  
that’s why we have set a goal to increase the  
proportion of women in senior management  
positions from 24% in 2021 to 50% by 2030. We are  
also committed to bridging and eliminating  
pay gaps, ensuring pay equity by 2025 and  
implementing a discrimination-free culture. 

Our global Equality, Diversity and Inclusion policy 
sets out our opposition to all forms of bullying and 
discrimination and makes clear our commitment to 
equal opportunities in recruitment and remunera-
tion. We will convene external advisory boards for 
diversity and inclusion in our 10 largest operational 
areas by 2025. We have ongoing activities in other 

policies related to social and employee matters  
including recruitment, onboarding and learning 
and development. 

Read more in the Sustainability Governance Section  
of this report on page 33

Commitment 7 – We will ensure our 
employees are satisfied at work

Healthy collaboration begins with great communi-
cation channels. In 2021, under a determination to 
“inform, inspire and involve” we enhanced our com-
munication and management cascade process with 

a more interactive intranet and brought more digital 
communication to our shop-floors with news screens 
installed throughout our business. We also launched 
a new group-wide human capital management  
system called PG People, to better track progress on 
employee satisfaction and engage effectively with 
our employees. Through PG People, employees can 
access training, measure and manage performance 
and retrieve policies easily, enabling them to achieve 
their potential while staying safe. Sustainability met-
rics will be integrated into PG People in 2022. 

In December 2021, we launched our global ‘Pulse’ 
engagement survey consisting of 48 questions  

Focus area - Our people:

For us, social sustainability means supporting and 
enhancing diversity, equality and inclusion, encouraging 
engagement at work, training and upskilling a future-fit 
workforce, enabling opportunities and creating a culture 
of health, safety and wellbeing.
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reflecting a number of key drivers. Our 2021 survey 
had a 70% response rate and an overall employee 
engagement score of -9. Three global themes were 
identified: feedback and communications, health 
and wellbeing, and learning and development.  
PG People will help us address communication, while 
our new upskilling programme and wellbeing policy 
will address learning and health. The results gener-
ated our employee Net Promoter Score (eNPS), and 
this will be the basis on which we measure our  
engagement performance in future.

PGbHappy is a statement of our commitment to  
employees having a more rewarding experience.  
It is evidenced by our aim to improve our eNPS  
and engagement metrics year on year through to 
2025 using 2020 as a baseline. 

Commitment 8 – We will help prepare a 
future-fit workforce to tackle the skills gap 
and build a pipeline of talented employees

By 2030, we aim for all our workforce to have  
participated in relevant upskilling and reskilling  
programmes. In 2022, we will invite our senior  
managers to take part in the Purmo Group leadership  
development programme. This will start with  
the Extended Leadership Team and reach every  
manager in the business, so that all our managers 
are equipped to lead as effectively as possible. 

We will create networks for employees to champion 
sustainability solutions and good causes. We have  
established quarterly sustainability workshops that  
the whole business can attend in which we discuss 
sustainability best practice. We will be launching a  
Sustainability Ideas Challenge in 2022 with the support 
of our Head of Employee Experience. The challenge 
aims to generate more than 200 sustainability-related 
ideas, both big and small, from across the business.

Our Solution-Selling Skills Development programme 
supports commercial roles and planning. This  
programme is being finalised in the UK, Poland and 
Romania and is starting in Austria, Belgium, the  
Netherlands, Luxembourg, Denmark, Finland, Sweden 
and France in 2022. Part of the programme will  
equip our teams with sustainability knowledge and 
skillsets relevant to our solutions. We intend to train  
all 300 employees in our commercial sales team in  
sustainable and energy-efficient solutions by 2025.

The programme will include an e-learning HVAC 
module from June 2022, helping our sales teams in 
the UK and Poland learn about relevant sustainability  
topics, such as emissions reduction. We will also  
partner with academic institutions to develop  
a more comprehensive HVAC skills programme. 

In 2021, we established academic partnerships in  
Helsinki and Tallinn, building on our upskilling work. 
Our aim is for all relevant employees to be trained  
by 2025 as part of our ultimate ambition of creating  
a Purmo Group academy.

Commitment 9 – We will ensure Purmo 
Group is a safe place to work

The health and safety of our people is our top priority. 
For example: in 2020, we reacted quickly and efficiently 
to the COVID pandemic by enhancing cleaning  
procedures, enabling remote working where possible 
and minimising contact in our operations. Our ongoing 
commitment is to help employees achieve hybrid  
working wherever this makes sense.

Much of our work takes place in manufacturing plants 
where accident risks are higher, and all our operations 
comply with health and safety legislation at a country 
level. We have a comprehensive health and safety strat-
egy based on a compliance-first approach to protect-
ing our people. 

In 2021, we launched a new health and safety monitor-
ing and reporting system called Airsweb that facilitates 

effective tracking of safety incidents and observations 
at group and site level. This system is overseen and 
supported by our HSE Operations Risk Manager, who 
assesses progress quarterly, with ongoing evaluation of 
progress at site level. Our governance processes ensure 
that we are constantly upskilling our employees to steer 
us safely through to the next stage of solutions and  
systems development. 

We have a groupwide zero-accident target, and safe 
working practices have been embedded in our sustain-
ability strategy from the beginning. We are tracking lost 
time and injury frequency rate (LTIFR), which was 5.2 in 
2021, and will continue to improve our approach in or-
der to make zero accidents a reality.

PGbHappy is the simple ethos behind our ap-
proach to our people. It permeates everything 
we aim to do: wellbeing, safety, our eNPS ap-
proach and our communication platforms. It’s 
captured in a simple logo that needs no transla-
tion but shows our wish.

“With our new, global, PG People 
system, we can truly support  
our employees’ success and 
wellbeing, ensuring they can  
thrive, so Purmo Group can  
succeed sustainably.”
 
Lesia Gibbons, Business Transformation Director
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Supporting communities and beyond

Commitment 10 – We will help the most 
vulnerable people access adequate shelter 
and indoor climate

Our community strategy focuses on engaging and 
supporting the most vulnerable people in the ar-
eas where we operate by empowering them to 
become climate resilient. We will also provide cli-
mate and thermal comfort aid to help locally alle-
viate issues of social and ecological inequality and 

poverty. Making an impact on local climate resil-
ience is a key part of our sustainability strategy.

The planet has already heated up by 1.2˚C, with 
extreme heat and weather events widespread 
across the world6. Climate change is also  
contributing to energy poverty problems,  
especially in colder locations, such as Northern 
Europe. Energy poverty means large segments  
of the global population are unable to afford 
proper indoor thermal comfort. We can  
make a difference by supporting communities  
with donations of our products or services. 

Our aim is to work in partnership with external  
organisations and local policymakers to give  
greater access to energy-efficient indoor climates 
for all. Through such collaborative stewardship,  
we can help enable communities to be more  
climate resilient. 

Our factories and warehouses are situated in, or 
close to, local communities. For many years, we 
have asked our people to nominate charities, good 

“Community sustainability at Purmo 
Group means harnessing our 
expertise and sustainable solutions 
to help communities work towards 
climate resiliency at a local level. 
Being active in communities also 
helps us attract local diverse talent.”
John Peter Leesi, Chief Executive Officer 

Our plant in Markaryd manufactures radiator 
valves, thermostatic heads, balancing valves 
and other brass and low-lead brass compo-
nents. For over 10 years, we have been work-
ing with the local government in Strömsnäs to 
provide simple assembly work for people with 
mental disability, Down’s syndrome or certain 
physical disabilities.

causes and community events that we could sup-
port. In 2021, this became a stronger focus for us, as 
our materiality assessment gave us a greater un-
derstanding of how we could make a difference to 
communities. This is now enshrined in our commit-
ment to provide 25,000 hours of our employees’ time 

Focus area - Our communities:

6 Hausfather, Z. (2020) ‘State of the climate: How the world warmed in 
2019’, CarbonBrief. Available at: https://www.carbonbrief.org/state-of-
the-climate-how-the-world-warmed-in-2019 

Supporting our local communities 

Our employees, expertise and products can help disadvantaged 
communities build climate resilience, and we aim to share  
our knowledge and skills wherever possible.

to community work every year, effective by 2025. 
This equates to eight hours per employee, per year, 
building on existing local volunteering activities.

Every week the team at Markaryd visit to pick up com-
pleted work and leave more products to assemble. The 
work includes mounting o-rings on spindles and spring 
rings. The programme currently involves 10 people.

Reactions from the individuals and the local govern-
ment continue to be very positive and they make  
a real and valuable contribution to our production.
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Sustainability governance
Sustainability is part of our culture, and regular tracking of the 
progress of our sustainability targets is a high priority for our Core 
Leadership Team (CLT), Board of Directors and Audit Committee. 

Our commitment
Transparent sustainability governance ensures ac-
countability towards our shareholders, as well as 
compliance with our legal, regulatory and contractual 
requirements. That is why our sustainability strategy 
includes incentives for our workforce by implementing 
ESG targets in financial benefit schemes for level one, 
two and, in some cases, three managers.

Governance structure
Our sustainability work is governed by a model that 
clearly sets out responsibilities for the Board of Di-
rectors, CLT, Head of Sustainability and CSR, and 
the Extended Leadership Team. The CLT reviews 
and approves sustainability performance quarter-
ly, and monitors progress bi-monthly. The Board of 
Directors reviews the sustainability programme and 
ESG risks annually, signing off key policies and prin-
ciples, including remuneration, incentives and ESG 
investments.

Our Extended Leadership Team is responsible for 
implementing the sustainability programme, mon-

itoring its KPIs and leading by example. In 2021, the 
governance bodies supervised the development of 
the materiality assessment and strategy. 

ESG Coordination Group
Our ESG Coordination Group meets every two 
months. It prepares key ESG-related policies and 
supports the Head of Sustainability and CSR and 
the CLT in decision-making by ensuring sufficient 
subject command and an up-to-date view on ESG 
progress. The ESG Coordination Group prepares the 
sustainability strategy for CLT approval, reviews the 
strategy annually and monitors progress bi-monthly. 
It also reviews the progress of our sustainability pro-
gramme every six months. The Group also supports 
our non-financial information and sustainability re-
porting activities. 

ESG risk management
Our risk-management approach forms a robust and 
harmonised group-led process, with ESG risks as-
sessed under their own category. The process maps 
enterprise-level risks annually, guided by our  

Sustainability & CSR

Risk management

Legal

HR

Finance

Communications

ESG  
Coordination Group

Core Leadership  
Team

Investors

Stakeholders

Radiators
Indoor  

Climate  
Systems

Audit Committee

ESG Governance model

ESG Governance model illustrates the relationship between management, ESG Coordination Group, 
company functions and business divisions.

Board of Directors
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Enterprise Risk Management policy covering all busi-
ness units. The process is monitored by the CLT and 
reviewed by the Board of Directors to ensure the 
long-term resilience of the group. The Board is as-
sisted by the Legal and Risk Management functions 
and the Audit Committee.

Due diligence
We implemented a whistleblowing channel in 2021 
for both internal and external parties. The chan-
nel provides the opportunity to report any suspect-
ed wrongdoing, whether related to bribery, fraud, 
health and safety risks, damage to the environment, 
or any suspected breach of the Code of Conduct. 
All reports are treated as confidential, and con-
cerns can be raised anonymously via our intranet 
and corporate website. Communications about the 
channel are ongoing.

Open dialogue and transparency
As a listed company, we maintain transparency and 
an open dialogue with shareholders, stakeholders 
and the wider industry. It is crucial for business pros-
perity that stakeholders have sufficient subject com-
mand to make informed decisions on ESG-related 
risks and opportunities. We disclose material risks, op-
portunities and strategic decisions to all stakeholders, 

including investors and regulators. Finally, through our 
sustainability microsite on our website, we inform our 
audiences on our ambitions and strategic direction.

Our memberships 
We belong to a number of trade associations to 
help our industry move forward sustainably. Our 
membership of these associations helps us innovate 
where it matters most to our customers and allows us 
to promote our solutions more widely. To read more 
about our memberships visit purmogroup.com.

Anti-corruption and bribery
We have a stance of zero tolerance towards bribery 
and corruption. In 2021, the Board of Directors ap-
proved a new groupwide Anti-Corruption and An-
ti-Bribery policy. This was complemented by a suite 
of comprehensive policies, including our Code of 
Conduct. Additional global policies cover topics such 
as competition law compliance, financial crime risks, 
whistleblowing and enterprise risk management.

We provide comprehensive anti-corruption train-
ing for all employees, and staff are given man-
datory training on the anti-corruption elements of 
our Code of Conduct and encouraged to speak up 
about any concerns. 

Human rights
The complexity and opacity of supply chains pres-
ent environmental and social risks. We are commit-
ted to internationally acknowledged standards and 
best practice which focus on human rights, such as 
labour rights and health and safety. In 2021, we de-
cided to enhance our supplier evaluation, aiming 
to on-board and audit our major suppliers against 
responsible sourcing standards.

We respect the United Nations Global Compact’s 
ten principles on human rights, labour, environ-

ment and anti-corruption and the International 
Labour Organization’s Declaration on Funda-
mental Principles and Rights at Work. We also 
comply with all local and international laws and 
regulations. Our Code of Conduct aligns with the 
Global Compact and is reinforced by our An-
ti-Corruption and Anti-Bribery policy, Competi-
tion Law Compliance policy and Financial Crime 
Risks policy. In addition, topic-specific policies 
have been established at group and country  
level where relevant.

“We are embedding incentives for our workforce by 
implementing ESG targets in compensation schemes 
for a large proportion of our managers.”
Linda Currie, Chief People Officer
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Looking ahead
Our commitment to ‘Complete Care’ is just beginning, but we are 
starting with strong foundations: 4 focus areas, 10 commitments 
and detailed action plans to help us achieve our vision that 
indoor climates should not cost the planet’s climate. 

With a mission to be the global leader in sustainable 
indoor climate comfort solutions, we will continue to 
evolve our products, solutions and systems to lead 
the market. Sustainability has always been a focus of 
our business, but our recent public listing gave us the 
impetus and confidence to enhance our vision. With 
a new roadmap, we can deliver greater progress in 
the decade ahead, measured by our targets and our 
10 commitments. In 2021, we were able to fully inte-
grate sustainability considerations into our business 
strategy, informed by the materiality assessment.

There is much more to be done in the coming years, 
and 2022 promises to be an exciting year as we fully 
align our business operations with a 1.5˚C future. Our 
carbon neutrality target will also require work and 
we will be developing science-based targets in 2022.

We must capitalise on the need for energy efficient, 
digitally literate buildings. We can achieve this by 
offering more integrated HVAC solutions and sys-
tems. In 2022, we will continue to assess our offer-
ing to see where we can add sustainable value to 
achieving ‘Comfort Delivered’. 

Our people are our greatest asset in delivering  
on our plans, and our new sustainability metrics 
and commitments will enable us to better sup-
port their, and our, success. With a new human 
capital management system to support them, 
we feel well placed to succeed sustainably  
and thrive together.

Using our new community sustainability focus, we 
also aim to do more work with communities to 
empower them to achieve climate resilience. This 
will be delivered through outreach and targeted 
research and development that harnesses our 
thought leadership and our cooperation with  
academic institutions and local administrations.

In summary, our enhanced sustainability  
strategy will allow us to make more informed 
decisions that will make a positive difference  
as we move to providing sustainable, integrat-
ed solutions while evolving our business to  
align with a 1.5˚C future. This is vital for the 
planet and great news for our customers, 
shareholders and other stakeholders.
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 Commitment Target

1. Our production
Sourcing and manufacturing for a low-carbon,  
resource-efficient world

1. Emissions and energy: 
We will align with a 1.5˚C future and target carbon 
neutrality in our Scope 1 and 2 emissions

1. Scope 1 and 2 emissions
We have the ambition to become a Scope 1 and 2 carbon-neutral business. We are assessing the results of our 2021 baselining activity to 
create science-based-targets in 2022

More details on our path to Scope 1 and 2 carbon neutrality to be provided in 2022

2. Resource efficiency and waste: 
We will use less resources to make products and eliminate 
waste

2. Water and waste reduction
We are currently assessing the results of our baselining activity to set our % reduction in water consumption by 2030 

Zero waste to landfill by 2030

3. Recycled materials and packaging
100% packaging from recycled, recyclable and biodegradable materials by 2030

3. Responsible sourcing:
We will source our key materials responsibly

4. Sustainable materials 
Key materials (steel, brass, plastic and packaging) sustainably sourced by 2030

5. Transparency
Trace all key materials (steel, brass, plastic and packaging) to source by 2030

2. Our solutions
Smart, sustainable and healthy solutions for comfort,  
delivered 

4. Climate-smart choices:
We will help our customers save energy and make 
sustainable choices

6. Number one choice
We will be recognised as the number one choice for energy-efficient solutions

We will set a target to improve our customer Sustainability Net Promoter Score following our Quarter 1 2022 customer survey 

7. Environmental Product Declarations
By 2025 we will publish Environmental Product Declarations for all new products 

8. Climate-smart systems
Increase sales of our smart, sustainable products

5. Circularity and end of life:
We will apply circular design principles to all products. 
We will invest in new solutions where circularity is not 
immediately possible

9. Product end of life
Apply circular design principles to all new products by 2025

10. Circularity training
Top 30 customers to be trained in circular economy and recyclability principles by 2025

11. Partnerships
Identify three thought leadership or academic partnerships by the end of 2022 to explore more sustainable and innovative systems  
and solutions

12. Donation service
By 2025, implement a donation service enabling consumers to donate old but functioning systems

Our sustainability commitments and targets
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 Commitment Target

3. Our people
Future-fit workforce

6. Diversity, equality and inclusion:
We will create a diverse and inclusive workplace culture 

13. Diverse company
Increase the proportion of senior management positions filled by women from 24% in 2021 to 50% by 2030

14. Pay equality
Eliminate pay gaps where they exist, and ensure pay equity by 2025

15. Partnering
Partner with relevant organisation(s) with mission to support STEM education in young people/women/under-represented groups.

16. Inclusive culture
Implement a zero-discrimination culture

7. Engagement at work:
We will ensure our employees are satisfied at work

17. Employee engagement and wellbeing
Improve eNPS and engagement metrics year on year through to 2025 

Improve our eNPS score from -9 in 2021 to -4 in 2022 

8. Employee training:
We will help prepare a future-fit workforce to tackle the 
skills gap and build a pipeline of talented employees

18. Future skills for commercial roles
Train 100% of commercial sales team in sustainable and energy efficient solutions by 2025

19. Future skills for all employees
Enable 100% of our workforce to participate in relevant upskilling and reskilling programmes by 2030 

20. Future talent pipeline
Increase our offer of apprenticeships & internships across the Group

9. Health & Safety:
We will ensure Purmo Group is a safe place to work

21. Zero harm
Target 0 accidents across our business

22. Anti-corruption training
Ensure all eligible employees complete anti-corruption training

4. Our communities
Resilient communities

10. Community engagement and education:
We will help the most vulnerable people access adequate 
shelter and indoor climate

23. Enable climate resilience for all 
Devote 25,000 (eight hours per employee, per year) of employees’ time to support our local communities in providing heating and cooling 
solutions for vulnerable groups by 2025 

24. Stakeholder collaboration
Develop plans in all markets to collaborate with local governments and relevant organisations
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Governance
Purmo Group Plc is registered in Helsinki, 

Finland as a public limited liability company 
and operates under Finnish law.
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Corporate Governance Statement 2021
This Corporate Governance Statement of Purmo Group Plc 
(“Purmo Group” or the “Company”, and together with its 
subsidiaries, the “Group”) is issued for the financial year 2021. 
The duties and responsibilities of Purmo Group governing 
bodies are determined by Finnish law as well as Purmo Group’s 
Articles of Association approved by the General Meeting of 
Shareholders and Purmo Group’s Corporate Governance 
Principles approved by Purmo Group’s Board of Directors.

Purmo Group is listed on the Official List of Nasdaq 
Helsinki Ltd. The Company is the parent company 
of the Group and registered in Helsinki, Finland as 
a public limited liability company operating under 
Finnish law. Purmo Group’s corporate headquarters 
are located in Helsinki, Finland.

This Corporate Governance Statement has been 
prepared in accordance with the Finnish Corporate 
Governance Code 2020 (the "Governance Code"). 
This statement is presented as a separate report 
from the Board of Directors’ Report. The Audit Com-
mittee of Purmo Group's Board of Directors has re-
viewed this Corporate Governance Statement.
Purmo Group complies with all recommendations of 
the Governance Code.

The Governance Code is available on the web-
site of the Securities Market Association’s website at 
www.cgfinland.fi. 

The merger between Virala Acquisition Company 
Plc (“VAC”) and Purmo Group Ltd, announced on 
8  September 2021, was completed on 31 Decem-
ber 2021, whereby all assets, rights and liabilities of 
 Purmo Group Ltd were transferred without a liquida-
tion procedure to VAC (the “Merger”). The completion 
of the Merger resulted in the combined company 
 Purmo Group Plc.

Sections 1–5 of this statement contain a description 
of Purmo Group’s corporate governance as in force 
from the completion of the Merger whereas Section 
6 of this statement describes an external audit during 

the financial year 2021 and Section 7 contains infor-
mation concerning the financial year 2021 before 
the Merger. 

1  Governing Bodies
The General Meeting of Shareholders, the Board of 
Directors and the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) 
are responsible for the management, control and 
supervision of the Company, and their duties are pri-
marily determined in accordance with the Finnish 
Companies Act. The management and governance 
of the Company are also based on decisions made 
by the General Meeting of Shareholders and the 
Company.

1.1  General Meeting of Shareholders
The General Meeting of Shareholders is the ultimate 
decision-making authority of the Company. At the 
General Meeting of Shareholders, shareholders ex-
ercise their decision-making power. The matters to 
be dealt with in the General Meeting of Shareholders 
are defined in the Finnish Companies Act and Purmo 
Group’s Articles of Association. The Annual General 
Meeting is convened by the Board of Directors an-
nually within six months from the end of the previous 
financial year. An Extraordinary Meeting of Share-
holders may be convened if the Board of Directors 
deems it necessary, or if one is legally required.

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders de-
cides on the distribution of profits, adopts the fi-

nancial statements and discharges the members 
of the Board of Directors and the CEO from lia-
bility. It elects the members of the Board of Direc-
tors, as well as decides on their remuneration. The 
Annual General Meeting also elects the auditor 
of the Company and decides on its remuneration. 
The General Meeting of Shareholders adopts the 
Company’s remuneration policy and remuneration 
 report in accordance with the provisions of the Finn-
ish Companies Act. Decisions to amend the Articles 
of Association are also taken by a General Meeting 
of Shareholders.

1.2  The Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the adminis-
tration of the Company and the appropriate organi-
sation of its operations. The Board of Directors is also 
responsible for the appropriate arrangement of the 
supervision of the Company’s accounts and financ-
es. The Board of Directors decides on Company and 
Group wide significant matters of principal impor-
tance. The Board of Directors appoints and dismisses 
the CEO, supervises his or her actions, and decides 
on his or her remuneration and other terms and con-
ditions of service. The Board of Directors also makes 
decisions on the significant matters related to strate-
gy, investments, organisation and financial affairs of 
the Company.  

The Board of Directors will deal with all matters per-
taining to its area of responsibility in accordance with 
Finnish law, the Articles of Association, the Governance 
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Code, the rules of Nasdaq Helsinki, as amended from 
time to time, as well as other rules and regulations 
applicable to publicly listed companies in Finland. The 
Board of Directors also ensures that good corporate 
governance is complied with throughout the Group. 
The Board of Directors has approved the Corporate 
Governance Principles of the Group.

According to the Company’s Articles of Association, 
the Board of Directors comprises of a minimum of 
three and a maximum of ten ordinary members. 
The Annual General Meeting elects the members 
of the Board of Directors, including the Chairman 
and the Vice Chairman. The term of the members 
of the Board of Directors expires at the closing of 
the Annual General Meeting following the election. 
The Shareholders’ Nomination Board prepares a 
proposal on the composition of the Board of Direc-
tors to the General Meeting for its decision. The bi-
ographical details of the members of the Board of 
Directors are presented on the Company’s website at 
www.purmogroup.com.

The Board of Directors convenes in accordance with 
a schedule agreed in advance and as otherwise 
required. The Board of Directors also receives in its 
meetings current information on the operations, fi-
nances and risks of the Group. Board meetings are 
attended by the CEO, the CFO, and the person act-
ing as secretary to the Board. Other representatives 
of the Company attend Board meetings at the in-
vitation of the Chairman of the Board of Directors. 
Minutes are kept of all meetings. An evaluation of the 
Board of Directors’ performance and working meth-
ods shall be conducted annually.

The Extraordinary General Meeting of VAC held on 
13 December 2021 elected the following seven mem-
bers to the Board of Directors of Purmo Group for 
the term commencing as from the completion of the 
Merger on 31 December 2021:
• Tomas von Rettig, Chairman of the Board, b. 1980, 

BBA, CEFA, Chairman of the Board of Directors of 
Rettig Group Ltd and other positions of trust

• Matts Rosenberg, Vice Chairman of the Board, b. 
1977, Ph.D. (Econ.), CEO of Rettig Group Ltd

• Alexander Ehrnrooth, member of the Board, b. 1974, 
M.Sc. (Econ.) and MBA, Kellogg Executive Scholar, 
President and CEO of Virala Corporation

• Carina Edblad, member of the Board, b. 1963, 
M.Sc. (Eng.), CEO of Thomas Betong

• Carlo Grossi, member of the Board, b. 1956, Master 
in Engineering, Advanced Management Program 
INSEAD, holds several positions of trust

• Jyri Luomakoski, member of the Board, b. 1967, 
MBA, holds several positions of trust

• Catharina Stackelberg, member of the Board, b. 
1970, M. Sc. (Econ.), Executive Chairman of Market-
ing Clinic Group

The Board of Directors has assessed the indepen-
dence of the Board members and concluded that 
all members of the Board of Directors are indepen-
dent of the Company. Carina Edblad, Carlo Grossi, 
Jyri Luomakoski and Catharina Stackelberg are also 
independent of the significant shareholders of the 
Company. Alexander Ehrnrooth is not independent of 
a significant shareholder of the Company, Virala Cor-
poration and Tomas von Rettig and Matts Rosenberg 
are not independent of a significant shareholder of 
the Company, Rettig Group Ltd.

1.3  Number of Board meetings and attendance 
rates as of completion of the Merger on 31 
December 2021

Number of meetings % of meetings

Alexander Ehrnrooth 1/1 100

Tomas von Rettig 1/1 100

Matts Rosenberg 1/1 100

Carina Edblad 1/1 100

Carlo Grossi 1/1 100

Jyri Luomakoski 1/1 100

Catharina Stackelberg 1/1 100

1.4  Diversity of the Board of Directors
In Purmo Group, the election and composition of 
the Board of Directors is guided by the principle of 
diversity to ensure that the Company has a skilled, 
competent, experienced and effective Board. Di-
versity is an essential quality of a well-functioning 
Board of Directors. The Board of Directors must at 
all times be able to react to the requirements of the 
Company’s business and strategic objectives and 
support and challenge management in a proactive 
and constructive manner. A diverse composition of 
the Board of Directors supports and caters to the 
current and future needs in the successful develop-
ment of the Company. A diverse composition of the 
Board of Directors includes complimentary educa-
tion, competence, personal networks and experi-
ence of its members in different professional fields 
and management of business in different devel-
opment phases as well as the personal qualities of 
each Board member, all of which add to the diver-

sity of the Board of Directors. Diversity is also sup-
ported by relevant experience in fields and markets 
that are strategically significant for the Company, 
now and in the future, by strong and relevant acu-
men in international environments and businesses, 
and by a diverse age, term of office and gender 
distribution.

Both genders shall be represented in the Board of 
Directors, and the aim of the Company is to maintain 
a balanced gender distribution. As means to main-
tain a balanced gender distribution in the Board 
of Directors, the Shareholders’ Nomination Board 
seeks to include representatives of both genders in 
the Board candidates search and evaluation pro-
cess. The status of diversity and progress in achiev-
ing the aforesaid objectives will be monitored by the 
Shareholders’ Nomination Board in its assessment 
discussions and reported in the corporate gover-
nance statement.

As from the completion of the Merger on 31 Decem-
ber 2021, the Board of Directors of Purmo Group 
consists of seven members. The members of the 
Board of Directors have international work expe-
rience in different managerial positions or have 
worked or are working in the Boards of Directors or 
in the management of listed or unlisted companies. 
In terms of gender distribution, the Board of Directors 
consists of two women and five men and in terms 
of age, the members of the Board of Directors are 
between 41 and 66 years of age. The members of 
the Board represent three different nationalities. All 
members of the Board hold a university-level degree 
and one member holds a doctoral degree.
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All the current members of the Board of Directors 
of Purmo Group have served on the Board of Di-
rectors as from the completion of the Merger on 
31 December 2021, except for Alexander Ehrnrooth, 
who has served on the Board of Directors of VAC 
(subsequently Purmo Group Plc) as from 25 May 
2021 (Chairman of Board until the completion of the 
Merger). Purmo Group Plc continued the business 
operations of Purmo Group Ltd, where Tomas von 
Rettig (Chairman) and Matts Rosenberg (Vice Chair-
man) had both served on the Board of Directors 
since 2016.

1.5  Board Committees 
The Board of Directors of Purmo Group has the fol-
lowing three Committees: the Audit Committee, the 
Remuneration Committee and the Mergers and Ac-
quisition Committee. The Board committees do not 
have independent decision-making authority in mat-
ters within the authority of the Board of Directors, but 
they assist the Board of Directors by preparing such 
matters. The Board committees shall regularly report 
on their work to the Board of Directors. Minutes are 
kept of Committee meetings. The Board of Directors 
has approved the charters of the Board committees. 
In its constitutive meeting, the Board of Directors ap-
points annually, from among its members, the mem-
bers and the chairman of the Audit Committee, the 
Remuneration Committee and the Mergers and Ac-
quisitions Committee.

In addition to the abovementioned committees, the 
Board of Directors may appoint ad hoc committees 
for the preparation of specific matters. Such ad hoc 
committees do not normally have Board-approved 
charters and the Board of Directors does not release 

information on their term, composition, the number 
of meetings or the members’ attendance rates.

1.5.1   Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee shall have a minimum of three 
members. The majority of the Committee members 
must be independent of the Company, and at least 
one must be independent of the Company’s signifi-
cant shareholders. The Audit Committee as a whole 
must have the expertise and experience required for 
the performance of the duties and responsibilities of 
the committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to 
assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight 
responsibilities of the Company’s financial report-
ing process and in monitoring the statutory audit 
of the Company as well as to assist the Board of 
Directors in its oversight of matters pertaining to 
financial reporting, internal control, internal audit, 
risk management and related party transactions, 
and by making proposals on such matters to the 
Board of Directors. The Audit Committee’s duties 
include monitoring the financial affairs and finan-
cial reporting of the Company, monitoring the qual-
ity and integrity of and reviewing the interim and 
half-yearly reports and the financial statements, 
and presenting them to the Board of Directors for 
approval, and monitoring and reviewing the finan-
cial reporting processes. The Audit Committee also 
assists the Board of Directors by monitoring and 
evaluating the nature of related party transactions 
and how agreements and other transactions be-
tween the Company and its related parties meet 
the requirements of ordinary course of business 
and customary terms. In addition, the duties of the 

Audit Committee include preparation of the deci-
sion on electing the auditor, the evaluation of the 
independence of the auditor, particularly the pro-
vision of non-audit services to the Company and 
carrying out other tasks assigned to it by the Board 
of Directors. The Audit Committee also monitors the 
efficiency of internal control, internal audit and risk 
management, and evaluates the auditor’s work.

As from the completion of the Merger on 31 Decem-
ber 2021 the members of the Audit Committee are 
Jyri Luomakoski (Chairman of the Audit Committee), 
Matts Rosenberg and Alexander Ehrnrooth. The Au-
dit Committee did not convene during 2021 after the 
completion of the Merger. For information on the 
number of meetings and attendance rates of the Au-
dit Committee prior to the completion of the Merger, 
see Section 7.

1.5.2  Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee shall have a minimum 
of three members. The majority of the Committee 
members must be independent of the Company. The 
Company’s CEO or any other executive director may 
not be a member of the Committee. The Committee 
members shall have the expertise and experience 
required for the performance of the duties and re-
sponsibilities of the Committee. 

The Remuneration Committee assists the Board of 
Directors by preparing the remuneration policy and 
remuneration report of the Company’s governing 
bodies and by preparing the matters pertaining to 
the remuneration of the CEO and other members 
of the Management Team, appointment of the CEO 
as well as the remuneration principles observed by 

the Company. The Remuneration Committee’s main 
duties also include monitoring and evaluating the 
remuneration of the CEO and other members of the 
Management Team and ensuring that that the re-
muneration schemes are appropriate; monitoring 
the application of the Company’s remuneration pol-
icy as well as the current remuneration structures 
and levels in the Company; assisting the Board in 
connection with major management reorganisa-
tions based on preparation and proposals by the 
CEO; and monitoring the Company’s remunera-
tion policies, schemes and plans. The Remuneration 
Committee shall also review the procedures and de-
velopment strategies for senior level positions and 
succession plans for the CEO and other members of 
the Management Team and report to the Board of 
Directors on such matters. 

The Remuneration Committee of the Board of Direc-
tors was established on 31 December 2021, follow-
ing the completion of the Merger. The members of 
the Remuneration Committee are Tomas von Rettig 
(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Catha-
rina Stackelberg and Carina Edblad. The Remunera-
tion Committee has not convened during 2021.

1.5.3  Mergers and Acquisitions Committee 
The Mergers and Acquisitions Committee shall have 
a minimum of three members. The Committee mem-
bers shall have the expertise and experience re-
quired for the performance of the Committee duties 
and responsibilities.

Pursuant to its charter, the Mergers and Acquisitions 
Committee reviews with management and the Board 
of Directors the role of M&A within the Company’s 
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overall growth strategy, provides advice to manage-
ment regarding the Company’s various strategic al-
ternatives and funding structures for relevant acqui-
sitions, and reviews material mergers, acquisitions, 
dispositions or other potential transactions (“Strategic 
Transactions”). The duties of the Merger and Acqui-
sitions Committee also include maintaining familiarity 
with the status of the Company’s acquisition pipeline 
as a whole; at management’s request, providing sup-
port and guidance with respect to the presentation of 
Strategic Transactions to the Board of Directors; as-
sisting management and the Board of Directors with 
identification of acquisition, strategic investment and 
divestiture opportunities; ensuring management ac-
countability for Strategic Transactions, and from time 
to time as appropriate, review with management 
whether the investment thesis for a specific Strategic 
Transaction was successfully achieved; overseeing 
management and the Board of Directors’ due dil-
igence process with respect to proposed Strategic 
Transactions; having full access to corporate develop-
ment officers and other employees of the Company 
as necessary to carry out its responsibilities; and re-
porting the Committee’s actions to the Board of Direc-
tors on a regular basis, and reporting regularly to the 
Board of Directors on such issues as the Committee 
may determine are  appropriate.

The Mergers and Acquisitions Committee of the 
Board of Directors was established on 31 December 
2021, following the completion of the Merger.  The 
members of the Mergers and Acquisitions Commit-
tee are Matts Rosenberg (Chairman of the Mergers 
and Acquisitions Committee), Alexander Ehrnrooth 
and Carlo Grossi. The Merger and Acquisition Com-
mittee has not convened during 2021.

1.6  Shareholders’ Nomination Board 
The Shareholders’ Nomination Board (the “Nomina-
tion Board”) prepares, annually and otherwise when 
appropriate, proposals concerning the composition, 
election and the remuneration of the members of the 
Board of Directors to the following Annual General 
Meeting. The Nomination Board shall operate until 
abolished by the decision of the General Meeting of 
Shareholders of the Company.

Pursuant to the charter of the Nomination Board, 
the Nomination Board consists of three members 
nominated by the shareholders. The members shall 
represent the Company’s three largest shareholders 
who represent the largest number of votes out of all 
shares in the Company on 30 May each year as de-
termined on the basis of the shareholder register of 
the Company maintained by Euroclear Finland Oy. 

The Extraordinary General Meeting held on 13 De-
cember 2021 resolved that a temporary deviation is 
made from the Charter of the Shareholders’ Nom-
ination Board to the effect that, for the purpos-
es of the next Annual General Meeting following 
the effective date of the Merger on 31 December 
2021, the members of the Nomination Board will be 
based on the three largest shareholders in Purmo 
Group Plc on the tenth business day following the 
effective date.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors acts as an 
expert member in the Nomination Board (the Chair-
man of the Board of Directors is not an official mem-
ber of the Nomination Board and does not have any 
voting right, but he/she has the right to attend the 
meetings of the Nomination Board and receive the 

relevant material for such meetings). The term of the 
members of the Nomination Board shall end upon 
the appointment of the following Nomination Board. 
The members of the Nomination Board shall not be 
entitled to remuneration from the Company on the 
basis of their membership unless otherwise decided 
by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

The main purpose of the Nomination Board is to en-
sure that the Board of Directors and its members 
represent a sufficient level of expertise, knowledge 
and competence for the needs of the Company and 
have the possibility to devote sufficient amount of 
time to attending their duties as members of the 
Board of Directors. The Nomination Board shall pay 
attention to achieving a good and balanced gender 
distribution and diversity balance on the Board con-
sidering the competence of the Board as a whole. 
The Nomination Board shall in its work consider the 
diversity principles of the Company. 

The Nomination Board has the power and authority 
to prepare and to present a proposal to the General 
Meeting of Shareholders concerning the number of 
members and composition of the Board of Directors; 
and the remuneration of the members of the Board 
of Directors and the Board committees as well as 
seek prospective successor candidates for the mem-
bers of the Board of Directors.

The Nomination Board shall submit its proposals 
to the Board of Directors at the latest on 31 January 
each year. The Proposals of the Nomination Board 
will be published through a release by the Compa-
ny and included in the notice to the General Meeting 
of Shareholders.

The Company’s largest shareholders Rettig Group 
Ltd., Virala Corporation and Ahlstrom Invest B.V. 
have each nominated one member to the Nomina-
tion Board on 20 January 2022. For information on 
the number of meetings and attendance rates of 
the Nomination Committee before the Merger, see 
 Section 7.

1.7  Chief Executive Officer 
The Board of Directors of Purmo Group appoints 
and dismisses the CEO and decides on the financial 
benefits within the framework of the valid Remu-
neration Policy presented to the General Meeting of 
the Shareholders and on other terms and conditions 
of the CEO’s position. The terms and conditions of 
the CEO’s position are specified in a written service 
contract. The CEO of the Company is responsible for 
managing, supervising and controlling the business 
operations of the Company.

The CEO is responsible for the day-to-day execu-
tive management of the Company in accordance 
with the instructions and orders given by the Board 
of Directors. In addition, the CEO ensures that the 
accounting practices of the Company comply with 
Finnish law and that its financial affairs have been 
arranged in a reliable manner. The duties of the 
CEO are governed primarily by the Finnish Compa-
nies Act. The CEO shall provide the Board of Direc-
tors and its members with the information neces-
sary for the performance of the duties of the Board 
of Directors.

The CEO prepares matters for decision by the Board 
of Directors, develops the Company in line with the 
targets approved by the Board of Directors and en-
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sures the proper implementation of the decisions of 
the Board of Directors. The CEO is also responsible 
for ensuring that the Company is managed in com-
pliance with applicable laws and regulations. The 
CEO is not a member of the Board of Directors but 
attends the meetings of the Board of Directors and 
has the right to speak at the meetings.

Following the completion of the Merger on 31 De-
cember 2021, John Peter Leesi (b. 1961, BBA with ad-
vanced studies in international finance) serves as the 
CEO of Purmo Group.

1.8  Group Management Team
The Company’s Board appoints the members of the 
Management Team. The Management Team com-
prises the CEO and CFO as well as other members 
appointed by the Board. The Management Team 
meets regularly to address matters concerning the 
entire Group. The Management Team is not a deci-
sion-making body of the Company, but it assists the 
CEO in the implementation of the Group’s strategy 
and in operational management. The Management 
Team is responsible for managing the Company’s 
core business operations as a whole, which requires 
planning of various development processes, Group 
principles and Group practices, as well as monitoring 
the development of financial matters and Group’s 
business plans. Board members are free to join the 
meetings of the Management Team in order to en-
sure a smooth cooperation between the Board of 
Directors and the Management Team. The Manage-
ment Team convenes regularly at a schedule agreed 
in advance and also as required and minutes are 
kept of all meetings.

As from the completion of the Merger on 31 Decem-
ber 2021, the Management Team of Purmo Group 
comprises the following members:
• John Peter Leesi, CEO, (b. 1961, BBA with advanced 

studies in international finance)
• Erik Hedin, Chief Financial Officer, b. 1977, MSc (Ind. 

Eng.), BSc (Econ.)
• Mike Conlon, Senior Vice President, Indoor Climate 

Systems, b. 1966, BA (Hons)
• Linda Currie, Chief People Officer, b. 1973, BA 

(Hons) Business & Human Resource Management, 
CIPD

• Tomasz Tarabura, Senior Vice President, Radiators 
Division, b. 1967, M.Sc. (Eng.), postgraduate studies 
(Marketing)

1.9  Shareholdings of Board of Directors’ 
and Management Team
At the end of 2021, the number of issued shares in 
Purmo Group was 41,939,748. At the end of 2021, 
none of the members of the Board of Directors, the 
CEO, or the members of the Management Team nor 
their controlled entities had any share-based rights 
in Purmo Group or its group companies.

The shareholdings of the members of the Board of 
Directors, the CEO, and the members of the Man-
agement Team as well as their controlled enti-
ties as at 31 December 2021 are presented in the 
 following table.

Board of Directors’ shareholdings

Class C shares Class F shares

Tomas von Rettig* 0 0

Matts Rosenberg* 0 0

Alexander Ehrnrooth** 3,776 0

Carina Edblad 0 0

Carlo Grossi 0 0

Jyri Luomakoski 0 0

Catharina Stackelberg 692 0
*Influence in Rettig Group Ltd which holds 28,638,547 class C shares in 
Purmo Group.
**Influence in Virala Corporation which holds 3,601,198 class C shares and 
1,565,217 class F shares in Purmo Group. 

Management Team shareholdings 

Class C shares Class F shares

John Peter Leesi 408,927 0

Erik Hedin 245,356 0

Mike Conlon 31,770 0

Linda Currie 23,582 0

Tomasz Tarabura 31,718 0

2  Control 

2.1  Internal Audit 
Purmo Group’s internal audit assists the Company in 
accomplishing its objectives by bringing a systematic 
and disciplined approach to evaluate and improve 
the effectiveness of the organization's governance, 
risk management and internal control. Internal Audit 
also assists the Board of Directors and senior man-
agement of the Company in creating an effective 
and reliable control environment. 

The Chief Audit Executive (or otherwise titled high-
est level practicing Internal Auditor) will report func-
tionally to the Audit Committee and administratively 
(i.e. day to day operations) to the CFO. The internal 
audit report may include management’s response 
and corrective actions taken or to be taken in re-
gard to the specific findings and recommenda-
tions. The internal audit activity will be responsible 
for appropriate follow-up on engagement findings 
and recommendations. 

The scope of internal auditing encompasses, but is 
not limited to, the examination and evaluation of the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation's 
governance, risk management, and internal controls 
as well as the quality of performance in carrying out 
assigned responsibilities to achieve the organisa-
tion’s stated goals and objectives. The internal audit 
plan will be developed based on a prioritisation of 
the audit universe using a risk-based methodology, 
including input of senior management and the Au-
dit Committee. The audit plan of the internal audit is 
decided annually by the Audit Committee and ap-
proved by the Board of Directors.
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2.2  External Audit
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Company 
has one auditor, which shall be an Authorised Public 
Accountants firm. The auditor is elected annually by 
the Annual General Meeting for a term that expires at 
the end of the next Annual General Meeting following 
the election. The task of the auditor is to audit the con-
solidated financial statements, the financial statements 
of the parent company, the accounting of the Group 
and the parent company and the administration of the 
parent company. The Company’s auditor submits the 
auditors’ report to the shareholders in connection with 
the annual financial statements, as required by law, 
and submits regular reports on its findings to the Audit 
Committee of the Board of  Directors.

3  Related Party Transactions
The Board of Directors has defined the principles for 
monitoring and evaluating related party transactions. 
The Company evaluates and monitors transactions 
concluded between the Company and its related par-
ties and ensures that any conflicts of interest are tak-
en into account appropriately in the decision-making 
process of the Company. The Company keeps a list of 
parties that are related to the Company.

Purmo Group can conduct with its related parties 
business transactions that constitute part of Purmo 
Group's ordinary course of business and are imple-
mented on arm's length terms and abiding Purmo 
Group's internal decision-making guidelines. The 
Board of Directors decides, taking into consideration 
conflict of interest rules, on transactions with related 
parties that are not part of Purmo Group's ordinary 
course of business or that are not implemented un-
der arm's length terms.

Purmo Group's Finance organization monitors re-
lated party transactions through accounting, Board 
documentation and other available sources, and 
regularly conducts inquiries about related par-
ty transactions to managers and key management 
persons. In connection with quarterly reporting, the 
financial process ensures that related party trans-
actions are properly reported to the related party 
transaction watch list compiled for financial report-
ing purposes. The watch list is regularly submitted to 
the Audit Committee for information.

In principle, all related party transactions must be 
reported in the notes to the financial statements and 
material related party transactions also in the inter-
im reports. In addition, the Company publishes such 
related party transactions to the extent required pur-
suant to the applicable legislation and the rules of 
Nasdaq Helsinki.

4  Internal control procedures and main 
features of risk management systems

4.1  Internal control 
Internal control ensures that the Company’s business 
objectives can be achieved. Through efficient control, 
deviations from objectives can be prevented or de-
tected as early as possible, so that corrective mea-
sures can be taken. 

The purpose of internal control is to ensure the prof-
itability, efficiency, continuity and freedom from dis-
ruptions of operations and that the Group’s finan-
cial and operating reporting both externally and 
internally is reliable and compliant, and that internal 
principles, policies and guidelines are followed. Fur-

ther, internal control ensures compliance with laws 
and regulations. Internal control measures cover all 
Group levels and functions. Information systems are 
of vital importance for effective internal control.

The planning of the control measures begins with the 
definition of business objectives and the identification 
and assessment of the risks that threaten the objec-
tives. Control measures are targeted based on risks, 
and control measures are selected as appropriate so 
as to keep the risks under control.

The Board of Directors and the CEO are responsi-
ble for organising internal control. The CEO sets the 
ground for the internal control environment (“tone at 
the top”) by providing leadership and direction to the 
executive management, and by reviewing the way 
they manage and control the business. The CEO is re-
sponsible for managing the business and administra-
tion in accordance with the applicable laws and reg-
ulations, and the direction of the Board of Directors. 
The CEO is accountable for establishing sufficient in-
ternal control processes in the organisation. The CEO 
is assisted by the CFO and Purmo Group operative 
management in these duties. The business functions 
and the Group finance organisation are responsible 
for the financial reporting processes. The Audit Com-
mittee and the Board of Directors assess the financial 
reporting processes and monitor the financial situa-
tion of the Group. The Audit Committee and the Board 
review the interim and half-year reports and financial 
statements before their approval and publication.

4.2  Risk management 
The primary objective of risk management in Pur-
mo Group is to support the Company’s strategy ex-

ecution, continuity of operations and realisation of 
business objectives by anticipating any risks involved 
in the Company’s operations and managing them 
in a proactive manner. Enterprise risk management 
emphasises the role of corporate culture and is an 
integrated part of operations, planning, and deci-
sion-making in Purmo Group. Risk is defined as an 
uncertain event, caused by external or internal fac-
tors, which may be either a threat or an opportunity. 
The Board of Directors has approved the Enterprise 
Risk Management Policy, which defines the frame-
work, processes, governance and responsibilities of 
risk management in Purmo Group. 

The Board of Directors and the Audit Committee 
monitor and are responsible for ensuring that Pur-
mo Group’s risk management process functions are 
comprehensive. The Board defines the risk appetite 
and tolerance, according to the current conditions. 
The Company’s operative management is responsi-
ble for achieving the set objectives and controlling, 
managing and mitigating risks that threaten them. 
The operative management is also responsible for 
the risk management work, and for ensuring the per-
formance of the risk management process and the 
availability of sufficient resources. The CFO is respon-
sible for instructions and advice to the operations 
and functions concerning enterprise risk manage-
ment, and for monitoring the practical implementa-
tion of the process. Risk management assessments 
are coordinated by the CFO together with Chief Risk 
Officer, who supports the management, operative 
business functions and other supportive functions in 
the risk management work. CFO reports key risks to 
the Board of Directors on an annual basis. The Board 
discusses Purmo Group’s most significant risks and 
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uncertainties and reports them to the market annu-
ally in the Board’s Report. In addition, the Company 
describes the material short-term risks and uncer-
tainties in half-yearly reports and interim reports. In 
Purmo Group, the business functions are responsible 
for risks related to their operations and their identifi-
cation, assessment and mitigation means. The Com-
pany’s internal audit is responsible for developing 
risk-based audit plan and conducting the audit pro-
cedures based on the plan. Internal audit reports as 
an independent function, directly to the Board and 
Audit Committee.

5  Insider Administration 
In its insider administration, the Company follows the 
Market Abuse Regulation (EU No 596/2014) and the 
rules of Nasdaq Helsinki complemented by the Com-
pany’s own Insider Policy. The Company maintains its 
own insider registers. The Company does not have 
permanent insiders.

Persons in managerial positions are prohibited to 
carry out transactions (on their own account or for 
the account of a third party), directly or indirectly, in 
the financial instruments of the Company during a 
closed period of 30 calendar days before the an-
nouncement of each of the interim reports or the 
year-end report (financial statement release). The 
Company applies the closed of 30 calendar days im-
mediately preceding the announcement of the inter-
im report or financial statement release, as the case 
may be, and the full day of publication of such report 
(the “Closed Window”). The prohibition is in force 
during the Closed Window regardless of whether or 
not such a person holds any inside information at 

that time. A project-specific insider list is maintained 
when required by law or regulations. Project-specific 
insiders are prohibited from trading in the Compa-
ny’s financial instruments until the termination of the 
project.

Persons in managerial positions (and their closely 
associated persons) are obligated to report transac-
tions in the Company’s financial instruments in line 
with applicable EU and domestic laws and regula-
tions. The members of the Board, the CEO, the CFO 
and the Vice Presidents of the divisions are the man-
agers of the Company with an obligation to disclose 
their transactions.

6  External Audit 2021
KPMG Oy Ab, Authorised Public Accountants, is 
Purmo Group’s auditor. Until the completion of the 
Merger on 31 December 2021, Virpi Halonen, Autho-
rised Public Accountant, acted as the auditor with 
principal responsibility. As from the completion of the 
Merger, Kim Järvi, Authorised Public Accountant, acts 
as the auditor with principal responsibility. 

The audit fees paid to the auditor of VAC in 2021 to-
talled EUR 34 thousand and the audit fees paid to 
the auditor of Purmo Group Ltd in 2021 totalled EUR 
575 thousand. In addition, EUR 371 thousand was 
paid to KPMG for non-audit services provided to VAC 
and EUR 349 thousand for non-audit services pro-
vided to Purmo Group Ltd.
 

7  Corporate Governance before 
the Merger in 2021

7.1  Annual General Meeting
In 2021, the shareholders of VAC (subsequently Pur-
mo Group Plc) made several unanimous resolutions 
related to the listing and initial public offering of the 
company. The Annual General Meeting of the Com-
pany was held on 26 March 2021 before the Compa-
ny was listed on Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd.

7.2  Extraordinary General Meeting
The Extraordinary General Meeting of VAC (subse-
quently Purmo Group Plc) held on 13 December 2021 
approved the Merger of VAC and Purmo Group Ltd 
in accordance with the Merger plan approved by the 
Board of Directors of VAC and Purmo Group Ltd. 

The decisions taken by the  Extraordinary 
General Meeting 2021 are available at 
investors.purmogroup.com/vac-merger/. 

7.3  The Board of Directors
The following four members were elected to the 
Board of Directors of VAC (subsequently Purmo Group 
Plc) based on a unanimous resolution of the share-
holders made on 25 May 2021 (prior to that the Com-
pany had been a shelf company with no operations):
• Alexander Ehrnrooth, Chairman of the Board, b. 

1974, M.Sc. (Econ.) and MBA, Kellogg Executive 
Scholar, President and CEO of Virala Corporation

• Mammu Kaario, Vice Chairman of the Board, b. 
1963, Master of Laws, MBA, Board professional

• Jaakko Eskola, member of the Board, b. 1958, M.Sc. 
(Eng.), Board professional

• Kai Seikku, member of the Board, b. 1965, M.Sc. 
(Econ.), President and CEO of Okmetic Oy

The term of Jaakko Eskola, Mammu Kaario and Kai 
Seikku ended on the completion of the Merger on 
31 December 2021.  The Board of Directors had as-
sessed the independence of the Board members 
and concluded that Jaakko Eskola, Mammu Kaario 
and Kai Seikku were independent of the Company 
and of the significant shareholders of the Company. 
Alexander Ehrnrooth was not independent of VAC 
and a significant shareholder of the Company, Vira-
la Corporation.

The Extraordinary General Meeting of VAC held on 
13 December 2021 elected the seven members to the 
Board of Directors of Purmo Group under section 1.2 
for the term commencing as from the completion of 
the Merger on 31 December 2021:

In 2021, the Board of Directors of the Company con-
vened nineteen (19) times prior to the completion of 
the Merger, with an average attendance rate of 96 
percent, and one (1) time following the completion of 
the Merger, with an attendance rate of 100 percent.

7.4  Audit Committee
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors was 
established on 2 June 2021. The members of the Au-
dit Committee were Mammu Kaario (Chairman of 
the Audit Committee), Jaakko Eskola, and Kai Seikku 
until the completion of the Merger. In 2021, the Audit 
Committee convened two (2) times, with an average 
attendance rate of 67 per cent. 

Why Purmo GroupPurmo Group in 2021 Sustainability Governance

Annual Report 45

2 
0 
2 
1

Financial review

https://investors.purmogroup.com/vac-merger/


7.5  Number of Board and Committee meetings 
and attendance rates before the completion 
of the Merger

Board of  
Directors

Audit  
Committee

Alexander Ehrnrooth (Committee 
member as of 31 December 2021)

19/19 0/0

Mammu Kaario (Board and 
Committee member until 
31  December 2021)

19/19 2/2

Jaakko Eskola (Board and Committee 
member until 31 December 2021)

17/19 1/2

Kai Seikku (Board and Committee 
member until 31 December 2021)

18/19 1/2

7.6  Diversity of the Board of Directors
Prior to the completion of the Merger on 31 Decem-
ber 2021, the Board of Directors of VAC (subsequently 
Purmo Group Plc) consisted of four members. The 
members of the Board of Directors had a broad 
expertise from different fields and business areas 
and had been executives or non-executive mem-
bers of the Board of Directors in both listed and un-
listed companies. In terms of gender distribution 
in the Board of Directors prior to the completion of 
the Merger, the Board of Directors consisted of two 
women and two men and in terms of age, the mem-
bers of the Board were between 47 and 63 years of 
age. All members held university degrees and said 
degrees covered different areas of study.

7.7 Chief Executive Officer
Johannes Schulman (b. 1970, MSc (Econ.)) served as 
the CEO of VAC until the completion of the Merger on 
31 December 2021. 

7.8  Management Team
Prior to the completion of the Merger on 31 Decem-
ber 2021, Johannes Schulman served as the CEO and 
Mia Alholm served as the CFO of VAC (subsequently 
Purmo Group Plc).

7.9  Remuneration
The Remuneration Policy of the governing bodies of 
VAC was adopted by unanimous resolution of share-
holders on 13 June 2021. The Remuneration Policy sets 
the principles for the remuneration of the Board of 
Directors and the CEO. The Remuneration Policy will 
be updated as a consequence of the Merger and 
presented to Purmo Group’s Annual General Meet-
ing on 25 April 2022. The Remuneration Report of the 
governing bodies for the year 2021 is presented by 
the Board of Directors to the Annual General Meet-
ing 2022. 

7.10  Shareholders’ Nomination Board
On 10 August 2021, VAC announced that the following 
members have been appointed to the Shareholders’ 
Nomination Board of the Company:
• Alexander Ehrnrooth, Chief Executive Officer of Vi-

rala Corporation and member of the Board of Di-
rectors of VAC (subsequently Purmo Group Plc)

• Peter Seligson, Ahlstrom Invest B.V
• Jarkko Takanen, Jussi Capital Oy

The Nomination Board has from among its members 
elected Alexander Ehrnrooth as its Chairman.

For the purposes of the proposals by the Share-
holders’ Nomination Board to the Annual General 
Meeting 2022, new members of the Shareholders’ 

Nomination Board were elected based on the three 
largest shareholders in Purmo Group on the tenth 
business day following the completion of the Merger.

7.11  Number of Nomination Board meetings  
and attendance rates 2021 before the completion  
of the Merger
 
Alexander Ehrnrooth 4/4

Peter Seligson 4/4

Jarkko Takanen 4/4
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Tomas von Rettig 
Chairman of the Board 
of Directors, Chairman 
of the Remuneration 
Committee 

b. 1980

BBA, CEFA 

Matts Rosenberg 
Vice Chairman of the 
Board, Chairman of 
the M&A Committee, 
Member of the Audit 
Committee

b. 1977

Ph.D. (Econ.) 
CEO of Rettig Group 
Ltd

Alexander Ehrnrooth 
Member of the Board 
of Directors, Member 
of the Audit and M&A 
Committees 

b. 1974

M.Sc. (Econ.), MBA 
President and CEO of 
Virala Corporation

Carina Edblad 
Member of the Board 
of Directors, Member 
of the Remuneration 
Committee

b. 1963

M.Sc. (Eng.) 
CEO of Thomas 
Betong

Carlo Grossi 
Member of the Board 
of Directors, Member 
of the M&A Committee

b. 1956

Master in Engineering, 
Advanced 
Management 
Program INSEAD

Jyri Luomakoski 
Member of the Board 
of Directors, Chairman 
of the Audit Committee

b. 1967

MBA

Catharina  Stackelberg 
Member of the Board 
of Directors, Member 
of the Remuneration 
Committee 

b. 1970

M. Sc. (Econ.) 
Executive Chairman 
of Marketing Clinic 
Group

Board of Directors

More information on Board members is available at investors.purmogroup.com
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Management Team

John Peter Leesi 
CEO

b. 1961

BBA with advanced 
studies in international 
finance

Erik Hedin 
Chief Financial Officer

b. 1977

MSc (Ind. Eng.), 
BSc (Econ.)

Linda Currie 
Chief People Officer

b. 1973

BA (Hons) Business 
& Human Resource 
Management, CIPD

Mike Conlon 
Senior Vice President, 
Indoor Climate Systems

b. 1966

BA (Hons)

Tomasz Tarabura 
Senior Vice President, 
Radiators Division

b. 1967

M.Sc. (Eng.), 
postgraduate studies 
(Marketing)

More information on Management Team is available at investors.purmogroup.com
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Letter from the Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee
Dear Shareholder,
On behalf of Purmo Group’s Remuneration Commit-
tee, I am pleased to present the 2021 Remuneration 
Report, outlining the Remuneration and benefits of 
the Board of Directors and CEO of Virala Acquisition 
Company Plc (currently Purmo Group Plc) and the 
CEO of Purmo Group Ltd. The Remuneration Re-
port 2021 has been prepared in accordance with the 
Finnish Corporate Governance Code 2020 and the 
requirements set forth in the Finnish Limited Liability 
Companies Act, the Securities Markets Act and the 
Decree of the Ministry of Finance. 

Our approach to remuneration and  
our strategy
Our purpose as a Remuneration Committee is to en-
sure that the remuneration programmes at Purmo 
Group reflect our established remuneration principles 
of driving performance to achieve long term stra-
tegic goals, to define clear performance indicators 
linked to strategy execution, to attract and retain top 
talent and to enhance employee engagement.

A fully aligned remuneration structure will focus and 
drive the right performance. The Board of Directors 
set the targets for both short term and long term 
incentives and the achievement levels are directly 

linked to key performance indicators, financial and 
strategic achievement.

Our Achievements in 2021
In 2021 our employees showed resilience and 
strength by continuing to perform well against the 
challenges of a global pandemic. Procedures and 
normal practices were adapted to ensure that busi-
ness performance could continue, whilst ensuring the 
health and safety of our employees was paramount 
at all times. Local and global monitoring in all coun-
tries throughout 2021, demonstrated collaboration 
and commitment. I would like to thank employees 
for their significant efforts and hard work during this 
time and express my sympathy for those more seri-
ously affected by COVID 19.

During 2021, we also took decisive actions and em-
barked upon and delivered an  operational excel-
lence program, aimed at refining processes, consoli-
dating functions, centralising and removing cost from 
the business and this was delivered and executed at 
a local level.

In 2021 we also made significant steps forward in our 
sustainability and wider ESG agenda, under the firm 
commitment that; indoor climates should not cost 

the planet’s climate. During the year, we developed 
and strengthened our focus on sustainability by ap-
pointing a dedicated Head of Sustainability and CSR 
to create our strategy and positioning in this area.  
During 2021 we defined our material ESG issues and 
delivered an extensive stakeholder engagement pro-
gram, beyond which key issues were established, 
roadmaps and targets were set and a governance 
model was established supported by a robust re-
porting mechanism. 

Looking to 2022
Sustainability, in the wider definition of environmen-
tal, social and governance (ESG), will play an import-
ant role in our business moving forward.  With that in 
mind the Remuneration Committee will propose that 
ESG targets are a part of Purmo Group manage-
ment short term incentive plan in 2022. We will also 
design a relevant long term incentive plan to, with 
the aim of driving performance in order to achieve 
our longer term strategic goals.

Tomas von Rettig
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Why Purmo GroupPurmo Group in 2021 Sustainability Governance

Annual Report 49

2 
0 
2 
1

Financial review



Introduction
The merger between Virala Acquisition Company 
Plc (“VAC”) and Purmo Group Ltd, announced on 8 
September 2021, was completed on 31 December 
2021, whereby all assets, rights and liabilities of Pur-
mo Group Ltd were transferred without a liquidation 
procedure to VAC (the “Merger”). The completion of 
the Merger resulted in the combined company Pur-
mo Group Plc.

The Remuneration Report 2021 describes the imple-
mentation of VAC’s Remuneration Policy, which was 
adopted by an unanimous resolution of the share-
holders on 13 June 2021 and prepared for the com-
pany’s operations as a special purpose acquisition 
company and with the company’s CEO working for 
the company based on a service agreement. After 
the completion of the Merger, Purmo Group Plc’s’ 
Board of Directors will present a new Remuneration 
Policy at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 
25 April 2022. 

Section 1 in this report contain a general descrip-
tion of VAC’s remuneration as in force before the 
Merger for the financial year 2021. Section 2 of 
this report contains information concerning Purmo 
Group Ltd’s remuneration before the Merger for 
the financial year 2021 and Section 3 the remuner-
ation as in force from the completion of the Merg-
er. As Remuneration Policy 2021 has been applied 
only to VAC’s (currently Purmo Group Plc) remuner-

Purmo Group Remuneration Report 2021 

ation, Purmo Group Ltd’s remuneration before the 
Merger has been presented for information pur-
poses only. 

The Remuneration Report 2021 follows the Finnish 
Corporate Governance Code 2020 and the applica-
ble legislation. The actual remuneration paid in 2021 
to Board of Directors and CEO of VAC and reported 
here complies with the framework and principles set 
forth in the Remuneration Policy 2021. No temporary 
deviations from the Remuneration Policy were made 
before the completion of the merger on 31 December 
2021 and no remuneration of the Board nor the CEO 
has been reclaimed or restated during the financial 
year 2021.

Remuneration and company performance
The table below presents the development of Purmo 
Group Ltd’s CEO’s remuneration compared to the 
development of the average remuneration of  
Purmo Group Ltd’s employees and Purmo Group 
Ltd’s financial development during the last three  
financial years. 

2021 2020 2019

CEO salary and STI, EUR 638,662 711,7091 589,449

Average Purmo Group 
employee remuneration2 38,8352 36,5263 36,655

Average number of  
personnel 3,3602 3,287 3,297

Net sales, MEUR 843.6 671.2 696.8

Adjusted EBITDA, MEUR 103.9 85.1 65.4

1 Includes previous CEO salary and bonus until 31 August 2020 and current 
CEO salary and bonus from 1 July 2020.
2 Compensation includes all wages and salaries, including short term 
incentive payments excluding employer costs (social security, pension 
costs, other benefits) divided by the average number of employees 
during the year.
3 Including 185 Evorad employees, employed as a result of the majority 
acquisition in Russia).

Prior to the measures that led to the listing of VAC in 
June 2021, the company was a shelf company with no 
operations or employees.

Virala Acquisition Company Plc 
remuneration

Remuneration of Board of Directors 
On 25 May 2021, the shareholders of VAC decided 
that the members of the Board of Directors are paid 
an annual fee of EUR 30,000 EUR and the Chairman 
of the Board EUR 45,000. 40% of the annual fees will 
be paid in VAC’s shares and 60% in cash. The remu-
neration for the first term was however paid in cash 
in its entirety, but the members of the Board of Direc-
tors each individually subscribed for Class C shares 

in an amount that corresponds to 40% of the annual 
remuneration of the member of the Board of Direc-
tors in question.

VAC Board remuneration from 25 May to 31 
December 2021

EUR Cash reward

Alexander Ehrnrooth, Chairman 45,000

Mammu Kaario, Vice Chairman 30,000

Jaakko Eskola 30,000

Kai Seikku 30,000

Total 135,000

Remuneration of the CEO
VAC’s CEO Johannes Schulman has been working in 
the position under a service agreement which VAC 
entered into with Virala Corporation on 2 June 2021. 
Based on the service agreement, Virala Corporation 
has been entitled to receive a monthly consideration 
of EUR 7,500 (VAT 0 per cent) for the provided CEO 
services. The CEO has not been entitled to any sev-
erance pay or incentives. In addition, there has not 
been any additional pension plans in place for the 
CEO and he has not received any other benefits after 
the termination of the service agreement. The service 
agreement was terminated on 31 December 2021, 
which was the completion date of the Merger.
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Purmo Group Ltd remuneration
The guiding principles of Purmo Group’s remunera-
tion programme is to:
• Drive performance in order to succeed in the deliv-

ery of the long term strategic goals of the company. 
• Define clear key performance indicators linked to 

strategy execution 
• Attract and retain top talent
• Enhance employee engagement through clarity 

and understanding

Remuneration of the CEO of Purmo Group Ltd
The CEO’s actual paid remuneration is well aligned 
to the company’s performance development for 
2021. The CEO is entitled to participate in incentive 
schemes in a manner determined by the Board and 
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
company's incentive schemes. 

CEO’s Short Term Incentive Programme 2020. 
Paid in 2021 (applicable to 2020 performance)
• In 2020 the amount of the annual short term incen-

tive plan was a maximum 60% of the CEO’s annual 
base salary. 

• The CEO’s short term incentive (paid in March 
2021) was based on the achievement of the 
pre-defined company targets for the financial year 
January – December 2020.

• For the STI Programme 2020, (paid in March 2021), 
the CEO’s targets were based upon Purmo Group 
EBITDA, and Free Cash Flow, weighted at 60% and 
the Board’s assessment of overall effectiveness 
of performance in the first 6 months of his role as 
CEO, weighted at 40% (the CEO commenced em-
ployment in July 2020). 

EUR Base salary
Short-term 

incentive 1 Benefits
Pension 

allowance 2 Total

John Peter Leesi 496,035 139,970 2,702 63,501 702,208

1 Earned based on performance in the financial year 2020, paid in Q1 2021.
2 The CEO is normally eligible to become an active member of the company’s defined contribution pension scheme. However, the CEO has reached the 
Life Time Pension Allowance and therefore a supplementary payment equivalent to 15% of the base salary is paid in lieu of a pension contribution. There 
is no specified retirement date for the CEO.

• The performance targets achieved 95% out of the 
maximum, resulting in a STI achievement of 57% of 
annual base salary, paid on a pro rata basis, based 
upon duration in role. The financial payment was 
GBP 116,964 (€139,970) and was paid in March 2021.

CEO’s Short Term Incentive Programme 2021. 
Paid in 2022 (applicable to 2021 performance)
• In 2021 the amount of the annual short term incen-

tive plan was a maximum 60% of the CEO’s annual 
base salary.

• The CEO’s short term incentive for 2021 (paid 
in 2022) was based on the achievement of the 
pre-defined company targets for the financial year 
January – December 2021.

• For the STI Programme 2020, (paid in 2022), the 
CEO’s targets were based upon Purmo Group Ad-
justed EBITDA, weighted at 50%, Free Cash Flow, 
weighted at 10%, and the Achievement of the Oper-
ational Excellence Programme, weighted at 40%. 

• The performance targets achieved 90% out of the 
maximum, resulting in a STI achievement of 54% 
of annual base salary. The financial payment  
was GBP 223,832 (€266,593) and was paid  
in March 2022.

Remuneration of the CEO of Purmo Group Ltd

The CEO commenced employment with Purmo 
Group in July 2020.

The CEO’s Agreement may be terminated by both 
parties by giving twelve (12) months’ prior written no-
tice to the other.

CEO’s Long Term Incentive Programme
• The Board of Directors of Purmo Group adopted 

a share-based incentive for the CEO in July 2020. 
Based on the incentive plan and the related direct-
ed share issue resolved by the shareholders of Pur-
mo Group in February 2021 the CEO subscribed for 
in total 11,930 class K1 shares and 100 class P shares 
in Purmo Group Ltd with a total subsciption price 
of EUR 0.5 million. Equity incentive instruments, i.e. 
MIP shares (class P shares), included a service con-
dition and the shares were initially meant to vest 
in tranches from 1 July 2020 to 31 December 2024. 
However, they were to vest immediately and fully 
if an exit (including a listing) took place. As a re-
sult of the merger 31 December 2021 triggering the 
exit clause of the incentive plan, the awards vested 
earlier than initially estimated resulting in all class P 
shares having vested by end of 2021. In connection 
with the completion of the merger on 31 December 
2021, the shareholders of class K1 and P shares  
received class C shares in Purmo Group Plc  
as merger consideration.
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Financial review
The year 2021 was a great success for Purmo 

Group with strong net sales growth and  
record adjusted EBITDA. We are proud of  

what the entire company achieved including  
the listing on the Nasdaq Helsinki.
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Board of Directors' Report

Operating environment
Purmo Group operates as a leading player in the 
market for sustainable indoor climate comfort 
solutions. Residential construction activity in Purmo 
Group’s key markets was favourable throughout 
2021, both inside and outside of Europe. The market 
benefitted from favourable monetary policies and 
high household spending on home improvements. 
The development was also driven by rising energy 
costs, EU’s directives for renovation and new 
construction of properties, including the EU Green 
Deal, and various government incentive schemes 
especially for renovation.

The COVID-19 pandemic increased emphasis 
on homes and the comfort of the time spent there, 
causing a strong increase in do-it- yourself as well 
as deep renovation. Renovations were generally 
less severely impacted by COVID-19 and continued 
to grow throughout the crisis, whereas new build 
was adversely affected by the uncertainty of the 
crisis mainly in 2020. However, in 2021 new build 
construction markets rebounded and reached pre-
pandemic levels for residential segments.

In Germany, the largest market for Purmo Group, 
demand remained solid throughout the year, but 
supply challenges caused constraints in meeting the 
demand. In Italy demand surged during the year as 
the market recovered from last year’s restrictions, 
and new build and renovation activities benefitted 
from governmental incentives linked to improved 

energy solutions. In other markets in Europe, as well 
China and Brazil, construction activity continued on a 
good level.

During 2021 raw material prices rose well above 
historical levels, especially steel but also other 
materials such as aluminum, brass and plastics. 
Furthermore, supply chain challenges in terms of 
availability of raw materials, transportation and lack 
of skilled labor in the market created headwinds that 
restrained full output during the year.

Strategy
Purmo Group’s growth strategy is built on three 
pillars:
(i)  scaling-up of solution-selling in order to provide 

complete solutions and capture white space in 
underpenetrated markets;

(ii)  launching of smart products to deliver products 
that are more intelligent, more sustainable and 
more aesthetic; and

(iii) focusing on growth markets to capture biggest 
opportunities outside of current markets. 

The strategy is supported by a continuous 
improvement of operational excellence and 
investment in people and culture. 

In addition, Purmo Group has a positive approach 
towards growth through M&A opportunities for 
consolidation, expansion and diversification.

Financial results - Group
Key figures and financial position

EUR million 2021 2020 Change, %
Net sales 843.6 671.2 26%

Adjusted EBITDA 103.9 85.1 22%

Adjusted EBITDA margin, % 12.3% 12.7%

Adjusted EBITA 76.6 58.1 35%

Adjusted EBITA margin, % 8.4% 7.8%

EBIT 3.5 42.0 -92%

EBIT margin, % 0.4% 6.3%

Profit for the period -18.8 25.3 -174%

Adjusted Profit for the period 51.4 38.5 34%

Earnings per share, basic, EUR -0.65 0.86 -175%

Adjusted Earnings per share, basic, EUR 1.77 1.32 33%

Cash flow from operating activities 35.4 68.9 -48%

Adjusted Operating cash flow, last 12 months1 53.1 94.2 -44%

Cash conversion2 51.1% 110.7%

Operating capital employed3 271.8 235.6 15%

Return on operating capital employed, %4 1.3% 17.8%

Net debt 239.5 75.1 219%

Net debt / Adjusted EBITDA 2.3 0.9 161%

1 Adjusted EBITDA on a rolling 12 month basis deducted by the change in net working capital and capex on a rolling 12 month basis. 
2 Adjusted operating cash flow divided by Adjusted EBITDA, both on a rolling 12 month basis.
3 Net working capital, other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use-assets.  
4 EBIT based on a rolling twelve-month calculation divided by operating capital employed. 
   Return on operating capital employed without non-recurring items was 27.1% (23.4%).
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Net sales

EUR million 2021 2020 Change, %
Net sales, by segment

Radiators 506.3 396.9 28%

ICS 337.2 274.3 23%

Total 843.6 671.2 26%

In 2021, net sales reached EUR 843.6 million 
(671.2), an increase of 26 per cent. The good 
performance was driven by sales price increases, 
strong customer demand and successful supply 
chain management despite global shortage of 
certain raw materials and components throughout 
majority of the period. Sales price increases 
were implemented to compensate for the very 
strong increase in raw material prices, well above 
historical levels. Despite general raw material 
shortages, both divisions were able to fulfil 
customer orders at a satisfactory level for most 
parts of the review period.

Net sales in the Western Europe region, Purmo 
Group’s largest region, grew by 18 per cent. The 
second largest region, Central and Eastern Europe, 
grew by 32 per cent, followed by Northern Europe 
which grew by 22 per cent, and Southern Europe, 
which grew by 44 per cent. The Rest of the World 
grew by 41 per cent.

The comparison period 2020 includes an 
exceptional second quarter when the most extensive 
COVID-19 related restrictions were in place, resulting 
in temporarily weaker demand and operational 
disturbances.

Results and profitability

EUR million 2021 2020 Change, %
Adjusted EBITDA, 
by segment 

Radiators 66.0 62.9 5%

ICS 43.7 27.0 62%

Other -5.8 -4.7 22%

Total 103.9 85.1 22%

Total adjusted 
EBITDA margin, % 12.3% 12.7%

In 2021, adjusted EBITDA reached EUR 103.9 million 
(85.1), an increase of 22 per cent. While both divisions 
performed well in 2021, adjusted EBITDA of the ICS 
division increased significantly by almost 63 per cent. 
The comparability adjustments in January-December 
2021 were EUR 70.2 million (13.2), comprising mainly 
of the EUR 52.3 million one-time, non-cash IFRS 
2 merger impact, EUR 6.6 million relating to the 
merger and standalone preparations and EUR 8.9 
million of restructuring costs. The adjusted EBITDA 
margin for the full year 2021 was 12.3 per cent (12.7).

The strong performance was supported by 
strong demand in all main markets and proactive 
sales prices increases to compensate for the higher 
raw material costs. However, the timing of the 
implementation of sales price increases varied by 
market and some delays had an adverse impact on 
2021 profitability.

Permanent cost reductions achieved through the 
PGUp operational excellence program contributed 
further to the good performance in adjusted EBITDA. 
The program, implemented at the end of 2020 and 

the beginning of 2021, mitigated higher operating 
expenses in 2021 which related to sales volume 
increase and lower costs as a result of the lock down 
the previous year.

Net financial expenses during full year 2021 
decreased by 15 per cent from EUR -8.6 million 
(-10.1). Income tax increased to EUR -13.7 million 
(-6.6) as a result of higher taxable profit. The 
effective tax rate was - 269.7 per cent (20.8) due to 
the one-time, non-cash IFRS 2 merger impact of 52.3 
million. The comparable effective tax rate without the 
one-time, non-cash IFRS 2 merger impact was 29.1 
per cent. The tax cost was burdened by significant 
profits in the countries with higher corporate income 
tax rate than Finland (especially Italy and Germany), 
tax rate based devaluation of deferred tax assets in 
France and Ireland as well as merger related real 
estate tax in Germany. Adjusted profit for the period 
was EUR 51.4 million (38.5), and adjusted earnings 
per share were EUR 1.77 (1.32).

Cash flow and financial position
Cash flow from operating activities was EUR 35.4 
million (68.9). The decrease was mainly due to a 
negative change in net working capital. The change 
in net working capital was adversely impacted by 
unusually low levels of working capital at the end of 
year 2020 in combination with high levels of cash 
tied up in working capital during the period 2021 
following high sales activity. In addition, higher 
raw material costs, sales prices, and trade and 
other payables also increased net working capital 
balances compared to the previous year.

Adjusted operating cash flow decreased by 

44 per cent to EUR 53.1 million (94.2) in 2021. The 
decrease was mainly driven by an unfavourable 
change in net working capital of EUR -38.8 million 
(20.7), due to unusually low levels of working capital 
in the comparison period, and increased capital 
expenditure of EUR 14.8 million (11.6). This was partly 
offset by an improved adjusted EBITDA of EUR 103.9 
million (85.1).

Cash flow from investing activities was EUR 18.6 
million (-10.9). The change from the previous year 
was mainly attributable to higher investments in 
property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets capital expenditure (EUR 14.8 million) and 
the Evrorad acquisition (EUR 4.5 million) which 
were partially offset by proceeds from a warehouse 
building sale of EUR 0.7 million.

In 2021, the cash flow used in financing activities 
was EUR 105.4 million (-14.5), comprising mainly of 
proceeds from the VAC initial public offering share 
issue EUR 99.9 million transferred at the merger, 
repayment of related party loan EUR 90 million 
financed with bridge loan EUR 95 million and merger 
financing EUR 280 million offset by return of capital 
to shareholders of EUR 266.4 million. Net debt was 
EUR 239.5 million on 31 December 2021 (75.1 million). 
The equity ratio as of 31 December 2021 was 37.3 
percent (61.7). The net debt to EBITDA ratio, based 
on the last 12 month’s EBITDA, was 2.3 (0.9) at the 
end of the period. In September 2021, Purmo Group 
signed a merger financing agreement consisting 
of a EUR 280 million committed term loan facility 
to refinance the merger related distribution prior to 
the completion of the merger, and a EUR 95 million 
bridge loan facility to refinance the existing related 

Why Purmo GroupPurmo Group in 2021 Sustainability Governance

Annual Report 54

2 
0 
2 
1

Financial review



party loan. Both facilities were withdrawn in full in 
December 2021 with a tenure of 3 years with two one 
year options for the term loan facility and one week 
for the bridge loan facility.

The liquidity position of the Group was good at 
the end of the reporting period: cash funds and 
undrawn committed credit facilities totalled EUR 
275.1 million (122.5 million). Cash funds included 
initial public offering proceeds of EUR 96.8 million, 
which were released within 5 business days after the 
merger. Undrawn credit facilities include a EUR 80 
million revolving credit facility, which was signed in 
September 2021 and became available in December 
2021, and overdraft facilities totalling EUR 17.4 million.

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 
company totalled EUR 390.6 (515.5) million.

Financial results - Divisions
Radiators

EUR million 2021 2020 Change, %
Net sales 506.3 396.9 28%

Adjusted EBITDA 66.0 62.9 5%

Adjusted EBITDA 
margin, % 13.0% 15.8%

Depreciations and 
amortisations -21.1 -20.6 3%

The European radiator market grew strongly in 
2021 driven by growth in construction activities, in 
both residential newbuilds and repair. Following 
exceptionally strong demand in the first half of the 

year, traditionally a low season, the sector faced 
longer delivery times as it was unable to build up 
inventory levels of finished products ahead of the 
peak winter. Distributors started to normalize their 
inventory levels during the fourth quarter of the 
year resulting in more normalized demand for the 
Radiator division.

During the year, the Radiator division launched 
new products in the panel and tubular radiator 
segments respectively. A decision was taken to start 
the expansion the manufacturing plant in Rybnik, 
Poland.

In 2021, net sales reached EUR 506.3 million 
(396.9), an increase of 28 per cent. After the 2020 
pandemic year, which was burdened by lockdowns 
and production constraints, the Radiator division 
experienced robust recovery in 2021. The good sales 
development was primarily due to higher volumes 
driven by strong demand, successful management 
of steel supply constraints, and sales price 
increases, which were implemented to compensate 
increasing raw material prices of primarily cold 
rolled steel. Russian Evrorad, acquired in April 
2021 contributed with approximately 2 per cent of 
inorganic net sales growth.

In 2021, the adjusted EBITDA of the Radiators 
division improved to EUR 66.0 million (62.9), an 
increase of 5 per cent. Adjusted EBITDA margin 
was 13.0 per cent (15.8). The increase in adjusted 
EBITDA compared to the previous year was mainly 
a result of strong organic growth driven by marked 
improvement in demand on all targeted markets, 
and the company’s ability to introduce sales price 
increases to compensate for the sharp and rapid 

increase in cost of input materials especially steel. 
However, the timing of the sales price implementation 
varied by market and there were some delays that 
adversely impacted 2021 profitability. The control 
of fixed costs and the continuation of the PGUp 
operational excellence program initiated in 2020, 
contributed to the improvement in adjusted EBITDA 
of the Radiator division.

ICS

EUR million 2021 2020 Change, %
Net sales 337.2 274.3 23%

Adjusted EBITDA 43.7 27.0 62%

Adjusted EBITDA 
margin, % 13.0% 9.8%

Depreciations and 
amortisations -9.0 -9.3 -3%

The European ICS market, predominantly the 
Radiant Heat and Cooling sector (RHC), continued to 
show growth with generally strong demand, in some 
markets above pre-pandemic levels. Constructing 
activity, mainly new build but also renovation 
supported by government incentives, had a 
favorable impact on market demand for ICS product 
categories whereas pockets of material shortages 
slowed down growth in some countries.

Overall ICS products linked to renewable energy 
and sustainable energy solutions continued to enjoy 
good demand. Government incentives in Italy and 
Germany drove a significant amount of additional 
activity during 2021. Demand was particularly strong 
in Italy as the market recovered from the 2020 

pandemic related restrictions and as new build 
and renovation activities improved, and further 
governmental incentives were introduced to promote 
projects linked to enhanced energy efficiency of 
buildings. Despite good demand in general, supply 
constraints resulted in slightly weaker sales in 
Germany during the fourth quarter.

Several investment projects were started in the 
last few months of 2021 primarily aiming to increase 
capacity in the pipe and brass production, but also 
to enable growth in other areas. In September 2021, 
it was agreed that Purmo Group’s brass production 
facility in Newcastle West, Ireland, will be relocated 
to other existing sites, in Italy and Sweden, and 
outsourced. The restructuring is expected to bring 
efficiency gains from consolidation of production and 
selective outsourcing. A restructuring provision of EUR 
4.5 million and non-recurring items were incurred 
in September 2021. The estimated future capital 
expenditure for the relocation is EUR 1.3 million. The 
entire investment is financed with Purmo Group’s own 
cash flow and the investment project is estimated to 
be completed during the first half of 2022.

In 2021, net sales amounted to EUR 337.2 million 
(274.3), an increase of 23 per cent. The strong sales 
growth was mainly due to higher sales volumes but 
also increased sales prices. The higher sales prices 
were proactively implemented to compensate the 
impact of increasing raw material prices. While 
sales were enhanced by several price increases 
during the year, it was predominantly volume growth 
that contributed to the good sales development, 
in particular the first half of the year as several key 
markets recovered from the 2020 pandemic.
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Adjusted EBITDA improved by 62 per cent to EUR 
43.7 million (27.0) in 2021. Adjusted EBITDA margin 
was 13.0 per cent (9.8). The significant growth in 
adjusted EBITDA was attributable to higher sales 
volumes, and price increases together with improved 
product performance. Total operating expenses 
were higher than in 2020, due to the volume growth 
during 2021. This was also impacted by lower costs 
due to pandemic lock downs in 2020.

Investments and acquisitions
Capital expenditure for the full year 2021, excluding 
business combinations and leased assets, 
totalled EUR 15.8 million (10.9). Investments during 
2021 related mainly to strategic projects and 
maintenance.

In April, the acquisition of a majority share in 
Evroradiators LLC (Evrorad) including its Russian 
radiator production capacity was completed. 
The acquisition was valued at EUR 5.5 million. A 
sale and purchase agreement had been signed 
between Purmo Group Ltd, Robert Bosch Holding 
Nederland B.V. and Robert Bosch Investment 
Nederland B.V. in November 2020. According to the 
agreement Purmo Group Ltd acquired 51 per cent of 
Euroradiators Holding B.V., which holds 100 per cent 
of Evroradiators LLC, the radiator factory in Engels 
in Russia. Robert Bosch Holding Nederland B.V. 
retained a 49 per cent stake in the company. 

Structural changes
In September 2021, the Irish subsidiary of the Group, 
Purmo Group Ireland Ltd, agreed with a local union 
on certain restructuring actions with related costs 
reduction of approximately EUR 4.5 million. The 
restructuring actions also entailed the relocation of 
brass production in Newcastle West, Ireland, to other 
existing sites in Italy and Sweden, as well as production 
outsourcing. The estimated capital expenditure for the 
relocation of production is limited to EUR 1.3 million. 
The entire investment is financed with Purmo Group’s 
own cash flow and the investment project is estimated 
to be completed during the first half of 2022.

Operational excellence 
program
During the second half of 2020 and into 2021, Purmo 
Group carried out a clearly defined operational 
excellence program, PGUp, aimed at achieving 
operational excellence step-change and improving 
cost competitiveness across Purmo Group. The 
program supports growth, capabilities in managing 
raw material price fluctuations, and funding of 
future investments. Further, PGUp aimed to replace 
the temporary cost measures taken to manage the 
COVID-19 crisis with recurring savings. The program 
generated recurring annualised run-rate cost savings 
of approximately EUR 20 million as of June 2021, 
which exceeded the upper end of the targeted run-
rate savings to be achieved by that time, replacing 
temporary savings during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Research and development 
Research and development (R&D) expenditure 
in January- December totalled EUR 5.9 million 
(5.2). During 2021, Purmo Group reformed and 
centralized its R&D function within both divisions to 
capitalize on changing market trends, to support 
smart products and to strengthen Purmo Group’s 
competitive position. This has improved Purmo 
Group's capacity to respond to key market trends, 
such as sustainability and digitalization, which sets 
new requirements on HVAC systems. It has also 
strengthened Purmo Group’s end-to-end offering to 
accelerate solution sales.

In line with the Group strategy, Purmo Group’s 
Smart Products pipeline focused on three clear 
strategic priorities during 2021: Intelligence, 
sustainability and aesthetics. Product development 
focused on connecting all smart HVAC equipment 
from energy source to thermal emitters into one 
unified and intelligent system. During 2021, Purmo 
Group expanded its collaboration network in the field 
of common controls.

During the year, focus was also on improving 
products sustainability features to minimise material 
input while maintaining the technical features. This 
was achieved through use of thinner high-grade 
steel in the steel panel radiators and by smart 
design improving radiator heat output performance. 
Another focus area, which is expected to span 
over the next few years, was reduction of product 
packaging including plastics. 

A new and improved fan convector portfolio called 
iVECTOR MK II was also launched during 2021. The fan 

convector is compatible to work with low-temperature 
systems such as heat pumps and it offers improved 
features in terms of intelligence, efficiency and 
reduced noise levels. It is a popular choice within the 
commercial sector such as schools, universities, care 
homes and retail facilities and can also be integrated 
in Building Management Systems (BMS). The new 
range was first launched in Austria during 2021 and 
is expected to be launched in all important European 
Purmo Group markets during 2022.

In terms of aesthetics, a completely new 
product family called “Figuresse” and a decorative 
radiator called “Tinos H” were launched during 
2021. Figuresse radiators are decorative hydronic, 
electric and mixed radiators that are built on round 
and flat tubes as well as flat steel and aluminum 
components. This portfolio expansion meets market 
demand in terms of colour, user friendly controls and 
easy installation.

Non-Financial Information 
This section describes Purmo Group’s non-financial 
information as required in Chapter 3a of the Finnish 
Accounting Act on non-financial information (NFI).

Business model
Purmo Group, headquartered in Finland, is a leading 
manufacturer and supplier of sustainable indoor 
climate comfort solutions, specialising in heating 
and cooling solutions. Purmo Group make hydronic 
and electric radiators, embedded radiant-heating 
and cooling, air-based heating and cooling systems 
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(including ventilation), dedicated hydronic and electronic 
controls and piping distribution systems. 

Purmo Group products are manufactured for residential 
buildings (both new-builds and renovations), commercial 
buildings, industrial buildings, and public spaces such as 
airports, schools, and hospitals.  The products are mainly  
sold via sanitary and heating wholesalers. 

Purmo Group’s promise is to deliver comfort by doing 
things smarter, by always moving forward and by staying 
ahead of the competition. The company strategy is to 
leverage its leadership position in sustainable indoor 
comfort climate, with a well-known brand portfolio 
and strong relationship to key technical wholesalers to 
increasingly provide integrated system solutions. Purmo 
Group is also set to participate in and drive consolidation 
of the radiator market.

With heating and cooling of household buildings 
making up 17% of total energy consumption in Europe 
the company’s vision is that indoor climates should not 
cost the planet’s climate. The industry can help create a 
significant positive impact on the planet’s future, which is 
why Purmo Group’s aim is to create value to society by 
delivering smart, sustainable, and healthy solutions for 
comfort. Purmo Group’s sustainability strategy puts climate 
at the heart of its business, and covers four key areas: our 
solutions, our production, our people, and our communities. 
These are enabled by strong governance, safe working 
practices, and ethical behavior. 

In 2021, Purmo Group developed and strengthened its 
sustainability function. Extensive stakeholder engagement 
consisting of over 130 interviews, a landscape assessment, 
and workshops was completed to analyse and define 
material issues. Key issues were prioritised, targets were 
set, and roadmaps and governance for implementation 
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were developed together with reporting capabilities. 
All of which led up to the strategy launch culminating 
in internal and external communications.

Policies
Purmo Group respects the International Labour 
Organisation’s Declaration on Fundamental 
Principles and Rights at Work, and complies with 
local and international laws and regulations. The key 
policies on Group level governing the non-financial 
topics are Code of Conduct, Whistleblowing policy 
and Enterprise Risk Management Policy. The Code 
of Conduct is aligned with the United Nations Global 
Compact, and Purmo Group expects its suppliers 
and business partners to share the same ethical 
principles. In addition, topic specific policies have 
been established on Group and country levels 
where relevant.

Due Diligence
Purmo Group has implemented a whistleblowing 
channel in 2021 for both internal and external parties. 
The channel provides the opportunity to report 
any suspected wrongdoing, whether it relates to 
bribery, fraud, health and safety risks, damage to the 
environment, or any suspected breach of the ethical 
principles laid out in Purmo Group Code of Conduct. 
All reports are treated as confidential, and concerns 
can be raised anonymously via Purmo Group 
intranet and corporate website. Onboarding and 
communication about the channel are ongoing. 

Risk management 
Purmo Group’s risk management approach is a 
Group wide process that is guided by the Enterprise 
Risk Management Policy and encompasses all 
business units. The risk management process maps 
Group wide risks annually. The process is monitored 
by the Core Leadership Team and reviewed by the 
Board of Directors.  The Group's short-term risks and 
uncertainties are described on page 61.

ESG issues are assessed as their own risk 
category, which is the responsibility of the Head of 
Sustainability. 

Governance of sustainability
Purmo Group’s Board of Directors approves the 
Sustainability Policy and decides on the group level 
sustainability strategy and target-setting that will 
guide the annual business planning. They also review 
Purmo Group’s sustainability performance and 
reporting.

 Purmo Group’s Management Team (“CLT”) is 
responsible for setting the sustainability objectives 
and proposing Purmo Group’s sustainability targets 
for approval by the Board of Directors. The CLT 
monitors the sustainability performance on regular 
bi-monthly basis.

Purmo Group’s Head of Sustainability & Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR), with the support of 
the ESG Co-ordination Group, is responsible for 
coordinating and developing sustainability at the 
Purmo Group level. This includes the Sustainability 
Policy and related Group-level instructions and 
manuals. The Head of Sustainability & CSR is also 
responsible for monitoring the policy implementation 

and for performance reporting to CLT on a bi-
monthly basis. Purmo Group’s Head of Sustainability 
& CSR leads sustainability in the development of 
common goals, targets, instructions, and procedures 
in the whole company.

Purmo Group’s Extended Leadership Team are 
responsible for defining detailed sustainability 
targets based on ambition defined by CLT and 
Head of Sustainability & CSR, develop action plans 
in accordance with Group-level targets, and ensure 
inclusion of these in the business goals. The divisions 
compare their sustainability performance against the 
targets (monthly/bi-monthly). 

Environment
Purmo Group’s environmental commitments are 
to align its operations to a 1,5 ⁰C future, to increase 
resource efficiency, reduce waste, and source key 
materials responsibly.  

All Purmo Group’s manufacturing plants manage 
environmental impacts through environmental 
management systems  that have locally determined 
procedures in place to monitor and continuously 
promote its environmental performance. All these 
systems are ISO14001 certified including its plant in 
Yangzhou, China, which was the latest to receive 
this certification in 2021. In addition, Purmo Group is 
looking to achieve ISO 50001 energy management 
certification in all its plants. 

Environmental risks deal with increasing 
regulation on topics such as energy efficiency of 
products and the EU’s potential new carbon tax, 
which may negatively impact Purmo Group’s 
business operations and investments. To mitigate 

these risks Purmo Group aims to develop and 
source products that comply with the highest 
energy efficiency ranking in their category. Purmo 
Group also plans to take the possibility of a carbon 
tax into consideration in the Group’s investment 
activities, where the carbon tax would be relevant 
for the planned operating model. The risk of  
a potential carbon tax is further diminished by 
the fact that Purmo Group's most business units 
primarily serve their home region, mainly to  
and from Europe. 

EU taxonomy assessment
Purmo Group is subject to the Non-Financial 
Reporting Directive (NFRD) and is required, under 
EU Taxonomy Regulation 2020/852, to disclose 
the extent to which its economic activities have a 
substantial positive environmental impact. These 
activities are referred to as taxonomy eligible. 

EU Taxonomy Regulation defines whether an 
economic activity carried out by a company can 
be classified as environmentally sustainable, i.e. 
taxonomy aligned. An economic activity is classified 
as taxonomy aligned if it:

• Contributes substantially to one or more of the 
taxonomy’s six environmental objectives: climate 
change mitigation, climate change adaptation, the 
sustainable use and protection of water and marine 
resources, the transition to a circular economy, 
pollution prevention and control, and the protection 
and restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems;
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• Does not do any significant harm to any other 
environmental objective;

• Complies with minimum safeguards related to 
UNGP, OECD Guidelines and ILO Conventions.

During 2021, the company conducted an EU 
taxonomy eligibility assessment under the Climate 
Change Mitigation and Climate Change Adaptation 
Environmental Objectives which form part of the EU 
taxonomy regulations. This involved identifying EU 
taxonomy eligible business areas and calculating 
the share of taxonomy eligible turnover, capital 
expenditure, and operating expenses that 
contribute towards climate change mitigation 
and adaptation. The outcome of the eligibility 
assessment was as follows:

• Radiators: Radiators are included under economic 
activity 3.5 Manufacture of energy efficiency 
equipment, where the description refers to, 
among others, NACE** code C25 (including C25.21 
Manufacture of central heating radiators and 
boilers as defined in chapter 1.1.3.1. in Annex I to 
the Taxonomy regulation Delegated Act.). Electric 
radiators have been excluded as they are not part 
of central heating.

• Heating and cooling: Cooling and ventilation 
systems are included under economic activity 3.5 
where the technical screening criteria refers in 
particular to 3.5 (i) cooling and ventilation systems, 
3.5(k) heat pumps

• Convectors: Included under economic activity 3.5 
(Manufacture of central heating radiators and 
boilers)

• Radiant heating and cooling: Underfloor heating 
systems (UFH) are included under economic 
activity 3.5 Manufacture of energy efficiency 
equipment as they are part of central heating 
systems. 

• System components: Included under economic 
activity 3.5, in particular 3.5(m) energy-efficient 
building automation and control systems, 3.5(n) 
zoned thermostats and devices for the smart 
monitoring of the main electricity loads and heat 
loads, 3.5(o) products for heat metering and 
thermostatic controls for individual homes, and for 
central heating systems.

• Water distribution systems: The product category 
mainly includes generic pipes and related 
equipment, which are not listed as relevant 
economic activities.

• Chimneys: Chimneys are not listed as a relevant 
economic activity.

To calculate business line specific taxonomy eligible 
operating expenses and capital expenditure, the 
net sales eligibility percentage for 2021 was used to 
calculate EU taxonomy eligibility. 86% of our turnover, 
69% of capital expenditures and 93% of taxonomy-
specific operating expenditures were identified as 
EU taxonomy-eligible economic activities. Taxonomy 
specific operating expenditure consists of expenses 
relating directly to maintaining and servicing assets, 
as well as R&D expenses. Of the total taxonomy 
specific  operating expenditure, the part supporting 
taxonomy-eligible economic activities has been 
considered eligible.

KPI Total

Proportion 
of Taxonomy- 

eligible 
economic 

activities, %

Proportion 
of Taxonomy 
non-eligible 

economic 
activities, %

Turnover, MEUR 843,9 86% 14%

Net CapEx1, MEUR 14,8 69% 31%

Net OpEx2, MEUR 17,6 93% 7%

1 As defined in chapter 1.1.2.1. in Annex I to the Taxonomy regulation
Delegated Act
2 As defined in chapter 1.1.3.1. in Annex I to the Taxonomy regulation Dele-
gated Act

For all three KPIs, double counting was avoided by 
classifying external revenue streams into taxonomy-
eligible economic activities only once. 

Further EU guidance on taxonomy alignment 
is expected in 2022. Taxonomy related reporting 
including taxonomy aligned activities will continue 
in 2022.

Social and employee matters
Purmo Group is committed to building and 
maintaining a diverse workforce and inclusive work 
environments, to oppose all forms of bullying and 
discrimination, and to foster equal opportunities 
in recruitment, learning and development, and 
remuneration, where decisions are made against 
objective selection criteria. These commitments 
are outlined in our global Equality, Diversity, and 
Inclusion Policy. Other global policies specific to 
social and employee-related matters include 
Health and Wellbeing Policy as well as policies 
on recruitment and onboarding, learning and 
development, and employee engagement, for 
which implementation is ongoing . All these global 

policies are complemented with local policies and, 
where relevant, with additional global guidelines. 
The Human Resources Department is responsible 
for monitoring and updating the global policies, 
whereas local policies and procedures are subject 
to monitoring and continuous improvement at the 
country level.

Purmo Group operates many factories and 
warehouses with heavy equipment and materials 
that can pose risks on employees’ health if proper 
procedures and processes are not followed. To 
tackle this risk, safe working practices have been 
embedded in the sustainability strategy’s foundation, 
and all Purmo Group’s operations are covered 
by health and safety policies and procedures 
implemented on the country level. During the year 
a new health and safety reporting system was also 
implemented to better enable the tracking of safety 
incidents and observations, also on Group level. 

In addition to health and safety risks, loss of key 
people or inability to attract talent can have an 
adverse impact on our business and operations.  
To continue to attract and retain top talent, Purmo 
Group aims to offer a mix of interesting career 
opportunities and employee benefits at an industry-
leading and fast-developing company. 

Employee turnover and satisfaction are monitored 
regularly, and in 2021 employee engagement 
surveys were carried out on several plants. Employee 
turnover and satisfaction are monitored regularly, 
and in 2021 we carried out a companywide 
employee survey achieving an eNPS score of -9, up 
from -12 in the previous year.  
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The year 2021 also included the launch of our 
new company motto as well as a human capital 
management system to further develop our 
reporting capabilities.

Human rights
Purmo Group is committed to respecting the 
internationally acknowledged human rights and has 
so far focused on human rights matters in its own 
operations such as labour rights and health and 
safety. The implementation of the new sustainability 
program will expand the human rights work under 
the topic of responsible sourcing.  Accordingly, in 
2021, Purmo Group made a decision to evaluate and 
improve supplier evaluation, and the target  
is that all major suppliers will be on-boarded  
and audited against responsible sourcing  
standards by 2024.  

Purmo Group complies with all relevant local 
and international regulations, such as the Modern 
Slavery Act 2015 in the United Kingdom, and has 
prepared and published the Modern Slavery 
Statement accordingly.

Anti-corruption and bribery
Ethical behaviour and strong governance are part 
of the foundation for Purmo Group’s sustainability 
strategy. Purmo Group has zero tolerance towards 
bribery and corruption. The Code of Conduct outlines 
the approach for ethical business conduct and 

is complimented by global policies such as Anti-
Corruption and Anti-Bribery Policy, Competition Law 
Compliance Policy, and Financial Crime Risks Policy. 

All Purmo Group employees are expected to 
familiarise themselves with the Anti-Corruption and 
Anti-Bribery Policy, to conduct mandatory training 
on Code of Conduct’s anti-corruption elements, 
and to speak up and report concerns. Employees at 
greatest risk of facing corruption – especially those 
in supply chain, international sales, contracting or 
procurement – are provided with additional training 
on avoiding, preventing, recognizing, and reporting 
bribery and corruption.  All business units are also 
expected to reasonably investigate intermediaries 
and to include anti-corruption clauses in contracts.

Purmo Group’s most significant risks on corruption 
and bribery have been identified to deal with 
corrupt arrangements that may involve extortion or 
collusion by Purmo Group’s employees and other 
individuals to steal, falsify, or destroy company 
assets or business information for personal gain. 
Purmo Group mitigates these risks through training 
to increase risk awareness, via internal control 
procedures, implementation of prevention processes, 
and investigation of red flags. In 2021, the Board 
of Directors approved a new group-wide Anti-
Corruption and Anti-Bribery Policy and training on 
anti-bribery and anti-crime policies was organized 
for specific employee groups.

Summary of key non-financial performance 
indicators

Indicator 2021 2020
GHG emissions 
(market based)1 86,780 tCO2e 83,260 tCO2e

Carbon emissions from 
procured steel 2 377,698 tCO2e 308,578 tCO2e

Customer NPS3
No data 

available
No data 

available

Employee Net Promoter 
Score (eNPS) -9 -12

Proportion of women 
in senior management 
positions 24% 16%

Incident rate (LTIFR)4 5.2 4

Anti-corruption policy 
training coverage5

99% completion 
83% pass

No data 
available

1 Location based: 73,950 (2021); 74,640 (2020).
2 Based on World Steel Data and our consumption in tonnes.
3 Surveys planned for 2022, no NPS survey conducted in 2020 or 2021.
4 LTIFR refers to Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate, the number of lost time 
injuries occurring in a workplace per 1 million hours worked
5 Of Purmo Group people in position to make decisions on behalf of the 
Company

In April 2021 Purmo Group acquired 51 per cent of 
Euroradiators Holding B.V. from two of Bosch Group's 
Dutch companies. The acquired company owns 
100 per cent of a Russian subsidiary establishing 
sourcing, production and sales in Russia. This 
increase in sales contributed to an overall net 
increase in both Green House Gases and steel 
consumption. However, our carbon intensity as 
calculated by total revenue over gross emissions 
(tCO2e) improved by 17% year on year.

Carbon intensity 

2021 2020
Total GHG emissions, 
tCO2e 86,780 83,260

Total net sales, MEUR 843.6 671.2

Carbon intensity ratio1 102.9 124.1

Improvement in % 17.1%  

1 Total GHG emissions, tCO2e / Total net sales, MEUR
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Short-term risks and 
uncertainties  
Purmo Group is affected by the global supply chain 
disturbances, which started during the COVID-19 
pandemic. This involves uncertainties and may 
adversely affect the demand for and the delivery 
capability of the company’s products and availability 
of financing. During 2021, Purmo Group was able 
to manage the adverse effect on its operations, 
the impact of challenges in getting raw materials 
and components in fulfilling customers’ orders has 
been limited. The negative impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on Purmo Group’s operations has also 
at least partly been offset by other favourable 
consequences emerging from the pandemic 
situation, such as the positive private home 
renovation trend.

Purmo Group’s costs have been affected by 
commodity, energy and logistics services price 
increases, caused for example by the global sharp 
increase in demand for commodities combined with 
supply chain disturbances. The company has been 
able to manage profitability by implementing sales 
price increases. Inflation rates in Purmo Group’s core 
markets are currently higher than for a long time and 
there is no clear guidance on whether the inflation 
rates will decrease in near future. Fluctuations in 
prices of raw materials and supplies, including 
energy, and in freight rates as well as problems in 
the availability of raw materials, supplies, labour 
and freight shipping may have a negative impact on 
profitability and operations in general.

The short term demand for Purmo Group’s 
products depends on fluctuations in demand in 
the construction industry which is cyclical in nature, 
especially new building, and the volumes and 
profitability of which vary as a result of, inter alia, 
economic conditions and the amount of investments 
in real estate.

Due to Purmo Group’s international operations, 
unfavourable fluctuations in exchange rates of 
especially the Polish Zloty, Swedish Krona, Romanian 
Leu and British Pound could have an adverse effect 
on the company’s business, financial position, results 
of operations, future prospects, or share price. In 
accordance with Purmo Group’s treasury policy, 
at any point in time, Purmo Group hedges on 
average 40 to 70 per cent of its estimated foreign 
currency exposure in respect of forecasted sales and 
purchases over the following 15 months.

Climate change related impacts mean that Purmo 
Group must develop products that meet customer 
expectations and are in compliance with the 
changing regulations concerning for example energy 
efficiency and product life cycle requirements. 
Proactive, effective and right measures may 
mean that Purmo Group is able to use business 
opportunities relating to the expectations and 
requirements. Purmo Group has a sustainability 
strategy and function.

The geopolitical situation became more uncertain 
towards the end of 2021. Volatility in financial markets 
also increased due to increased focus on decisions 
concerning monetary policy. Uncertain global 
economic, political and financial market conditions 

and economic sanctions in Purmo Group’s operating 
countries as well as trade policies may have a 
negative impact on performance, financial position 
and availability of financing.

Risk update related to the Russian  
invasion of Ukraine
The Russian invasion of Ukraine has resulted in 
severe economic sanctions on Russia as well as 
supply chain disruptions and raw material price 
increases, and an unprecedented European 
humanitarian crisis.  

Purmo Group has about 248 employees in Russia. 
Purmo Group has been importing into Russia and 
Ukraine for many years. In 2021, imports into Ukraine 
made up less than 1 per cent of total Group sales and 
sales within Russia less than 5 per cent. Sales within 
Russia have been generated both from imports, 
mainly from Poland, as well as an increasing 
portion of local production. In 2021, Purmo Group 
established sourcing, production and sales in Russia 
through the acquisition of a majority stake in a Dutch 
Euroradiators Holding B.V., which owns Evroradiators 
LLC, a Russian entity manufacturing radiators for the 
Russian market. Robert Bosch Holding Nederland B.V. 
retained a 49 per cent stake in the company. 

On 4 March 2022 Purmo Group announced that 
it suspends all sales and operations in Russia until 
further notice. While the future of the situation is 
hard to estimate, we expect a significant impact on 
our business in both Russia and Ukraine. This would 

come from the conflict itself and from increased 
custom duties as well as supply constraints or altered 
demand.  

A dedicated team has been set up to monitor the 
situation. Further appropriate action will be taken if 
there is a need to do so.  

Purmo Group is shocked and saddened by the 
invasion, and the humanitarian crisis that has 
followed. The health and safety of Purmo Group’s 
people, customers and business are, as always, a 
priority. 

Resolutions of the Annual 
General Meeting 2021
The Extraordinary General Meeting of Purmo Group 
Plc (former Virala Acquisition Company Plc) was held 
on 13 December 2021. The Extraordinary General 
Meeting resolved in accordance with the proposal of 
the Board of Directors and the merger plan, to approve 
the merger of Purmo Group Ltd into Virala Acquisition 
Company Plc (name changed to Purmo Group Plc).
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As members of the Board of Directors were 
elected, conditional on the completion of the 
merger, Tomas von Rettig (Chairman), Matts 
Rosenberg (Vice Chairman), Alexander Ehrnrooth, 
Jyri Luomakoski, Catharina Stackelberg, Carina 
Edblad and Carlo Grossi.

Changes in management team
Virala Acquisition Company Plc’s Management Team 
consisted of CEO Johannes Schulman and CFO Mia 
Alholm. The chairman of the Board of Directors, 
Alexander Ehrnrooth, participated actively in the 
duties of the Management Team in addition to his 
duties as a chairman of the Board of Directors. Virala 
Acquisition Company Plc had no employees and the 
Company's CEO Johannes Schulman and CFO Mia 
Alholm worked in these positions under a service 
agreement with Virala Corporation Ltd.

On 31 December 2021, the Board of Directors 
appointed John Peter Leesi as the CEO of Purmo 
Group Plc. The Board of Directors resolved to 
appoint the following persons to the management 
team of Purmo Group Plc:
• Erik Hedin, Chief Financial Officer
• Mike Conlon, Senior Vice President, Indoor Climate 

Systems Division 
• Linda Currie, Chief People Officer
• Tomasz Tarabura, Senior Vice President, Radiators 

Division

Personnel
The number of Group full-time-equivalent 
employees averaged 3,360 (3,287) in January–
December. At the end of the period, the Group had 
3,471 (3,262) employees. 

Personnel
1 Jan-31 Dec 

2021
1 Jan-31 Dec 

2020
1 Jan-31 Dec 

2019
Number of 
employees at the 
end of the period 3,471 3,262 3,328

Average number 
of employees 3,360 3,287 3,297

Personnel 
by region 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
Northern Europe  205  211  240

Western Europe  834  792  788

Central and 
Eastern Europe  1,848  1,683  1,696

South Europe  318  326  376

Rest of the world  266  250  228

Total  3,471  3,262  3,328

Wages and 
salaries

1 Jan-31 Dec 
2021

1 Jan-31 Dec 
2020

1 Jan-31 Dec 
2019

Wages and 
salaries total, 
EUR million 128.2 120.1 120.9

Remuneration
The remuneration of Purmo Group is described in 
the Remuneration Report, published in accordance 
with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the 
Board of Directors’ Report, and the Remuneration 
Policy available on investors.purmogroup.com.

Share capital, number of shares 
and shareholders
Purmo Group Plc has two share classes of which 
class C shares are listed and class F shares (Founder 
Shares) are held by former Virala Acquisitions 
Company Plc’s (VAC) founding shareholder, Virala 
Corporation. The Company’s class F shares are 
subject to redemption and consent clauses in 
accordance with the articles of association, which 
restrict the rights to transfer or acquire Class F 
shares. The number of outstanding shares on 31 
December 2021 was 40,374,531 class C shares and 
1,565,217 class F shares. The Company’s registered 
share capital on 31 December 2021 was EUR 
3,080,000. Trading in the new shares on the official 
list of Nasdaq Helsinki commenced on 3 January 
2022. The Company has no treasury shares.

Before the merger of VAC and Purmo Group Ltd 
was completed Virala Acquisition Company Plc (VAC) 
had 10,780,000 class C shares, 627,826 class E shares 
and 937,391 class F shares with no nominal value. 
The class E shares were converted to class F shares 
at the merger. On 31 December 2021, as the merger 

was completed, the shareholders of Purmo Group 
Ltd received as merger consideration 2.600334506 
new class C shares in VAC for each class K share 
and class K1 share, and 4089.270894510 new class 
C shares for each class P share they hold in Purmo 
Group Ltd. This merger consideration was issued to 
the shareholders of Purmo Group Ltd in proportion 
to their existing shareholding of each class of shares 
in Purmo Group Ltd.

The aggregate number of new class C shares 
in VAC issued in connection with the merger was 
29,594,531 shares, resulting in 40,374,531 class C 
shares in total in the combined company. The VAC 
and Purmo Group Ltd merger led to an increase 
in share capital of EUR 3.0 million and reserve of 
invested unrestricted equity of EUR 285.9 million.

Basic share information

Listed on Nasdaq Helsinki

Trading code PURMO

ISIN code FI4000507488

Industry
Construction and 

Materials
Number of C-shares 31 December 2021 40,374,531

Number of F-shares 31 December 2021 1,565,217

Market value on 31 December 2021, 
MEUR 413.6

Return of capital proposal 
per class C-share, EUR 0.36

Return of capital proposal 
per class F-share, EUR 0.07

Listing date 29 June 2021

Start of trading with new C-shares 3 January 2022
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Share price 29 June–31 December 2021 

EUR
29 June–31 December 

2021
Closing price 31 December 2021 14.20

Highest share price 14.50

Lowest share price 9.78

Trade weighted average price 11.41

 
 
 
 
 

Largest shareholders 31 December 2021 

Shareholders C-share F-share % of shares % of votes
1 Rettig Group Oy Ab 28,638,547 - 68.28% 68.28%

2 Virala Oy Ab 3,601,198 1,565,217 12.32% 12.32%

3 Ahlstrom Invest B.V 990,700 - 2.36% 2.36%

4 Jussi Capital Oy 685,000 - 1.63% 1.63%

5 Fennia Mutual Insurance Company 500,000 - 1.19% 1.19%

6 Svenska litteratursällskapet i Finland 500,000 - 1.19% 1.19%

7 John Peter Leesi 408,927 - 0.98% 0.98%

8 Oy Julius Tallberg AB 400,000 - 0.95% 0.95%

9 Alcur Fonder 334,137 0.80% 0.80%

10 Ålandsbanken Nordiska småbolag placering 252,050 - 0.60% 0.60%

10 largest shareholders total 36,310,559 1,565,217 90.31% 90.31%
Others 4,063,972 - 9.69% 9.69%
Total 40,374,531 1,565,217 100.00% 100.00%

Shareholders by sector 31 December 2021

Shareholders by sector
Number of 

shareholders
% of 

shares
Investment & PE 36,161,839 86.2%

Other 2,226,319 5.3%

Private individuals 200,000 0.5%

Fund company 1,204,910 2.9%

Pension & Insurance 700,485 1.7%

Rest of the world 1,064,569 2.5%

Issuer account 381,626 0.9%

Number of shares total 41,939,748 100.0%
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Shareholders by holding 31 December 2021

Owner distributions by holding
Number of 

shares
% of 

shares
% of 

votes
Number of 

known owners
1-100 101,319 0.24% 0.24% 1,616

101-1,000 434,977 1.04% 1.04% 1,248

1,001-10,000 522,731 1.25% 1.25% 160

10,001-50,000 1,158,476 2.76% 2.76% 48

50,001-100,000 308,000 0.73% 0.73% 4

>100,000 39,021,132 93.04% 93.04% 16

Total 41,546,635 99.06% 99.06% 3,092
In the issuer account 393,113 0.94% 0.94%

Total number of shares issued 41,939,748 100.00% 100.00%

Flagging notifications
Transaction date Shareholder Direct holding Indirect holding Total holding
31.12.2021 Jussi Capital Oy 1.63% 0% 1.63%

31.12.2021 Ahlström Invest B.V. Below 5% 0% Below 5%

31.12.2021 Virala Corporation1 12.32% 0% 12.32%

31.12.2021 Rettig Capital Ltd 68.28% 0% 68.28%

1 Corporation holds an option to acquire 689,576 shares or 1,64% of shares and voting rights. The option had not been exercised on the day of the 
flagging notification. The option expires on 31 December 2022.

Board of Directors and Management 
shareholding in Purmo Group Plc, 31 
December 2021

Information on Board of Directors and Management 
shareholdings is presented in the Corporate 
Governance Statement.

Board authorisations regarding share 
issue and share repurchase

On 13 December 2021, the Extraordinary General 
Meeting of VAC (subsequently Purmo Group Plc) 
resolved in accordance with the proposal of the 
Board of Directors to resolve on the issuance of class 
C shares as well as the issuance of special rights 
entitling to class C shares referred to in Chapter 10, 
Section 1 of the Finnish Companies Act in one or 
several tranches. The number of class C shares to be 
issued based on this authorization shall not exceed 
8,000,000 shares (including shares to be received 
based on special rights), which corresponds to 
approximately 20 per cent of all of class C shares in 
the company. However, a maximum of 25 per cent 
of the authorization, i.e. a maximum of 2,000,000 
class C shares (including shares to be received 

based on special rights) may be used for incentive 
arrangements and remuneration schemes. The 
authorization is effective until the end of the next 
Annual General Meeting, however, no longer than 
until 30 June 2022. The authorization revokes previous 
authorizations granted by a unanimous resolution of 
the shareholders to the Board of Directors on 13 June 
2021 to resolve on the issuance of shares as well as 
on the issuance of special rights entitling to shares.

The Extraordinary General Meeting resolved 
in accordance with the proposal of the Board of 
Directors to authorize the Board of Directors to 
resolve on the repurchase of the company’s own 
class C shares as well as on the acceptance of 
them as pledge. The number of class C shares to 
be repurchased or accepted as pledge by virtue of 
this authorization shall not exceed 4,000,000 own 
class C shares in the company, which corresponds to 
approximately 10 per cent of all of class C shares in 
the company, subject to the provisions of the Finnish 
Companies’ Act on the maximum amount of own 
shares owned by or pledged to the Company and 
its subsidiaries. The authorization is effective until the 
end of the next Annual General Meeting, however no 
longer than until 30 June 2022.
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Events after the financial year
Trading in the merger consideration shares and the 
existing class C shares on the official list of Nasdaq 
Helsinki Ltd commenced on 3 January 2022 under the 
trading code PURMO (ISIN code: FI4000507488).

Purmo Group Plc (formerly Virala Acquisition 
Company Plc) obtained EUR 96.8 million of proceeds 
in the initial public offering in blocked bank accounts. 
On the basis of escrow agreement the funds were 
released to Purmo Group Plc’s bank account on 3 
January 2022. As the terms and conditions of the 
escrow agreement were met by the end of the 
reporting period, funds were already booked to cash 
and equivalents. The funds were used to repay the 
EUR 95.0 million bridge loan facility. As announced 
by VAC on 8 September 2021, Virala Corporation 
has had an option to acquire further 689,576 
class C shares from Rettig Group Ltd following the 
completion of the merger. Virala Corporation has 
on 5 January 2022 exercised the option and Rettig 
Group Ltd has therefore disposed 689,576 class 
C shares in Purmo Group Plc held by it to Virala 
Corporation.

The Extraordinary General Meeting, held on 13 
December 2021, resolved that the members of the 
Nomination Board will be based on the three largest 
shareholders in Purmo Group Plc on the tenth 
business day following the effective date. In a stock 
exchange release on 20 January 2022 Purmo Group 
announced that the three largest shareholders 
nominated the following representatives to the 

Nomination Board; Matts Rosenberg (appointed by 
Rettig Group Ltd), Alexander Ehrnrooth (appointed 
by Virala Corporation, and Peter Seligson (appointed 
by Ahlstrom Invest B.V.). Matts Rosenberg has 
been elected Chairman of the Nomination Board. 
Tomas von Rettig, Chairman of the Company’s 
Board of Directors, acts as an expert member in the 
Nomination Board.

In a stock exchange release on 25 January 2022 
Purmo Group announced that the Shareholders' 
Nomination Board proposes to the Annual General 
Meeting, planned be held on 25 April 2022, that 
the number of members of the Board of Directors, 
the composition of the Board of Directors and the 
remuneration of the Board of Directors are kept 
unchanged and in line with the resolutions of the 
Extraordinary General Meeting of Virala Acquisition 
Company Plc held on 13 December 2021, as follows:

• The Shareholders’ Nomination Board proposes that 
the number of members of the Board of Directors 
is seven.

• The Shareholders’ Nomination Board proposes 
that Tomas von Rettig, Matts Rosenberg, Carina 
Edblad, Alexander Ehrnrooth, Carlo Grossi, Jyri 
Luomakoski and Catharina Stackelberg are re-
elected as members of the Board of Directors.

• The Shareholders’ Nomination Board proposes that 
Tomas von Rettig is re-elected as the Chairman 
of the Board of Directors and Matts Rosenberg is 
re-elected as the Vice Chairman of the Board of 
Directors.

• The Shareholders’ Nomination Board proposed 
also on the remuneration of the Board of Directors 
and Board Committees.

On 3 February 2022 Purmo Group completed the 
syndication of the EUR 280 million term loan and EUR 
80 million revolving credit facility that were signed in 
September 2021. 

In a stock exchange release on 1 March 2022 
Purmo Group announced that it has acquired the 
entire share capital of TT Thermotech Intressenter AB, 
the Nordic heating systems company. The acquisition 
was valued at SEK 265 million (EUR 25 million) on 
a cash and debt free basis. In 2021, the company’s 
total turnover was SEK 252 million (EUR 23.8 million) 
and EBITDA SEK 38 million (EUR 3.6 million) in 
accordance with Swedish GAAP.

Given the uncertainty and risk arising from the 
geopolitical situation in Ukraine and Russia, including 
imposed sanctions and possible future sanctions and 
counter sanctions and their consequences, there may 
be impact to the fair values and economic lives of 
assets, as well as on the commodity prices. The direct 
exposure to the Russian and Ukrainian markets are 
not material for the Group. Purmo Group's net sales 
to Ukraine account for less than 1 per cent and to 
Russia for less than 5 per cent of total net sales, and 
total assets in these countries represents less than 3 
per cent of the Group's assets. The indirect impacts 
on other markets that Purmo Group operates in 
are difficult to assess at this stage. The Company 
announced 3 March 2022 that it suspends all sales 

and operations in Russia until further notice. Purmo 
Group actively monitors the situation in order to 
ensure continued compliance with prevailing rules 
and applicable sanctions laws.

2022 financial guidance 
In its initial outlook for 2022, Purmo Group expected 
both net sales and adjusted EBITDA, both excluding 
impact from acquisitions, to increase from 2021 (EUR 
843.6 million and EUR 103.9 million, respectively). 
Both net sales and adjusted EBITDA in January and 
February were consistent with this full year outlook.

With the recent escalation of the geopolitical 
situation in Ukraine, visibility has weakened. The 
direct exposure to the Russian and Ukrainian markets 
are not material. Purmo Group’s net sales to Ukraine 
accounts for less than 1 per cent and to Russia for 
less than 5 per cent of total net sales, and total assets 
in these countries represents less than 3 per cent of 
Purmo Group’s assets. The indirect impacts on other 
markets that Purmo Group operates in are difficult to 
assess at this stage.

Why Purmo GroupPurmo Group in 2021 Sustainability Governance

Annual Report 65

2 
0 
2 
1

Financial review



The Company’s dividend policy states that at 
least 40% of annual net profit will be distributed as 
dividend or return of capital. In its proposal, the 
Board has considered the significant effect of the 
one-time, non-cash IFRS 2 merger impact related to 
the merger of Virala Acquisitions Company Plc and 
Purmo Group Ltd on the annual net profit.

The return of capital is proposed to be paid in two 
instalments. The first instalment, EUR 0.18 per Class 
C share and EUR 0.03 per Class F share based on 
the Class F shares’ current right to asset distribution 
in accordance with the Articles of Association shall 
be paid to a shareholder who is registered in the 
shareholders’ register maintained by Euroclear 
Finland Oy on the return of equity record date, i.e. on 
27 April 2022. The Board of Directors proposes that 
this instalment be paid on 4 May 2022. 

The second instalment of the return of capital is 
EUR 0.18 per Class C share and EUR 0.04 per Class 
F share, based on the Class F shares’ current right to 
asset distribution in accordance with the Articles of 
Association. The second instalment shall be paid to 
a shareholder who is registered in the shareholders’ 
register maintained by Euroclear Finland Oy on the 
return of capital record date i.e. on 26 September 
2022. The Board of Directors proposes that this 
instalment be paid on 3 October 2022. 

Board of Directors proposal  
for profit distribution and  
return of capital
The parent company’s distributable equity on 31 
December 2021 totaled EUR 377,864,962.16. The 
Board of Directors of Purmo Group Plc proposes 
to the Annual General Meeting convening 25 April 
2022 that a return of capital of EUR 0.36 per class 
C share be paid for the financial year 2021 and 
that a return of capital for class F shares be paid in 
accordance with the Articles of Association of the 
Company for the financial year 2021 from the reserve 
for invested unrestricted equity of the Company. All 
the class C shares in the Company are entitled to a 
return of capital except for treasury shares held by 
the Company on the return of capital record date. 
In accordance with the Articles of Association of the 
Company and as a consequence of the first share 
price hurdle for conversion of class F shares into 
class C shares having been exceeded in September 
2021, class F shares currently carry a right to asset 
distribution equivalent to 0.69 per cent of the return 
of capital proposed to be distributed to class C 
shares, which corresponds to a return of capital of 
EUR 0.07 per class F share.
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Information about the share

EUR million 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
Share capital, at the end of the year, EUR million 3.1 0.0 0.0
C class shares outstanding at the end of the year1 40,374,531 28,846,195 26,101,014
F class shares outstanding at the end of the year 1,565,217 n.a. n.a.
Weighted average adjusted number of shares, basic 29,124,487 28,787,686 26,342,299
Weighted average adjusted number of shares, diluted 29,124,487 28,964,881 26,390,541
Earnings per share, EUR -0.65 0.86 0.53
Earnings per share, diluted, EUR -0.65 0.86 0.53
Dividend payout per C-share and return of capital, EUR2 0.36 n.a. n.a.
Dividend payout per F-share and return of capital, EUR2 0.07 n.a. n.a.
Dividend and return of capital per earnings, class C-share, % -83.0 % n.a. n.a.
Dividend and return on capital per earnings, class F-share, % -8.3 % n.a. n.a.
Effective dividend yield, class C-share, % 2.5 % n.a. n.a.
Equity per share, EUR 9.31 18.94 19.80
Market capitalisation, class C-share, EUR million 413.6 n.a. n.a.
Price to earnings ratio (P/E) -21.85 n.a. n.a.
Highest share price, EUR 14.50 n.a. n.a.
Lowest share price, EUR 9.78 n.a. n.a.
Volume-weighted average share price, EUR  11.40 n.a. n.a.
Share price, 31 December, EUR 14.20 n.a. n.a.

1 Converted with merger consideration ratio K-share to C-share 2,600334506   
2 Board proposal   

Key figures

EUR million 1-12/2021 1-12/2020 1-12/2019
Net sales 843.6 671.2 696.8
EBITDA 33.6 71.9 54.2
EBITDA, % 4.0% 10.7% 7.8%
EBITDA, adjusted 103.9 85.1 65.4
EBITDA, adjusted % 12.3% 12.7% 9.4%
EBIT 3.5 42.0 27.9
EBIT, % 0.4% 6% 5.6%
Profit before tax -5.1 31.9 15.9
Profit for the period -18.8 25.3 14.2
Adjusted Profit for the period 51.4 38.5 25.3
Earnings per share, basic, EUR -0.65 0.86 0.53
Adjusted Earnings per share, basic, EUR 1.77 1.32 0.96
Cashflow from operating activities 35.4 68.9 51.0
Capex 14.8 11.6 31.2
Acquisitions 4.5 0.0 3.4
Adjusted Operating Cash Flow for the last 12 months 53.1 94.2 55.0
Cash conversion 51.1% 110.7% 84.2%
Return on operating capital employed 1.5% 17.8% 10.0%

EUR million 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
Cash and cash equivalents 177.6 55.0 12.6
Operating capital employed 271.8 235.6 278.0
Net debt 239.5 75.1 167.2
Net debt / Adjusted EBITDA 2.3 0.9 2.6
Equity / Asset ratio 37.3% 61.7% 58.1%
Return on Equity -4.0% 4.8% 2.8%
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Calculation of key figures

Key figure Definition Reason for use
EBIT Profit before tax and net financial items 

(Operating profit).
EBIT is used to measure profitability generated by 
operating activities of the Group.

EBIT margin EBIT as per centage of net sales.

EBITDA Operating profit before depreciation, 
amortisation and impairment. 

EBITDA is an indicator to measure the operating 
performance of the Group, before depreciation, 
amortisation and impairment.

EBITDA margin EBITDA as per centage of net sales. 

EBITA Operating profit before the amortisation 
of intangibles including trademarks.

EBITA is an indicator to measure the operating 
performance of the Group, before amortisation of 
intangibles including trademarks.

EBITA margin EBITA as per centage of net sales.

Gross profit Net sales less cost of sales.

Comparability
adjustments

Comparability adjustments comprise of direct 
transaction and integration costs on M&A activities, 
restructuring costs and costs incurred in connection 
with performance improvement programmes, 
costs that have been incurred in connection with 
the formation of Purmo Group and costs incurred 
to achieve stand-alone readiness which will not 
continue post-Merger as well as costs incurred as 
a result of Rettig Group’s ownership comprising 
of management fees and Rettig Group’s legacy 
incentive plans in addition to other one-off costs 
such as legal claims or significant out-of-period 
adjustments and exceptional gains and losses on 
sale of fixed assets.

Comparability adjustments account for items that 
have been adjusted due to specific events that 
otherwise affect comparability between different 
periods. Provides a better understanding to 
management and investors of the comparable 
operating activities.

Adjusted EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA margin, 
Adjusted EBITA and Adjusted EBITA margin are 
presented in addition to EBIT, EBITDA and EBITA 
to reflect the underlying business performance 
by adjusting for items that the Group considers 
to impact comparability (“Comparability adjust-
ments”).

Adjusted EBITDA EBITDA before comparability adjustments

Adjusted EBITDA margin Adjusted EBITDA as per centage of net sales

Adjusted EBITA EBITA before comparability adjustments

Adjusted EBITA margin Adjusted EBITA as per centage of net sales

Adjusted Profit for 
the period

Profit before the period before comparability 
adjustments

Net working capital Purmo Group’s inventories, operative receivables 
less trade and other operative liabilities. 

Net working capital is a useful measure to monitor 
the level of direct net working capital tied to the 
operations and changes therein. 

Key figure Definition Reason for use

Capex Capex is a measure of capital expenditure for the 
period which comprises the Group’s investments 
in property plant and equipment and intangible 
assets derived from the consolidated cash flow 
statement. 

Capex is an indicator of the Group’s investments 
in property plant and equipment and intangible 
assets

Acquisitions (M&A) Acquisitions of subsidiaries and investments in 
associates derived from the consolidated cash flow 
statement for the period. 

Acquisitions capex is an indicator for investments 
in acquisition of businesses that are intended 
to grow the Group’s product or service offering, 
assets or technologies, productive capacity or 
performance

Adjusted operating 
cash flow for the last 
12 months

Adjusted EBITDA on a rolling twelve-month basis 
deducted with the change in net working capital 
and capex on a rolling twelve-months basis.

Adjusted operating cash flow provides informa-
tion on the Group’s operating cash flow on an 
annualised basis, excluding a

Cash conversion Adjusted operating cash flow divided by Adjusted 
EBITDA based on a rolling twelve-month calcula-
tion.

Cash conversion is used to assess Purmo Group’s 
efficiency to convert its operating results into cash. 
The ratio indicates the Group’s capacity to pay 
dividends and / or generate funds for acquisitions 
or other transactions. 

Operative capital 
employed

Net working capital, other intangible assets,  prop-
erty, plant, equipment and right-of-use assets

Capital employed presents the total investment in 
the Group’s business operations. 

Return on operating 
capital employed

EBIT based on a rolling twelve-month calculation 
divided by operating capital employed.

Measures the return on the capital tied up in the 
business.

Net debt Non-current and current borrowings (including 
shareholder loan) and non-current and current 
lease liabilities less cash and cash equivalents.

To show the net of interest bearing assets and 
interest bearing liabilities

Net debt/Adjusted 
EBITDA

Net debt divided by Adjusted EBITDA based on a 
rolling twelve-month calculation

The ratio indicates how fast the Group can repay 
its net debt using adjusted EBITDA (expressed in 
years), and it is a useful measure to monitor the 
level of the Group’s indebtedness. 

Equity to Asset ratio Total equity attributed to the owners of the com-
pany divided by total assets derived from the IFRS 
consolidated financial statements. 

The ratio is a useful indicator to measure how 
much of the Group’s assets are funded by issuing 
shares rather than through external borrowings.

Return on equity Group’s profit for the period attributable to the 
owners of the Parent based on a rolling twelve-
month calculation divided by the average total 
equity attributable to owners of the Company. 

Shows owners the return on their invested capital
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Reconciliation of Alternative Performance Measures

EUR million unless otherwise indicated 2021 2020 2019
Comparability adjustments
IFRS 2 merger impact 52.3 - -
M&A related transactions and integration costs 0.1 0.4 1.5
Restructuring costs and one-off costs related to efficiency programs 8.9 7.8 3.8
Formation of Purmo group and standalone preparations 6.6 2.0 1.3
Management fee to owners and legacy Rettig Group incentive plans 2.4 2.9 4.6
Other 0.0 0.1 0.0
Total adjustments 70.2 13.2 11.2

Net sales 843.6 671.2 696.8

Adjusted EBIT
EBIT 3.5 42.0 27.9
EBIT margin 0.4% 6.3% 4.0%
Adjustments 70.2 13.2 11.2
Adjusted EBIT 73.7 55.2 39.1
Adjusted EBIT margin 8.7% 8.2% 5.6%

Adjusted EBITA
EBIT 3.5 42.0 27.9
Amortisation 2.9 2.9 1.3
EBITA 6.3 44.9 29.2
EBITA margin 0.8% 6.7% 4.2%
Adjustments 70.2 13.2 11.2
Adjusted EBITA 76.6 58.1 40.4
Adjusted EBITA margin 9.1% 8.7% 5.8%

EUR million unless otherwise indicated 2021 2020 2019

Adjusted EBITDA
EBITA 6.3 44.9 29.2
Depreciation 27.3 27.0 25.0
EBITDA 33.6 71.9 54.2
EBITDA margin 4.0% 10.7% 7.8%
Adjustments 70.2 13.2 11.2
Adjusted EBITDA 103.9 85.1 65.4
Adjusted EBITDA margin 12.3% 12.7% 9.4%

Adjusted profit/loss for the period
Profit/loss for the period -18.8 25.3 14.1
Adjustments 70.2 13.2 11.2
Adjusted profit/loss for the period 51.4 38.5 25.3

Adjusted Operating cash flow for the last 12 months
Adjusted EBITDA in the last 12 months 103.9 85.1 65.4
Change in net working capital compared to previous year same period -35.9 20.7 20.8
Capex for last 12 months -14.8 -11.6 -31.2
Adjusted Operating cash flow for the last 12 months 53.1 94.2 55.0

Cash conversion
Adjusted Operating cash flow for the last 12 months 53.1 94.2 55.0
Adjusted EBITDA 103.9 85.1 65.4
Cash conversion 51.1% 110.7% 84.2%

Net working capital
Inventories 157.4 105.3 114.4
Operative receivables 104.7 70.7 85.0
Operative liabilities 189.7 142.5 145.2
Net working capital 72.3 33.5 54.1
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EUR million unless otherwise indicated 2021 2020 2019

Operative capital employed
Net working capital 72.3 33.5 54.1
Other intangible assets 36.3 38.0 39.6
Property, plant and equipment 131.9 133.3 148.4
Right-of-use assets 31.3 30.9 35.8
Operative capital employed 271.8 235.6 278.0

Return on operating capital employed
Operative capital employed 271.8 235.6 278.0
EBIT for the last 12 months 3.5 42.0 27.9
Return on operating capital employed 1.3% 17.8% 10.0%

Net debt
Loans and borrowings (non-current) 285.7 0.0 30.2
Loans  and borrowings (current) 95.0 94.5 110.1
Lease liabilities (non-current) 30.7 29.7 33.5
Lease liabilities (current) 5.6 5.9 6.0
Cash and cash equivalents -177.6 -55.0 -12.6
Net debt 239.5 75.1 167.2

Net debt/Adjusted EBITDA
Net debt 239.5 75.1 167.2
Annualised adjusted EBITDA 103.9 85.1 65.4
Net debt/Adjusted EBITDA 2.3 0.9 2.6

Equity/Asset ratio
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 390.6 515.5 516.7
Total assets 1,046.2 836.2 888.7
Equity/Asset ratio 37.3% 61.7% 58.1%

Return on equity
The cumulative last 12 month profit attributable to owners of
the Company -18.8 24.9 14.0
Equity attributable to owners of the Company beginning of period 515.5 516.7 475.6
Equity attributable to owners of the Company end of period 390.6 515.5 516.7
Equity attributable to owners of the Company average 453.1 516.1 496.2
Return on equity -4.2% 4.8% 4.8%

EUR million unless otherwise indicated 2021 2020 2019

Basic earnings per share
Profit/loss attributable to shareholders of the parent company for C shares 
(EUR million) -18.7 24.9 14.0
Profit/loss attributable to shareholders of the parent company for F shares 
(EUR million) -0.1 - -
Profit/loss attributable to the owners of the Company (EUR million) -18.8 24.9 14.0
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (pcs) 29,124,487 28,787,686 26,342,299
Basic earnings per share, EUR -0.65 0.86 0.53

Diluted earnings per share
Profit/loss attributable to shareholders of the parent company for C shares 
(EUR million) -18.7 24.9 14.0
Profit/loss attributable to shareholders of the parent company for F shares 
(EUR million) -0.1 - -
Profit/loss attributable to the owners of the Company (EUR million) -18.8 24.9 14.0
Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding (pcs) 29,124,487 28,964,881 26,390,541
Diluted earnings per share, EUR -0.65 0.86 0.53

Adjusted basic earnings per share
Adjustments 70.2 13.2 11.2
Adjusted profit/loss attributable to shareholders of the parent company for 
C shares (EUR million) 51.1 37.8 25.2
Adjusted profit/loss attributable to shareholders of the parent company for 
F shares (EUR million) 0.4 0.3 0.2
Adjusted profit/loss attributable to the owners of the Company 
(EUR million) 51.4 38.0 25.2
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (pcs) 29,124,487 28,787,686 26,342,299
Adjusted basic earnings per share, EUR 1.77 1.32 0.96

Adjusted diluted earnings per share
Adjustments 70.2 13.2 11.2
Adjusted profit/loss attributable to shareholders of the parent company
for C shares (EUR million) 51.1 37.8 25.0
Adjusted profit/loss attributable to shareholders of the parent company 
for F shares (EUR million) 0.4 0.3 0.2
Adjusted profit/loss attributable to the owners of the Company 
(EUR million) 51.4 38.0 25.2
Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding (pcs) 29,124,487 28,964,881 26,342,299
Adjusted diluted earnings per share, EUR 1.77 1.32 0.96
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EUR million Note 2021 2020

Net sales 2.2 843.6 671.2

Cost of sales 2.3 -645.5 -498.4

Gross profit 198.1 172.8

Sales and marketing expenses 2.3 -78.3 -75.2

Administrative expenses 2.3 -42.0 -38.8

Research and development expenses 2.3 -5.9 -5.2

Other income 2.3 2.6 1.6

Other expenses 2.3 -71.0 -13.2

Operating expenses -194.6 -130.8

EBIT 3.5 42.0

Finance income 5.1 1.1 2.6

Finance expenses 5.1 -9.7 -12.7

Net financial items -8.6 -10.1

Profit before tax -5.1 31.9

Income tax expense 7.2 -13.7 -6.6

Profit for the period -18.8 25.3

Profit for the period attributable to:  
Owners of the Parent -18.8 24.9

Non-controlling interests - 0.4

Earnings per share for profit attributable to  
the ordinary equity holders of the parent company:

Earnings per share basic, EUR 5.5 -0.65 0.86

Earnings per share diluted, EUR 5.5 -0.65 0.86

The Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated financial statements
Consolidated statement of profit and loss Consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income
EUR million 2021 2020
Profit for the period -18.8 25.3

Other comprehensive income
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurement of defined benefit liability (asset) 8.4 -3.2

Related income tax 0.2 0.1

Total items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 8.6 -3.2

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
Foreign operations – foreign currency translation differences 0.4 -8.0

Cash flow hedges – effective portion of changes in fair value -1.9 -0.8

Cash flow hedges – reclassified to profit or loss 1.5 0.4

Related income tax 0.2 0.1

Total items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss 0.1 -8.3

Other comprehensive income, net of tax 8.7 -11.5

Total comprehensive income for the period -10.1 13.8

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent -10.1 13.4
Non-controlling interests - 0.4

The Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income
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Consolidated statement of financial position
EUR million Note 2021 2020
Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill 3.1, 3.2 369.2 365.4

Other intangible assets 3.1 36.3 38.0

Property, plant and equipment 3.3 131.9 133.3

Right-of-use assets 3.4 31.3 30.9

Other receivables 4.2 1.0 1.0

Deferred tax assets 7.2 26.5 25.5

Employee benefits 4.5 6.2 2.1

Total non-current assets 602.4 596.1

Current assets
Inventories 4.1 157.4 105.3

Trade receivables 4.2 77.1 53.1

Related party vendor note 5.2, 7.1 0.1 4.5

Derivative assets 5.7 0.7 1.2

Other receivables 4.2 29.6 20.5

Current tax asset 7.2 1.3 0.5

Cash and cash equivalents 5.4 177.6 55.0

Total current assets 443.8 240.0

Total assets 1,046.2 836.2

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital 5.5 3.1 0.0

Reserve of invested unrestricted equity 5.5 385.9 497.5

Other reserves 5.5 -5.0 -7.0

Retained earnings 25.4 0.2

Net profit for the period -18.8 24.9

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 390.6 515.5

EUR million Note 2021 2020

Non-controlling interests - 1.8

Total equity 390.6 517.3

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 5.6 285.7 -

Lease liabilities 3.4 30.7 29.7

Defined benefit liabilities 4.5 23.5 28.5

Other payables 5.3 1.2 1.2

Provisions 4.4 7.6 7.3

Deferred tax liabilities 7.2 2.6 3.9

Total non-current liabilities 351.3 70.7

Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 5.6 95.0 94.5

Lease liabilities 3.4 5.6 5.9

Trade and other payables 4.3 192.0 141.6

Derivative liabilities 5.7 2.0 1.0

Provisions 4.4 4.9 1.2

Current tax liabilities 7.2 4.8 4.0

Total current liabilities 304.3 248.2

Total liabilities 655.6 318.9

Total equity and liabilities 1,046.2 836.2

The Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of cash flows
EUR million Note 2021 2020

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit for the period -18.8 25.3

Adjustments

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 30.2 29.7

Gain on sale of property plant and equipment -0.5 -0.1

Share-based payments 1.9 2.1

Finance income and expenses 8.6 10.1

Income tax expenses 13.7 6.7

Reverse recapitalization 52.3 -

Other non-cash expenses 5.7 -

Cash flow before change in net working capital 93.1 73.7

Changes in net working capital

Inventories, increase (-) / decrease (+) 4.1 -48.7 4.9

Trade and other receivables, increase (-) / decrease (+) 4.2 -31.2 9.4

Trade and other payables, increase (+) / decrease (-) 4.3 45.0 2.9

Provisions and employee benefits, increase (+) / decrease (-) 4.4 -1.6 -1.1

Changes in net working capital -36.5 16.1

Net cash flow from operating activities before  
financial items and taxes 56.7 89.8

Interest paid -8.7 -12.5

Interest received 0.9 1.6

Income tax paid, net -13.5 -10.0

Cash flow from operating activities 35.4 68.9

EUR million Note 2021 2020

Cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 3.1, 3.2 0.7 0.7

Purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 3.1, 3.2 -14.8 -11.6

Payment of deferred consideration for business acqusition 6.1 -4.5 -

Cash flow from investing activities -18.6 -10.9

Cash flow from financing activities

Repayment of long-term borrowings to related party 5.3, 7.1 - -30.2

Proceeds from long-term borrowings 5.3 279.0 -

Increase of equity 5.5 0.3 -

Proceeds from share issue 5.5 99.9 -

Dividends and group contributions paid to related party 5.5, 7.1 -266.4 -15.0

Repayment of lease liabilities 3.3 -9.6 -9.4

Proceeds from short-term borrowings 5.6 95.0 1.2

Repayment of short-term loans 5.6 -4.9 -

Proceeds from short-term borrowings from related party 5.6, 7.1 10.2 89.0

Repayment of short-term borrowings to related party 5.6, 7.1 -98.0 -50.1

Cash flow from financing activities 105.4 -14.5

Change in cash and cash equivalents, increase (+) / decrease (-) 122.2 43.5

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 55.0 12.6

Impact of change in exchange rates 0.4 -1.1

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 5.4 177.6 55.0

The Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Attributable to owners of the parent company Non-controlling interest Total equity

EUR million Share capital
Reserve of invested 
unrestricted equity Translation reserve Fair value reserve

Share-based  
payments reserve Retained earnings Total

Balance as at 1 Jan 2021 0.0 497.5 -9.1 -0.3 2.4 25.1 515.5 1.8 517.3

Profit for the period -18.8 -18.8 -18.8

Other comprehensive income 0.4 -0.3 8.6 8.7 8.7

Total comprehensive income for the period 0.4 -0.3 -10.3 -10.1 -10.1

Dividend and capital repayments -15.0 -251.5 -266.4 -266.4

Long term incentive plan 0.4 2.0 2.3 2.3
Reverse recapitalization 3.1 -97.0 -4.3 250.3 152.1 152.1

Acqusition of minority -2.8 -2.8 -1.8 -4.6
Balance as at 31 Dec 2021 3.1 385.9 -8.7 -0.6 - 10.9 390.6 - 390.6

Attributable to owners of the parent company Non-controlling interest Total equity

EUR million Share capital
Reserve of invested 
unrestricted equity Translation reserve Fair value reserve

Share-based  
payments reserve Retained earnings Total

Balance as at 1 Jan 2020 0.0 514.0 -1.1 - 0.5 3.4 516.7 1.3 518.0

Profit for the period 24.9 24.9 0.4 25.3

Other comprehensive income -8.0 -0.3 -3.2 -11.5 -11.5

Total comprehensive income for the period -8.0 -0.3 21.7 13.4 0.4 13.8

Dividend and capital repayments -15.0 -15.0 -15.0

Long term incentive plan 1.9 1.9 1.9

Acqusition of treasury shares -1.5 -1.5 -1.5

Balance as at 31 Dec 2020 0.0 497.5 -9.1 -0.3 2.4 25.1 515.5 1.8 517.3

The Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
1. Accounting principles for the consolidated  
financial statement
How should Purmo Group’s accounting principles be read?

The accounting principles used for the financial statements of Purmo Group are described at the beginning 
of each note to help understand each area of the financial statements. The following table summarizes the 
notes to each accounting policy and the relevant IFRS standard related to the note.

Accounting principle Note IFRS standard
Segment information 2.1 Segment information IFRS 8

Revenue recognition 2.2 Net sales IFRS 15

Employment benefit expenses 2.4 Employment benefit expenses IAS 19

Share-based payments 2.5 Share-based payments IFRS 2

Reverse recapitalization 2.3 Other income and expenses IFRS 3, IFRS 2

Other intangible assets 3.1 Goodwill and other intangible assets,  
3.2 Impairment testing of goodwill

IAS 36, IAS 38 

Property, plant and equipment 3.3 Property, plant and equipment IAS 16, IAS 36

Leases 3.4 Right-of-use assets IFRS 16

Inventory 4.1 Inventories IAS 2

Financial risk management 5.2 Financial risk management IAS 32, IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 13

Financial assets and liabilities 5.3 Financial assets and liabilities IAS 32, IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 13

Equity 5.5 Equity IAS 1

Business combinations 6.1 Business combinations IFRS 3

Related party transactions 7.1 Related party transactions IAS 24

Income taxes 7.2 Taxes IAS 12

1.1 General information
Purmo Group Plc (formerly Virala Acqusition Company Plc), “Purmo Group” or the “Company”, business ID 
2890898-5, is a public limited company domiciled in Helsinki, Finland. The registered address of Purmo Group 

is Bulevardi 46, 00121 Helsinki, Finland. These consolidated financial statements comprise the parent company 
Purmo Group Plc and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group” and individually “Group companies”). The 
Company’s class C shares are listed on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd as of 3 January 2022. The copies of the 
consolidated financial statements are available at www.purmogroup.com or the parent company’s head office, 
Bulevardi 46, 00121 Helsinki, Finland.

Purmo Group is an international leader in sustainable indoor climate comfort solutions. Purmo Group 
specialises in heating and cooling solutions and has a complete product and solution offering in hydronic 
heating and cooling, including radiators, towel warmers, underfloor heating, convectors, valves and 
controls. Purmo Group’s comprehensive product offering includes products manufactured for homes and 
commercial buildings and products are mainly sold via sanitary and heating wholesalers. Purmo Group’s 
vision is that perfect indoor climate should not cost the planet’s climate and Purmo Group’s mission is to be 
the world’s leader in sustainable indoor climate comfort solutions. Purmo Group has approximately 3,500 
industry professionals operating in 46 locations in 21 countries, manufacturing and distributing top quality 
products and solutions to customers in more than 100 countries globally.

Merger of Virala Acquisition Company Plc and Purmo Group Ltd

On 8 September 2021 Virala Acquisition Company Plc (“VAC”, the first company listed on the SPAC segment 
of the regulated market of Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd “Nasdaq Helsinki”) and Purmo Group Ltd (a Finnish private 
limited liability company), announced they had signed a merger agreement (the “Merger”) to combine the 
two companies. On 13 December 2021 the Extraordinary General Meetings of VAC and Purmo Group Ltd 
approved the Merger. The Merger was completed on 31 December 2021 and the combined company was 
re-named Purmo Group Plc. Following the contemplated Merger, the combined company has continued the 
business operations of Purmo Group Ltd as a listed company on the official list of Nasdaq Helsinki. 

The shareholders of Purmo Group Ltd received 31 December 2021 as merger consideration 2.600334506 
new class C shares in VAC for each class K share and class K1 share, and 4089.270894510 new class C 
shares for each class P share they hold in Purmo Group Ltd (the “Merger Consideration”), that is, the Merger 
Consideration was issued to the shareholders of Purmo Group Ltd in proportion to their existing shareholding 
of each class of shares in Purmo Group Ltd. The aggregate number of new class C shares in VAC issued 
in connection with the Merger was 29,594,531 shares, resulting in 40,374,531 class C shares in total in the 
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combined company. Further, as a result of the merger, all Virala Acquisition Company Plc’s class E shares 
were converted automatically into class F shares upon completion of the merger. The share capital of the 
combined company was increased by EUR 3,000,000 in connection with the registration of the execution of 
the merger. The merger consideration shares were registered at the Finnish Trade Register on 31 December 
2021. Trading in the Merger Consideration Shares and the existing class C shares of VAC on the official list of 
Nasdaq Helsinki is begun on 3 January 2022 under the trading code PURMO (ISIN code: FI4000507488).

The merger is accounted for under IFRS within scope of IFRS 2 Share-based payments by analogy 
to IFRS 3 Business Combinations whereby Purmo Group acquires a public special purpose acquisition 
company VAC in a reverse acquisition but there is no acquisition accounting and no recognition of goodwill, 
as VAC is not a business as defined by IFRS 3. Accordingly, the shares issued as merger consideration are 
recognized at fair value and recorded as consideration for the acquisition of VAC by Purmo Group as an 
increase in equity. The difference in the fair value of equity instruments held by VAC shareholders over the 
fair value of identifiable net assets of VAC represents a service of listing of Purmo Group’s shares and is 
accounted for as a share-based payment in accordance with IFRS 2 and recorded as an expense through 
the income statement with a corresponding entry in equity post-Merger. As a result of the application 
to IFRS 3 by analogy to the Merger and application of the reverse acquisition guidance, Purmo Group’s 
operating history and financial performance forms the basis for the comparative financial information for 
the combined company.

1.2 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs, using the IAS and IFRS standards and SIC and IFRIC interpretations, as applicable at 
31 December 2021 and adopted by the European Union. The International Financial Reporting Standards 
refer to the standards implemented in the EU by Regulation (EC 1606/2002, and the related interpretations. 
The notes to the consolidated financial statements also comply with the Finnish accounting and corporate 
legislation that supplements the IFRSs. 

The Board of Directors of Purmo Group Plc has approved the financial statements for publication on 25 
March 2022. Under the Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act, the shareholders may accept or reject the 
financial statement in the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders held after the publication. The Annual 
General Meeting is also entitled to amend the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis unless otherwise 
specified in the significant accounting policies section below.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared as a continuation of the financial statements of 
Purmo Group Ltd, the accounting acquirer, adjusted to reflect the legal capital structure of the legal parent/
accounting acquiree Purmo Group Plc (former Virala Acquisition Company Plc). The comparative financial 
years included herein are operations of Purmo Group Ltd prior to the merger.

Items included in the financial statements of each of Group’s entities are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). These 
consolidated financial statements are presented in EUR, which is the Company’s functional currency. The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in EUR millions. As result of rounding differences, the figures 
presented in the tables may not add up to the total. 

1.3 Management judgement and use of estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements under IFRSs requires the use of judgements, estimates 
and assumptions affecting the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Although these estimates are based on management’s best view of current 
events and actions, the actual results may ultimately differ from these estimates. These estimates and 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

Information about management judgements, assumptions and estimates that have a significant effect on 
the financial statements and estimates that may cause material adjustments to the financial statements are 
described below.

Note Accounting estimates and management judgement
Note 2.2 Net sales

Note 2.5 Share-based payments

Note 3.2 Impairment testing of goodwill

Note 3.3 Property, plant and equipment

Note 3.4 Right-of-use assets

Note 4.1 Inventory

Note 4.4 Provisions

Note 4.5 Post-employment obligations

Note 7.2 Taxes

The Group’s management has assessed the potential accounting implications of the Covid-19 pandemic. The 
management has reviewed the carrying values of the balance sheet items and the review did not indicate
need for asset impairments
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1.4 New and amended IFRS standards and IFRIC interpretations
Amendments annual improvements to IFRS standards

The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRS standards published by IASB that are relevant for its 
operations and are effective for the first time for financial reporting periods commencing on 1 January 2021:
• Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 – Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IFRS 7 Financial 

Instruments: Disclosures, and IFRS 16 Leases
• COVID-19 related rent concessions – Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases

The application of the amendments did not have material impact on the results or financial position or the 
presentation of Purmo Group’s financial statements. 

New and amended standards to be applied

At the date of authorization of these financial statements, Purmo Group has not yet applied the following new 
and revised IFRS standards that have been issued but are not yet effective:

• Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current – Amendments to IAS 1
• Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended use – Amendments to IAS 16 
• Reference to the Conceptual Framework – Amendments to IFRS 3 
• Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract Amendments to IAS 37 
• Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020 
• Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, IFRS Practice Statement 2 and IAS 8 Accounting 

Policies, Changes in Accounting Policies and Errors: Disclosure of Accounting policies and Definition of 
Accounting Estimates 

• Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction 

The application of the standards listed above is not expected to have a material impact on Purmo Group’s 
financial statements in future periods.

2. Group performance
2.1 Segment information

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with Purmo Group’s internal reporting provided 
to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker has been identified as Purmo 
Group’s Board of Directors, assisted by the CEO. The operating segments are defined based on the 
information that the Board of Directors uses to make decisions about the resources to be allocated to the 
divisions and to assess their performance. 

In September 2021 the Group changed its cost allocation method in relation to allocating corporate and 
other Group level shared costs to its divisions. The divisions form the Group’s operating and reportable 
segments. The change impacted the key operating measure, Adjusted EBITDA, which is reported for the 
divisions. As a result, certain corporate and other Group level costs are now reported under Other and 
unallocated. As a result of the change in the determination of the divisional Adjusted EBITDA, Purmo 
Group has restated the comparative financial periods to reflect the new measurement and reporting 
basis for division profitability.

The adjusted EBITDA has been derived from the reported EBITDA by removing material and 
unexpected items outside the ordinary course of business that are considered to impact comparability 
of the underlying business operations and excludes costs and income incurred in the group functions 
as described above. Such items comprise of direct transaction and integration costs on M&A activities, 
restructuring costs and costs incurred in connection with performance improvement programs, the 
IFRS 2 merger impact, costs that have been incurred in connection with the formation of Purmo Group, 
exceptional gains and losses on sale of fixed assets, and costs incurred to achieve stand-alone readiness 
which will not continue post-merger.
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2021     
EUR million Radiators ICS Other Group
Net sales 506.3 337.2 - 843.6
Adjusted EBITDA 66.0 43.7 -5.8 103.9
Adjusted EBITDA % of sales 13.0% 13.0% - 12.3%
Management fee to owners and legacy Rettig incentive plans   -2.4

Material items impacting period profit and loss    -67.9

Depreciation, amortization and impairment    -30.2

EBIT    3.5
Net financial items    -8.6

Profit before tax    -5.1
Additional information for segments     

Depreciation, amortization and impairment by segment -21.1 -9.0 - -30.2

2020     
EUR million Radiators ICS Other Group
Net sales 396.9 274.3 - 671.2
Adjusted EBITDA 62.9 27.0 -4.7 85.1
Adjusted EBITDA % of sales 15.8% 9.8% - 12.7%
Management fee to owners and legacy Rettig incentive plans -2.9

Material items impacting period profit and loss -10.3

Depreciation, amortization and impairment -29.9

EBIT 42.0
Net financial items -10.1

Profit before tax 31.9
Additional information for segments  
Depreciation, amortization and impairment by segment -20.6 -9.3 - -29.9

Group’s divisions
Purmo Group’s business operations are run through two divisions: Radiators and ICS, which form Purmo 
Group’s segments.

The Radiator division manufactures two broader product categories: panel radiators comprising of 
horizontal and decorative panel radiators and vertical decorative radiators, and other radiators comprising 
of towel warmers, decorative tubular radiators and electric radiators. 

ICS division provides a comprehensive range of components or full systems to wholesalers, specifiers and 
installers comprising of four product categories; radiant heating and cooling, air heating and cooling, water 
distribution systems and system components and controls.

Other and unallocated comprises of corporate headquarter functions and other Group level costs 
including Group Finance, Group Legal, Group Sustainability, Group Communications and Group Human 
Resources and M&A. The head office costs comprise mainly of salaries, rent and professional fees that are 
operated for the benefit of the whole group and whose costs are not allocated to divisions.

Group’s main products include panel radiators, tubular and electric radiators, underfloor heating 
and piping systems, system components and air conditioners. Purmo Group sells its products mainly to 
wholesalers and national merchants in both residential and non-residential sectors in northern, western, 
southern and eastern Europe (including Russia) but also in the rest of the world (including Brazil, China, Japan 
and the United States).
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2.2 Net sales
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
Sales of goods are recognized when the control is transferred to the customer. This is when the goods 
have been delivered to the customer, typically based on delivery terms. Delivery is deemed to have 
taken place when the products have been delivered to the agreed location and the risk of obsolescence 
and damage of products has been transferred to the customer. In addition, for certain contract terms, a 
transportation service is considered to be a separate performance obligation when control to the goods 
is transferred to the buyer before the goods are delivered. However, transportation service is typically 
performed during the same day as control is transferred to the customer, and therefore the revenue from 
goods and transportation service is recognized at the same time because the effect of the delay on the 
Group’s net sales is deemed to be immaterial. A receivable is recognized when the goods are delivered. 
This is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because only the passage of time is 
required before the payment is due. 

Amounts disclosed as net sales are net of discounts, annual rebates, bonuses and sanctions as well 
as other variable elements effecting revenue. The Group grants its customers different discounts, of 
which some are granted on invoicing, like cash discounts and different volume-based and customer 
related discounts. Goods are often sold with annual rebates based on aggregate sales. The level or 
the percentage on annual discounts might also depend on the sales volume, in which case the amount 
increases when the sales increases. A refund liability is recognized (included in trade and other payables 
for the expected volume-based discounts payable to customers in relation to the sales made until the 
end of the reporting period. Advance payments from customers, if any, are included in trade and other 
payables.

The Group provides warranties for its products and typical warranty period is between 2 -10 years 
depending on the product. Provision has been made for estimated warranty claims in respect of the 
products sold, see Note 4.4 Provisions. 

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Recognition of sales may require judgement and transfer of control is mainly assessed based on the 
terms of delivery in accordance with IFRS 15. Revenue from sales is recognized based on the price 
specified in the contract, net of the estimated volume-based discounts, the estimates are updated each 
reporting date. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and provide for the discounts, annual rebates 
and other items effecting revenue, and revenue is only recognized to the extent that it is highly probable 
that a significant reversal will not occur. 

Group’s main products include panel radiators, tubular and electric radiators, underfloor heating 
and piping systems, system components and air conditioners. Purmo Group sells its products mainly to 
wholesalers and national merchants. 

Entity wide information

Net sales by market area
Net sales to external customers by market area is based on the location in which the net sales has originated. 

EUR million 2021 2020
Northern Europe1 161.1 131.9

Western Europe 326.6 277.4

Central and Eastern Europe 201.5 152.5

Southern Europe 102.0 72.1

Rest of the world 52.4 37.3

Net Sales 843.6 671.2

1 Net sales in Finland (Company’s country of domicile) totalled to EUR 12.8 million (EUR 12.5 million).
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Net sales by market area for divisions
The division sales divided into geographical areas is the primary aggregation criteria of sales that is 
monitored by the company.

2021
EUR million Radiators ICS Group
Northern Europe 112.3 48.8 161.1

Western Europe 213.5 113.1 326.6

Central and Eastern Europe 150.6 50.9 201.5

Southern Europe 5.7 96.3 102.0

Rest of the world 24.3 28.1 52.4

Net Sales 506.3 337.2 843.6
    

2020
EUR million Radiators ICS Group 
Northern Europe 89.6 42.3 131.9

Western Europe 177.2 100.1 277.4

Central and Eastern Europe 111.3 41.2 152.5

Southern Europe 3.5 68.6 72.1

Rest of the world 15.3 22.0 37.3

Net Sales 396.9 274.3 671.2

Non-current assets by country 

Non-current assets by country excludes financial instruments and deferred tax assets. Goodwill has not been 
allocated to geographical areas

EUR million 2021 2020
Poland 39.7 42.0

Finland 21.3 20.0

UK 26.8 23.7

Germany 23.1 23.3

Italy 27.0 27.4

China 17.3 17.2

Belgium 14.1 16.9

Rest of the world 37.4 34.7

Goodwill 369.2 365.4

Total 575.9 570.7

Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers
The Group has no contract assets on the balance sheet. Contract liabilities include EUR 6.1 million (EUR 3.7 
million) of advance payments from customers and they are presented in Trade and other payables in the 
balance sheet. Prepayments recognised as liabilities in the balance sheet are recognised as revenue during 
the following financial year (see also Note 4.3 Trade and other payables).

2.3 Other income and expenses
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
Other income and expenses are such items that are not derived from other than Group’s actual operations. 
Other income includes disposal gain of sold tangible and intangible assets, grants and rental income. 

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment or intangible assets are 
recognised as deferred income. This deferred income is recognised in income statement on a systematic 
basis over the estimated useful life of the underlying asset. Other government grants are recognised in 
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Other income

EUR million 2021 2020
Disposal gain for fixed assets 0.2 0.1

Grants 0.1 0.4

Material items impacting period profit and loss 0.5 0.2

Other 1.9 1.0

Total 2.6 1.6

Other expenses

EUR million 2021 2020
Net exchange losses 1.1 0.5

Disposal loss for fixed assets 0.0 0.1

Management fees to related party 0.4 0.6

Material items impacting period profit and loss 68.4 10.5

Other 1.1 1.5

Total 71.0 13.2

The Group has identified a number of items that are material due to the significance of their nature or amount 
which are listed below to provide a better understanding of the operating performance for the Group.

the income statement on a systematic basis over the period in which the entity recognises the related 
costs that the grants are compensating.

Net foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other income or other expenses unless they 
relate to financing items or to qualifying cash flow hedges.

As Virala Acquisition Company Ltd (VAC) did not meet the definition of a business the merger between 
VAC and Purmo Group Ltd hasn’t been accounted for as a business combination but as a reverse 
recapitalization, in which no goodwill has been recognized and Purmo Group Ltd obtained a public 
company status. The difference in the value in accordance with IFRS 2 of VAC’s listed C shares and 
unlisted F shares over the fair value of identifiable net assets of VAC represents a service of listing of 
Purmo Group’s shares and is accounted for as a share-based payment in accordance with IFRS 2 and 
recorded as a one-time, non-cash impact in other operating expenses.

Material items impacting period profit and loss

EUR million 2021 2020
IFRS 2 merger impact 52.3 -

M&A related transaction and integration costs1 0.1 0.4

Restructuring costs and one-off costs related to efficiency programs2 8.9 7.8

Formation of Purmo Group and stand-alone preparations3 6.6 2.0

Other 0.5 0.3

Total 68.4 10.5

1 M&A related transaction and integration costs consist mainly of professional fees for pre-deal support and M&A advisory.
2 Restructuring costs and one-off costs related to efficiency programs consists of professional fees for project management expenses and redundancy 

costs for the PGUP programme and a restructuring provision for the closure of the production facility in Newcastle West Ireland. In 2020 the costs 
mainly relate to professional fees for project management expenses and redundancy costs for the PGUP programme.

3 Formation of Purmo Group and standalone preparations costs consist of professional fees in relation to listing preparations and for 2020 for Purmo 
rebranding and cost for one-time payment related to exit arrangements for former CEO /Leadership team.

The following table discloses the expenses by nature:

Expenses by nature

EUR million 2021 2020
Energy 18.9 16.4

Raw materials 444.0 311.2

Employee benefits 164.3 153.8

Sub-contracting services 9.2 7.4

Maintenance 12.7 12.0

Depreciation and amortisation 30.2 29.9

Research and development expenses 1.5 1.0

External transportation 39.0 34.5

Other expenses 71.0 13.2

Other 51.9 51.4

Total 842.7 630.8
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Reverse recapitalization

The value in accordance with IFRS 2 of VAC’s listed class C shares and unlisted F shares has been determined 
using VAC’s closing price on 13 December 2021, of EUR 13.80. The value of class F shares has been determined 
based on the right to convert an F share into class C share depending on the development of class C share 
price. The thresholds of the right to convert are determined in the Articles of Association. In accordance 
with IFRS 2, a one-time, non-cash impact of EUR 52.3 million from the merger has been recognized in other 
operating expenses against retained earnings.

The table below presents the accounting treatment of the merger:

Number of shares
Total fair value,  

EUR million
Listed C shares and unlisted F shares value 10,780,000 152.7

VAC's identifiable net assets  100.3

Value of IFRS 2 listing service  52.3

Audit fees
The following table includes the fees paid to the Company’s statutory auditor KPMG:

EUR thousand 2021 2020
Audit 0.7 0.6

Audit related services 0.1 0.0

Tax advisory 0.3 0.2

Other services - 0.1

Total1 1.0 0.9

1 The audit fees of Virala Acquisition Company Plc’s are presented in note 8.3.

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised 
for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this 
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

2.4 Employment benefit expenses

Under the defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered 
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further 
payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. Contributions to defined contribution plans 
are expensed as the related service is provided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the 
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

Defined benefit plans are pension plans that are not defined contribution plans. The Group’s net 
obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the 
amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods, discounting that 
amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.

Defined benefit obligations are calculated annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit 
credit method. When the calculation results in a potential asset for the Group, the recognised asset is 
limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the 
plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To calculate the present value of economic benefits, 
consideration is given to any applicable minimum funding requirements.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the 
return on plan assets (excluding interest and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest, are 
recognised immediately in other comprehensive income. The Group determines the net interest expense 
(income for the net defined benefit liability (asset for the period by applying the discount rate used to 
measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then-net defined 
benefit liability (asset, taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset during the 
period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense relating to defined benefit 
plans are recognised in profit or loss within finance income or expense.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit 
that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The 
Group recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit 
that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit is 
discounted to determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss in the period 
in which they arise.

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal 
retirement date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. 
Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of 
those benefits and when the Group recognises costs for a restructuring. If benefits are not expected to be 
settled within 12 months of the end of the reporting period, then they are discounted.
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Personnel expenses

EUR million 2021 2020

Wages and salaries 128.2 120.1

Social security contributions 27.8 28.0

Pension expenses - defined contribution plans 5.2 2.6

Pension expenses – defined benefit plans 1.2 0.9

Share-based payments 1.9 2.3

Total 164.3 153.8

Number of personnel
2021 2020

Average number of personnel 3,360 3,287 

2.5 Share-based payments

Long-term incentive plan 
In 2018 Purmo Group implemented a long-term incentive plan to key management. The plan consisted of 
two equity-settled compensation schemes, restricted matching shares and performance shares, and was 
conditional on the participant making an initial personal investment in the Company.

Restricted matching shares were earned based on continuation of employment and holding of personal 
initial investment. Restricted matching shares were paid upon initial investment. The restricted matching 
shares had a tranche vesting pattern that followed the performance periods and were to vest gradually in 
four equal instalments. 

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The Group has share-based incentive programs that are accounted for as equity-settled share-based 
payment transactions. The Group’s share-based payment arrangements include different conditions, 
i.e. non-vesting conditions, market and non-market performance conditions as well as service 
conditions. The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payment is determined at the grant date 
and not revalued after the grant date. Market conditions as well as non-vesting conditions are taken 
into account when estimating the fair value of the equity instruments granted. Therefore, the expense is 
recognized irrespectively of whether the conditions are satisfied. Non-market performance conditions 
and the requirement to stay in service are not factored into the grant date fair value. If the non-marked 
performance condition or the service condition is not met, the cumulative share-based payment cost will be 
trued-up accordingly. The total cost is determined by reference to the fair value at grant-date multiplied by 
the estimated amount of equity instrument expected to be vested. At each balance sheet date, the Group 
revises the cumulative share-based cost expected to be paid out based on the likelihood of achieving non-
market performance criteria and the service condition at the end of the performance period.

The expenses related to the equity settled share-based incentive programs are recognised in the 
profit and loss statement as employee benefit expenses over the vesting period with a corresponding 
adjustment to equity. For share-based incentive programs in which awards vest in stages, the expense is 
calculated in award tranches and recognised over the various vesting periods.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
At each balance sheet date, management reviews its estimates for the number of shares that are 
expected to vest. As part of this evaluation, Purmo Group takes into account changes in the forecasted 
performance of the Group and its reporting segments, expected turnover of the personnel part of the 
incentive plan, and other pertinent information impacting the number of shares to be vested.
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Restricted matching shares
Grant date(s) 31 May 2018, 31 Jul 2019

Vesting conditions service condition

Vesting date(s awards vest gradually during 2020-2023, 2021-2024

Payment method shares

Number of participants 12

Maximum amount of matching shares (gross), pcs 8,456

All matching shares outstanding in December 2021, amounting to 6,019 shares, vested early due to the 
merger. The share-based payment expense recognised in 2021 related to the restricted matching shares was 
EUR 0.5 million (EUR 0.1 million for 2020).

Performance shares were earned based on continuation of employment, holding of initial personal 
investment and subject to the fulfilment of predetermined performance criteria over the performance period. 
The plan included four individual three-year performance periods: 2018-2020, 2019-2021, 2020-2022 and 
2021-2023. The performance criterion for the performance periods was the majority shareholder’s theoretical 
annualised Internal Rate of Return (IRR) for its investment in Purmo Group. The IRR was treated as a non-
market condition and was based on a theoretical valuation of Purmo Group at the beginning and at the end of 
each performance period. At the end of each reporting period, the cumulative share-based cost expected to 
be paid out was revised based on the estimated IRR at the end of the performance period at that point in time.

Performance shares 
2018-2020 

Performance shares 
2019-2021

Performance shares 
2020-2022

Grant date(s 31 May 2018 31 May 2018, 31 Jul 2019 31 May 2018, 31 Jul 2019

Vesting conditions service condition, IRR service condition, IRR service condition, IRR

Vesting date(s 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2022

Payment method shares shares shares

Number of participants 11 12 12

Maximum number of performance shares, pcs 28,401 38,055 38,055

The Board of Directors decided to accelerate the vesting of the long-term share-based incentive plans as a 
result of the merger. At the reporting date, 7 957 Performance shares 2018-2020, 7 635 Performance shares 
2019-2021 and 5 090 Performance shares 2020-2022 had vested. For other participants, these periods were 
settled by Rettig Group Ltd as a pass-through cost. The performance period 2021-2023 did not give any pay-
out.

The share-based payment expense recognised in 2021 related to the performance shares was EUR 1.4 
million (EUR 2.0 million in 2020).

During 2020, the employment of some participants in the long-term incentive plan ended and the Group 
exercised its option right and redeemed the shares held by such participants. At that time the company 
re-estimated whether all awards are settled in shares and estimated the number of potential leavers and 
recognised a liability accordingly. In addition, the initial personal investment of the potential leavers was 
reclassified from the equity as a liability. After the initial recognition the liability was revalued at the end of 
each reporting period. In 2020 the fair value changes recognised in the profit and loss statement amounted 
to EUR 0.1 million which are included in the share-based payment expense. At the end of 2020 the liability 
was EUR 0.2 million. The remaining liability of EUR 0.2 million was fully settled during 2021, with no additional 
fair value change recognised in the profit and loss statement in 2021.

Management incentive plan
In 2020, the Company implemented a new management incentive plan for certain key employees. The 
participants were offered a right to invest in the Company’s new K1 common shares and MIP shares 
(class P shares). The participants subscribed for 19,088 K1 common shares and 160 MIP shares with a total 
subscription price of EUR 0.8 million. As K1 shares were subscribed at fair value, there was no fair value 
benefit to be recognised as share-based compensation. However, if a participant had leaved the Company, 
the Company’s majority shareholder had the right to purchase all or a portion of the participant’s shares. 
Therefore, the arrangement was considered as an equity-settled share-based payment transaction, even 
though there was no expense to be recognised. 

Equity incentive instruments, i.e. MIP shares (class P shares), included a service condition and the shares 
were initially meant to vest in tranches from 1 July 2020 to 31 December 2024. However, they were to vest 
immediately and fully if an exit (including a listing) took place. The incentive amount was dependent on the 
total fair market value at the exit event. If no exit had occurred by December 2022, the incentive amount 
based on the fair market value would have decreased annually. After 1 July 2028, each participant had the 
right to sell all the shares he/she held at fair value to the Company’s majority shareholder. If a participant left 
the Company before the shares had vested (or as a bad leaver thereafter), the majority shareholder had the 
right to redeem the shares at the original subscription price. This arrangement was treated as equity-settled 
share-based compensation arrangement. 
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As a result of the merger triggering the exit clause of the Management incentive plan, the awards vested 
earlier than initially estimated resulting in all class P shares having vested fully by the end of 2021 with EUR 0.4 
million recognised as expense in 2021 (EUR 0.1 million in 2020).

Fair value determination
The fair value of the share-based incentives was determined at the grant date. The grant date fair value of 
the equity instruments (i.e. MIP shares) granted during the period was determined using the Monte Carlo 
simulation model. The inputs to the model were in addition to equity value as follows:

 MIP 2020
Expected volatility 28%

Risk free rate 0%

3. Intangible and tangible assets 
3.1 Goodwill and other intangible assets 

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Goodwill and other intangible assets with and indefinite useful life
Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over the fair values of identified acquired assets and 
liabilities of acquired companies. Goodwill arises typically in connection with a major acquisition, and 
represents the value of the acquired market share, business knowledge and the synergies obtained 
in connection with the acquisition. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and tested annually for impairment. The Group is not 
considered to have other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives.

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets include trademarks, patents and software licences that are acquired by Purmo 
Group and have finite useful lives and are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Subsequent expenditure 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in 
the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated 
goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation
Amortisation is calculated so as to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual 
values applying the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised in 
profit or loss. Goodwill is not amortised.

The estimated useful lives for current and comparative periods are as follows:

Trademarks 25 years

Capitalised development costs 5 years

Other intangible assets 5–10 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate. Amortisation of the trademarks are included in sales and marketing expenses. 
Amortisation of patents and development costs is included in research and development costs. 

Research and development costs
Research costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Expenditure on development, in which 
research findings or other knowledge is applied to produce new or improved products or processes, is 
recognised as an asset in the balance sheet if the product or process is technically and commercially 
feasible and the company has intention as well as sufficient resources to complete development and then 
use or sell the intangible asset, the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits and 
the company is able to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset. Capitalised 
development costs are presented in the balance sheet and are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised from the time when the 
asset is ready for use. Capitalised development costs for an asset that is not yet ready for use are tested 
for impairment annually. The estimated useful lives of development costs are reviewed at each reporting 
date and if these estimates differ significantly from previous estimates, the amortisation periods are 
adjusted accordingly. The amortisation period for capitalised development costs is 5 years.

 Development costs are capitalized when a development project is likely to generate economic benefits 
for the company and the products are assessed to be technically feasible and commercially viable. 
Currently Purmo Group does not capitalize development costs.
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Intangible assets 
2021
EUR million Goodwill Trademarks

Development 
costs 

Other 
intangible 

assets Total
Balance at 1 Jan 2021 365.4 56.0 1.9 3.6 426.8
Effects of exchange rates -0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Purchases of subsidiaries and business acquisitions - - - 0.0 0.0

Increases - 0.8 - 0.3 1.1

Decreases - - 0.0 0.0

Transfers 3.8 0.0 - 0.0 3.9

Balance at 31 Dec 2021 369.2 56.8 1.9 3.9 431.8
Accumulated amortisation and  impairment losses      
Balance at 1 Jan 2021 - -18.7 -1.8 -3.0 -23.5
Effects of exchange rates - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Amortisation - -2.5 -0.1 -0.3 -2.9

Transfers - - - 0.0 0.0

Balance at 31 Dec 2021 - -21.2 -1.9 -3.3 -26.4
Carrying amount at 31 Dec 2021 369.2 35.6 0.0 0.6 405.5

3.2 Impairment testing of goodwill
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than, 
inventories and deferred tax assets to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any 
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For impairment testing purposes, Purmo Group’s goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (‘CGU’), 
which are also the divisions of the Group. The divisions represent the Group’s operating segments before 
aggregation determined in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments. Impairment is measured at the 
level of cash generating units, which are the smallest groups of assets that independently generate cash 
flows and whose cash flows can be distinguished from other cash flows.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its 
fair value less costs to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating units. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss and initially allocated to reduce the carrying amount 
of any goodwill attributable to the cash generating unit, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the 
other assets in the cash generating unit on a pro rata basis.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an 
impairment loss recognised in prior periods for an asset other than goodwill may no longer exist or may 
have decreased. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of that asset, 
impairment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The goodwill and other intangible assets not yet available for use are subject to impairment testing on 
an annual basis, or more frequently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets might 
need to be impaired. In addition, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets at 
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indications 
exist, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In the Group’s goodwill impairment testing, 
the recoverable amount of a cash generating unit (CGU) is determined based on fair value less costs 
of disposal calculations which require the use of assumptions. Estimation and judgment are required 

2020
EUR million Goodwill Trademarks

Development 
costs 

Other 
intangible 

assets Total
Balance at 1 Jan 2020 365.1 54.6 2.5 3.2 425.4
Effects of exchange rates 0.3 -0.1 -0.1 0.0 0.2

Increases - 1.5 - 0.3 1.8

Decreases - 0.0 -0.6 0.0 -0.6

Transfers 0.0 -0.1 - 0.2 0.1

Balance at 31 Dec 2020 365.4 56.0 1.9 3.6 426.8
Accumulated amortisation and  impairment losses
Balance at 1 Jan 2020 - -16.3 -1.7 -2.7 -20.6
Effects of exchange rates - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1

Amortisation - -2.5 -0.1 -0.3 -2.9

Transfers - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Balance at 31 Dec 2020 - -18.7 -1.8 -3.0 -23.5
Carrying amount at 31 Dec 2020 365.4 37.3 0.1 0.6 403.4

Other intangible assets include other long-term capital expenditures and advance payments.
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Impairment testing
The amount of goodwill allocated to each CGU is presented in the following table. 

Carrying amount of goodwill allocated to cash generating unit:

EUR million 2021 2020
Radiators 252.0 248.2

ICS 117.2 117.2

Total 369.2 365.4

Annual impairment test 2021
As at 31 December 2021 goodwill totalled EUR 369.2 million. Given that the recoverable amount of each CGU 
significantly exceeded the carrying value of goodwill, no indication of impairment was found in 2021. The 
value in use calculations were derived from estimates, budgets and strategy figures reviewed by Purmo 
Group’s management and approved by the Board of Director’s. 

The calculations are prepared using a fair value less costs of disposal model. In the impairment testing, the 
cash flows for the cash generating units were forecast for five years, based on operative plans. The financial 
plan is conducted annually and is approved by management. Cash flows beyond this forecast period were 
extrapolated using a constant 2% long-term growth rate, which reflects the sustainable long-term level of the 
operations. 

The forecasts in the financial plans for both CGU’s are based on management’s estimate of the sustainable 
profit margins. The forecasts take into account anticipated changes in market demand, sales prices and costs 
based on management’s past experience and are in line with available external market data and research. 
The terminal growth rate after the forecast period reflects an estimate of long-term inflation.

Discount rates 
Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to each cash generating unit and 
are determined using the weighted average cost of capital, based on industry peers. The components of the 
discount rate are: 
• Market-specific risk-free rate, based on a weighted average for the largest market
• Market risk premium, based on a weighted average for the largest markets 
• Industry-specific risk, which is incorporated by applying asset beta factors that are annually derived from 

publicly available market data for peer companies 
• Required return of debt, based on market information 
• Debt-to-equity ratio, based on industry peers 

The discount rates determined are a post-tax rates as the company is using a fair value model to estimate 
the recoverable amounts. Below are presented the sales growth rate beyond the five-year period, the 
average EBITDA level and the post-tax discount rate, by CGU. 

2021 2020
Long term 

growth rate, %
Post-tax 

discount rate,%
Average 

EBITDA level, %
Long term 

growth rate, %
Post-tax 

discount rate, %
Average 

EBITDA level, %
Radiators 2.0 7.50 11.50 1.0 8.5 13.7

ICS 2.0 7.90 11.60 1.0 8.5 9.7

Sensitivity analysis 
A sensitivity analysis was carried out by Purmo Group management using downside scenarios. The scenarios 
involved raising the applied discount rate and reducing the forecasted EBITDA margin level for the forecast 
and terminal periods. A change in an assumption that would cause the recoverable amount to equal the 
carrying amount is presented in the table below separately for each CGU. 

in determining the components of the recoverable amount calculation, including the discount rate, the 
terminal growth rate and development of the net sales and EBITDA (which is for impairment testing 
purposes defined as earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation and amortization). The discount 
rates reflect current assessments of the time value of money and relevant market risk premiums reflecting 
risks and uncertainties for which the future cash flow estimates have not been adjusted. The calculations 
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year 
period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using estimated growth rates. These 
terminal growth rate assumptions are consistent with forecasts included in industry reports specific to the 
industry in which each CGU operates. 
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3.3 Property, plant and equipment
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Recognition and measurement
Items property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are 
recognised as separate items (major components of property, plant and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated 
with the expenditure will flow to the Group. 

Major repairs and renovations of property, plant and equipment are capitalized and depreciated over the 
useful lives of the underlying asset. Ordinary expenses for repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their 
estimated residual values applying the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is 
recognised in profit or loss. Land is not depreciated.

Property, plant and equipment
2021

EUR million
Land and 

water Buildings

Machinery 
and  

equipment

Other  
tangible 

assets
Assets under 
construction Total

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan 8.5 118.5 451.7 9.9 5.0 593.5
Effects of exchange rates 0.0 0.4 2.1 -0.2 -0.1 2.3

Purchases of subsidiaries and  
business acquisitions - 0.4 2.5 0.0 0.0 2.9

Additions - 0.2 6.4 0.6 4.6 11.9

Transfers - -0.1 3.6 - 0.1 3.6

Disposals -0.1 -0.6 -1.0 -0.1 -0.1 -1.9

Acquisition cost at 31 Dec 8.4 118.8 465.3 10.2 9.5 612.2

Accumulated depreciation at 1 Jan 0.4 -74.0 -379.1 -7.4 - -460.2
Effects of exchange rates 0.0 -0.2 -0.8 0.1 - -1.0

Depreciation - -3.7 -15.3 -0.9 - -19.9

Depreciation on disposals - 0.4 0.4 0.0 - 0.8

Transfers - 0.0 - - - 0.0

Accumulated depreciation at 31 Dec 0.3 -77.6 -394.8 -8.2 0.0 -480.3
Carrying amount at 31 Dec 8.7 41.3 70.4 2.0 9.5 132.0

Change
Radiators
Forecasted EBITDA margin decrease more than 3.0 per centage points

WACC increase more than 3.1 per centage points

Residual growth decrease more than 3.0 per centage points

ICS
Forecasted EBITDA margin decrease more than 5.0 per centage points

WACC increase more than 4.6 per centage points

Residual growth decrease more than 6.0 per centage points

In management’s opinion, the changes in the basic assumptions shall not be seen as an indication that these 
factors are likely to materialise. The sensitivity analyses are hypothetical and should therefore be treated 
with caution.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current and comparative periods are as follows:

Buildings 10–40 years

Machinery and equipment 3–10 years

Large processing machines 15–25 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted 
if appropriate.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Assessing the probability of expected future economic benefits and useful lives of property, plant and 
equipment require management judgement. The estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed 
at least at the end of each reporting period, and if they differ significantly from previous estimates, the 
depreciation periods are adjusted accordingly. Also, assessing any indication of impairment requires 
management judgement.
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2020

EUR million
Land and 

water Buildings

Machinery 
and  

equipment

Other  
tangible 

assets
Assets under 
construction Total

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan 4.8 123.1 449.3 10.2 9.4 596.8
Effects of exchange rates 0.0 -2.6 -8.6 -0.5 -0.5 -12.3

Additions 0.0 1.6 10.2 0.7 -2.4 10.1

Transfers 3.7 -3.6 1.5 0.0 -1.2 0.4

Disposals - - -0.7 -0.5 -0.3 -1.5

Acquisition cost at 31 Dec 8.5 118.5 451.7 9.9 5.0 593.5

Accumulated depreciation at 1 Jan 0.4 -71.3 -370.6 -6.8 0.0 -448.4
Effects of exchange rates 0.0 1.1 6.1 0.4 - 7.6

Depreciation - -3.9 -15.1 -0.9 - -20.0

Depreciation on disposals - - 0.6 0.0 - 0.6

Accumulated depreciation at 31 Dec 0.4 -74.0 -379.1 -7.4 0.0 -460.2

Carrying amount at 31 Dec 8.8 44.4 72.6 2.5 5.0 133.3

3.4 Right-of-use assets
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
In accordance with IFRS 16 the Group assess at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, 
a lease. The Group leases production equipment, real estate, vehicles and other equipment used in its 
operations. The Group recognises lease liabilities representing the obligation to make lease payments 
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying asset. For leases with lease terms 
of 12 months or less or leases of low-value assets the Group uses the short-term and low-value lease 
recognition exemptions. 

Right-of-use assets
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease. Right-of-use assets 
are measured at cost, comprising the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date, plus any direct costs incurred and an estimate of cost to 

dismantle the underlying asset, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted 
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is 
reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Lease liabilities
The Group recognises a lease liability measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over 
the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments less any receivable lease incentives, amounts 
expected to be paid under residual value guaranties, and variable lease payments dependent on a rate 
or index. Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the 
measurement of the liability. 

The present value is calculated by discounting the payments with the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
If the interest rate implicit for the lease is not readily determinable, the incremental borrowing rate 
applicable for the lease is used. Lease payments are allocated between the principal repayment and 
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. 

Lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in 
an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under 
a residual value guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, 
extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment. When the lease 
liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been 
reduced to zero.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its leases that have a lease term of 12 
months or less and the low-value assets recognition exemption to leases where the leased asset value 
is below EUR 5 thousand. The lease payments on short-term leases and low-value asset leases are 
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The management also applies judgement in determining the lease term. In determining the lease term, 
management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an 
extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods after termination 
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Right-of-use assets

2021

EUR million Land and water Buildings
Machinery and 

equipment Total
Acquisition cost at 1 Jan 1.1 33.8 11.2 46.1
Effects of exchange rates 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.6

Purchases of subsidiaries and business 
acquisitions - 0.5 - 0.5

Additions 0.0 2.6 4.0 6.5

Acquisition cost at 31 Dec 1.1 37.4 15.2 53.7
    

Accumulated depreciation at 1 Jan -0.1 -9.7 -5.5 -15.2
Effects of exchange rates 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1

Depreciation 0.0 -4.5 -2.8 -7.4

Accumulated depreciation at 31 Dec -0.1 -14.2 -8.2 -22.5
    

Carrying amount at 31 Dec 1.0 23.2 7.0 31.3

2020

EUR million Land and water Buildings
Machinery and 

equipment Total
Acquisition cost at 1 Jan 1.2 33.9 9.0 44.1
Effects of exchange rates -0.1 -0.8 -0.1 -1.0

Additions - 0.7 2.2 2.9

Acquisition cost at 31 Dec 1.1 33.8 11.2 46.1
    

Accumulated depreciation at 1 Jan
Effects of exchange rates 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2

Depreciation 0.0 -4.1 -2.9 -7.0

Accumulated depreciation at 31 Dec -0.1 -9.7 -5.5 -15.2
    

Carrying amount at 31 Dec 1.1 24.1 5.7 30.9

Lease liabilities

EUR million 2021 2020
Non-current 30.7 29.7

Current 5.6 5.9

Total lease liabilities 36.4 35.7

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

EUR million 2021 2020
Depreciation of right-of-use assets -7.4 -7.0

Interest on lease liabilities -2.1 -2.5

Expense related to short-term leases -1.3 -1.5

Expense related to leases of low-value assets -0.4 -0.3

Total -11.2 -11.3

Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows

EUR million 2021 2020
Total cash outflow for leases -9.6 -9.4

options are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not 
terminated). The following factors are normally the most relevant:
• If there are significant penalty payments to terminate (or not extend), the group is typically reasonably 

certain to extend (or not terminate).
• If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value, the group is typically 

reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate).

Otherwise, the group considers other factors including historical lease durations and the costs and 
business disruption required to replace the leased asset.
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3.5 Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization

EUR million 2021 2020
Amortization of intangible assets -2.9 -2.9 

Tangible assets -19.9 -20.0 

Right-of-use assets -7.4 -7.0 

Total -30.2 -29.9 

4. Operational assets and liabilities

4.1 Inventories
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
Trade and other receivables are recognized in the balance sheet at fair value which can be subsequently 
written down due to impairment. The impairment is expensed under sales and marketing expenses.

Non-recourse factoring
Purmo Group has entered into non-recourse factoring agreements to sell trade receivables in order to 
manage working capital. Sold trade receivables are derecognised once significant related risks and 
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. The Group does not have any material trade 
receivables on the balance sheet, which will be subject to recourse factoring. Please refer to Note 5.3 
Financial Assets and Liabilities for further details.

Inventories

EUR million 2021 2020
Raw materials and consumables 60.6 29.7

Work in progress 21.7 14.7

Finished goods 82.8 68.0

Inventory value - gross 165.1 112.3
Inventory write-down -7.7 -7.1

Total 157.4 105.3

Write-downs of inventories to net realisable value amounted to EUR 7.7 (EUR 7.1) million. These were 
recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales in the income statement. 

4.2 Trade and other receivables
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
Purmo Group’s inventories consist of raw materials and consumables, work-in-progress and finished 
goods. Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is 
based on the first-in first-out (FIFO method or weighted average cost formula and includes expenditure 
incurred in acquiring the inventory items and bringing them to their existing location and condition. 
The cost of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. In the case of 
manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes direct materials, directs labour and an 
appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity.

The Group recognises an allowance for obsolete inventory items at the end of the reporting period 
based on the latest information. The allowance is based on a systematic and continuous monitoring of the 
inventory. The nature, state, and age structure if the inventory is taken into consideration when estimating 
the amount of allowance for the obsolescence.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Inventory valuation requires management to make estimates and judgments particularly relating to 
obsolescence and expected selling prices in different market conditions. It also entails management’s 
assessment of the general market trends in global markets. 
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Credit risk and impairment losses
Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and impairment losses for trade and other receivables 
is included in Note 5.2 Financial risk management.

4.3 Trade and other payables

4.4 Provisions

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
Accruals and deferred income consist mainly of personnel-related accruals, sales adjustments and other 
accrued liabilities. 

Trade and other payables

EUR million 2021 2020
Trade payables 116.8 80.2

Accruals and deferred income 76.4 62.5

Liabilities to related parties 0.0 0.2

Total 193.2 142.9

Non-current 1.2 1.2

Current 192.0 141.6

Total 193.2 142.9

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Recognition and measurement of provisions
A provision is recognized when a present legal or constructive obligation exists as a result of a past event 
and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount 
can be reliably estimated. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at 
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the liability. Actual outflows can differ from estimates due to changes in law, regulations, technology, 
prices and conditions. The carrying amounts of provisions are regularly reviewed and adjusted to take 
into account any such changes. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance cost.

Warranties
A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying products or services are sold. The provision is 
calculated based on historical experience of levels of repairs and replacements. Provisions for warranties 
cover the estimated costs to repair or replace products that are still under warranty on the balance sheet 
date. Group provides warranties for its products and typical warranty periods is between 2 – 10 years 
depending on the product. 

Restructuring
A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group has approved a detailed and formal 
restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has commenced or has been announced publicly. The 
Group provides for the estimated cost to restructure when a detailed formal plan of restructuring has 
been completed, approved by management, and announced. Restructuring costs consist primarily of 
personnel restructuring charges. The other components are costs associated with costs of terminating 
certain other contracts directly linked to the restructuring. The majority of the restructuring cash outflows 
are expected to occur within 12 months.

Site restoration
Estimated future expenses for the site or area restoration are capitalised. Capitalised amounts comprise 
estimated expenses, calculated at current value, which are simultaneously reported as provisions. Effects 
of subsequent events that result in costs that exceed the provision are discounted, capitalised, and added 
to the provisions, and then written off over the remaining life of the asset. 

Trade and other receivables

EUR million 2021 2020
Trade receivables 77.1 53.1

Prepayments and accrued income 8.5 5.8

Other receivables 22.2 20.1

Total 107.8 79.0

Non-current 1.0 1.0

Current 106.8 78.0

Total 107.8 79.0
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Other provisions
Other provisions consist mainly of legal provisions, agent leaving indemnity provisions and a tax liability 
recorded in accordance with IFRIC 23 for an uncertain tax position arising from the Group’s global 
operations. Provisions also include a regulatory Commercial agents indemnity risk provision in Italy. Other 
provisions are expected to be realised during the next five years.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Provisions for present obligations require management judgment. Estimation is required in determining 
the value of the obligation as the amount recognised as a provision is based on the best estimate of 
unavoidable costs required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period When estimating 
unavoidable costs, management may be required to consider a range of possible outcomes and their 
associated probabilities, risks and uncertainties surrounding the events and circumstances as well as 
making assumptions of the timing of payment. Estimation is also required in determining the rate used to 
discount provisions to present value.

Provisions

EUR million
Warranties and 

guarantees Restructuring Other provisions Total
Balance at 1 Jan 2021 1.5 0.6 6.4 8.5
Effects of exchange rates 0.0 - 0.0 0.0

Increase of provisions 0.1 4.4 0.2 4.8

Provisions utilised -0.1 -0.2 -0.5 -0.8

Balance at 31 Dec 2021 1.5 4.8 6.2 12.5
     

Non-current 1.4 0.0 6.2 7.6
Current 0.1 4.8 - 4.9

EUR million
Warranties and 

guarantees Restructuring Other provisions Total
Balance at 1 Jan 2020 1.2 1.1 4.8 7.1
Effects of exchange rates 0.0 - 0.0 0.0

Increase of provisions 0.3 0.3 2.2 2.9

Provisions utilised - -0.9 -0.6 -1.4

Balance at 31 Dec 2020 1.5 0.6 6.4 8.5
     

Non-current 1.3 - 6.0 7.3
Current 0.2 0.6 0.4 1.2
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4.5 Post-employment obligations Employee benefits

EUR million 2021 2020
Defined benefit asset 6.2 2.1

Total employee benefit asset 6.2 2.1

Defined benefit liability 20.5 25.4

Liability for long-service leave 2.9 3.1

Other employee benefits 0.0 0.0

Total employee benefits liabilities 23.5 28.5

Non-current 23.5 28.5

Current 0.0 0.0

Total 23.5 28.5

Movement in net defined benefit (asset) liability

Defined benefit obligation Fair value of plan assets
Net defined benefits 

liability (asset)
EUR million 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Balance at 1 Jan 96.9 90.9 73.5 69.7 23.3 21.2
Included in profit or loss
Current service cost 1.2 0.8 0.0 0.0 1.2 0.8

Interest income 0.0 0.0 0.9 1.2 -0.9 -1.2

Past service cost (credit) 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1

Interest cost (income) 1.0 1.4 0.0 0.0 1.0 1.4

Included in other comprehensive income:
• Actuarial loss (gain) arising from change 
in demographic assumptions 0.4 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.6

• Actuarial loss (gain) arising from change 
in financial assumptions -3.8 10.6 5.2 7.9 -9.1 2.4

• Actuarial loss (gain) arising from 
experience adjustments 0.7 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.8

Effect of movements in exchange rates 4.5 -3.3 4.4 -3.2 0.1 -0.2

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The Group has a number of pension plans covering its operations in various countries, all of which comply 
with the relevant country’s rules and obligations. The Group operates defined contribution and defined 
benefit pension plans. The major defined benefit plans are located in the United Kingdom, Ireland, Austria 
and Germany. Together these plans account for 90 per cent of the Group’s total defined benefit obligation 
and 98 per cent of the total plan assets.

The present value of pension obligations depends on a number of factors determined on an actuarial 
basis by using a number of financial and demographic assumptions, and changes in these assumptions 
impact the carrying amount of pension obligations. The key financial assumption used in determining 
the net cost (income for pensions is the discount rate. The appropriate discount rate is determined at the 
end of each reporting period and is used in calculating the present value of estimated cash outflows to 
settle the pension obligation. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers the yields 
of high-quality corporate or government bonds, depending on the country, that are denominated in the 
currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of 
the related pension obligation. Other key assumptions related to pension obligations include financial 
assumptions such as estimated increases in salaries and pensions, and demographic assumptions such 
as mortality rates. 

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The defined benefit obligation is calculated by independent authorised actuaries. The discount rate 
for actuarial calculations is determined by reference to market yields on high-quality corporate bonds 
or government bonds taking into account the duration of the defined benefit obligation. The applied 
discount rates are country-specific. Pension benefits are normally based on the number of years’ service 
and salary. The Group is exposed to a number of risks through its defined benefit plans. A decrease in 
bond yields would increase plan liabilities. Some of the Group’s pension obligations are linked to inflation, 
an increase in which would lead to higher liabilities. The majority of the plans’ obligations are to provide 
benefits over the lifetime of the plan member, which means that increases in life expectancy will increase 
the plan liabilities. 
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Movement in net defined benefit (asset) liability

Defined benefit obligation Fair value of plan assets
Net defined benefits 

liability (asset)

EUR million 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Other

Contributions paid by the employer 0.0 0.0 1.9 1.7 -1.8 -1.7

Benefits paid -3.8 -4.7 -3.2 -3.9 -0.6 -0.9

Business combinations and disposals 0.0 0.0 - 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other 0.0 - 0.0 0.0 0.0

Balance at 31 Dec 97.0 96.9 82.7 73.5 14.3 23.3

Plan assets
The Group’s post-employment benefits plan assets mainly consist of equity and debt instruments. Plan 
assets don’t include the Group’s own financial instruments or assets which are occupied by the Group. 
Approximately 98 % of plan assets have a quoted market price.

Actuarial assumptions
The following were the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted 
averages.

2021 2020
Discount rate 1.42% 1.00%

Expected salary growth 2.50% 2.19%

Expected future pension growth 2.67% 2.32%

At 31 December 2021, the weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 16.1 years (2020: 
16.1 years). In 2022 the Group expects to pay EUR 1.6 million to the defined benefit plans.

Sensitivity analysis
Reasonably probable changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, all other 
assumptions remaining unchanged, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts 
shown below.

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
EUR million Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
Discount rate (1% movement) -15.0 15.0 -14.9 14.9

Future salary growth (1% movement) 1.5 -1.5 1.5 -1.5

Future pension growth (1% movement 10.9 -10.9 9.8 -9.8

While the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does 
provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown.

5. Capital structure and financial instruments

5.1 Financial income and expenses
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
Net financial items comprises net interest expenses, foreign exchange gains and losses and other financial 
income and expenses mainly arising from interest-bearing assets and liabilities.
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EUR million 2021 2020

Interest income on items measured at amortised cost   

- from related party 0.1 0.9

- other parties 0.4 0.4

Interest income on foreign exchange derivatives 0.7 0.4

Exchange gains related to financing items - - 

Exchange gains from foreign exchange derivatives

- from related party - 0.3

- other parties - 0.6

Other finance income 0.0 0.0

Finance income 1.1 2.6
 

Interest expense on items measured at amortised cost
- loans from related party 2.2 8.0

- loans from financial institutions 0.4 0.0

- other 0.6 0.3

Interest expense, lease liabilities 2.1 2.5

Interest expense on foreign exchange derivatives 1.6 0.5

Exchange loss related to financing items 0.3 0.3

Exchange loss from foreign exchange derivatives

- from related party - - 

- other parties 1.0 - 

Other finance expense 1.5 1.1

Finance costs 9.7 12.7
 

Net financial items recognised in profit or loss -8.6 -11.1

The treasury function at Purmo Group was established in November 2020. All financial risk management 
actions were operated from the ultimate parent company, Rettig Group until November 2020, which explains 
the change in financial income and expenses.

5.2 Financial risk management
Principles and process
The nature of Purmo Group’s business exposes the Group to a variety of business and financial risks. Financial 
risks are managed centrally by the Group Treasury (Treasury) under annually reviewed Group Treasury 
Policy approved by the Board of Directors. The objective of financial risk management is to mitigate potential 
adverse effects of financial risks on Group’s financial performance. Treasury identifies, evaluates and 
hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the subsidiaries. Treasury operates as counterparty to the 
subsidiaries, manages centrally external funding and is responsible for the management of financial assets 
and appropriate hedging measures. Treasury uses only hedging instruments whose market value can be 
reliably monitored and are in line with the Group Treasury Policy. In addition Treasury provides consultation 
and services to Group companies in all financing related matters. The Group’s risk management policy 
is essentially risk averse. Until the establishment of Group Treasury at Purmo Group, financial risks were 
managed centrally by the parent company Rettig Group Oy Ab. In November 2020 all Purmo Group related 
financial instruments were novated from Rettig Group Oy Ab to Purmo Group Plc. In connection with the 
novation, the Company settled the fair values of the outstanding derivatives with the parent.

Credit and counterparty risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk arises mainly from the Group’s receivables due from customers. 
It also relates to cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial assets and other related party receivables 
The objective of the credit risk management is to mitigate the Group’s credit risk exposure.

Trade receivables 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk stems mainly from the individual characteristics of each customer. 
However, management also considers the factors that could influence the credit risk of its customer base, 
including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate. 

The Group has processes in place to mitigate credit risk under which each new customer is analysed 
individually for creditworthiness, before the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions 
are offered to the customer. The Group’s review includes external ratings, when available, and in some cases 
bank references. If the analysis results in that credit could not be granted to a customer, the Group may 
request advance payments before shipment.
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Most of the Group’s customers have been trading with the Group for years, and no major credit losses 
have occurred with these customers. Credit risk is monitored by grouping customers according to their credit 
characteristics, including whether they are individuals or legal entities and whether they are wholesale, retail 
or end-user customers, as well as by geographic location, industry and the existence of previous financial 
difficulties. The Group has one customer that amounts to more than 10 per cent of the Group’s net sales.

The Group applies the provision matrix to assess the expected credit losses for trade receivables. The 
expected credit loss is based on historical and forward-looking information and is estimated at the end of each 
reporting period. In the provision matrix, loss rates are determined separately for the aging categories of the 
trade receivables, based on the experienced historical credit losses and management’s future expectations. At 
the reporting date, the ageing of trade receivables, including the loss allowance, were as follows:

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

EUR million 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

Loss 
allowance Loss rate 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

Loss 
allowance Loss rate 

Not overdue 66.4  47.6

Overdue 1–30 days 8.0 -0.1 1% 3.9 0.0 1%

Overdue 31–60 days 1.9 -0.2 12% 1.1 -0.1 12%

Overdue 61–90 days 1.1 -0.4 40% 0.8 -0.3 40%

More than 90 days 3.6 -3.1 87% 3.3 -3.2 97%

Total trade receivables 81.0 -3.8 4.7% 56.8 -3.7 6.6%

Reconciliation of the loss allowance:

EUR million 2021 2020
1 Jan 3.7 3.7
Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year 0.6 0.7

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible -0.5 -0.7

31 Dec 3.8 3.7

Counterparty risk related to financing items
Purmo Group is exposed to credit risk when using derivative instruments and depositing its cash and cash 
equivalents. Financial credit risk is managed actively by limiting counterparties to a sufficient number of 
major banks and financial institutions, and by monitoring the creditworthiness and the size of exposures 
continuously.

31 December 2021 the maximum credit risk related to cash and cash equivalents corresponds to their 
carrying amount of EUR 177.6 million (EUR 55.0 million). According to management assessment, no 
significant credit losses are anticipated on the liquidity reserves. Additionally, the Group enters into netting 
arrangements with all major counterparties, which give the right to offset in the event that the counterparty 
would not be able to fulfil its obligations (see Note 5.7 Derivative financial instruments). 

Liquidity and refinancing risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulties in meeting the obligations associated with 
its financial liabilities. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it 
will have sufficient liquidity to settle its liabilities when these become due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions. Treasury monitors bank account structures, cash balances and forecasts of the subsidiaries and 
manages the utilisation of the consolidated cash resources. 

In 2021 the Group refinanced EUR 90 million related party loan with a bridge loan with maturity of 2 weeks. 
The bridge loan is planned to be repaid with the funds released from the escrow account of VAC. The Group 
also agreed on a EUR 280 million term loan with maturity in 2024 including two one year options. The EUR 
280 million term loan was used to pay the extra ordinary dividend of EUR 251 million before the Merger and 
for general corporate purposes.

To secure its short term liquidity, the Group maintains the following lines of credit:
• EUR 80 million undrawn committed revolving credit facility maturing in 2024 with two one year options 

(EUR 140 million from related party of which EUR 90 million was drawn)
• EUR 17.4 million undrawn overdraft facilities that are unsecured (EUR 17.4 million)

Refinancing risk, or the risk that maturing debt is not refinanced in the markets, is mitigated by Purmo Group’s 
target of maintaining an even maturity profile of outstanding debt with no more than 20% of the outstanding 
debt to mature within the following 12 months. At the reporting date the percent is higher due to the bridge 
loan of EUR 95 million, which is to be paid with the funds released from the VAC escrow accounts on 3rd 
January 2022. Diversification of funding among different markets and an adequate number of financial 
institutions are used to safeguard the availability of liquidity at all times. 
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The Group manages its liquidity also by having entered into several trade receivable factoring 
arrangements that provide for the accelerated receipt of approximately EUR 35.5 million and EUR 31.8 million 
of cash for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively, on available trade accounts receivable. 
Under the factoring agreements, the Group sells, on a revolving and non-recourse basis, certain of its trade 
receivable to a financial institution. These factored trade receivables are derecognised from the balance 
sheet because the Group has transferred the significant risks and rewards to the counterparty and the Group 
does not maintain any continuing involvement with the sold receivables. The Group incurs commission and 
interest expenses for the transferred receivables balance which are recognised as other finance expenses 
in the period in which they are incurred, to the extent the fee exceeds the fair value loss related to the 
transferred trade receivables.

Exposure to liquidity risk

31 Dec 2021

EUR million 
Carrying 

amount Total 1–12 months 1–2 years 2–5 years 
More than 

5 years 
Non-derivative financial liabilities 
Loans from financial institutions 372.7 390.0 100.0 5.0 285.0

Lease liabilities 36.4 68.8 7.4 5.8 12.3 43.4

Trade payables 116.7

Total 525.7 458.8 107.3 10.7 297.3 43.4
 
Derivative financial liabilities 
Forward exchange contracts 2.0 3.1 3.1

Total 2.0 3.1 3.1 - - -

31 Dec 2020

EUR million 
Carrying 

amount Total 1–12 months 1-2 years 2–5 years 
More than 

5 years 
Non-derivative financial liabilities 
Loans and liabilities from related party 90.0 90.2 90.2

Loans from financial institutions 4.5 4.6 4.6

Lease liabilities 35.7 67.9 10.3 20.7 12.7 24.1

Trade payables 80.2 80.2 80.2

Total 210.4 242.9 185.4 20.7 12.7 24.1
 
Derivative financial liabilities 
Forward exchange contracts 1.0 1.3 1.3

Total 1.0 1.3 1.3 0.0 0.0 0.0

The table above shows maturity analysis for the Group’s contractual financial liabilities classified under 
principal headings based on the remaining period to contractual maturity at the reporting date. Forward 
interest rates as at the year-end were used for estimating contractual finance charges for the upcoming 
years. The maturity table for derivatives shows the net cash flow amounts for derivatives because they are 
net cash-settled.

Currency risk
The Group operates globally and is exposed to a foreign-currency risk arising from exchange rate 
fluctuations. Foreign exchange risk arises mainly of currency-denominated accounts receivables 
and payable, intra-group transactions, deposits and bank account balances. Group companies with 
functional currency other than euro are also exposed to a foreign-currency transaction risk arising 
from EUR denominated net cash flows in their local currencies. These EUR exposures mainly arise from 
subsidiaries located in Poland and the UK. The currencies in which the transactions within the Group are 
primarily denominated are EUR, PLN, SEK and GBP. The largest currency risk arises from PLN, SEK and 
GBP denominated transactions. During the comparative period, one of the significant currencies was also 
Romanian Leu (RON).

According to Group Treasury Policy, Group companies forecast their foreign currency flows quarterly 
for the following 15 months. The Group hedges on average 40 to 70 per cent of the net foreign currency 
exposure. The Group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its currency risk, with a maturity of up to 
15 months from the forecast date. Borrowings are, with a few exceptions, denominated in the subsidiaries’ 
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domestic currencies and Purmo Group Plc as the lender. The Group’s policy is to hedge 90-100% of the net 
financing position denominated in foreign currency by using foreign exchange loans, borrowings, forward 
contracts or options.

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to an interest rate risk that is the risk of fluctuating interest rates affecting the interest 
expense of the Group and value of its assets and liabilities. The Group has mainly financed its operations 
through loans from the Rettig Group during 2021 and through the use of group cash pool account. The 
Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk mainly through its variable rate loans. The Group has defined 
thresholds to interest fixing maturity to manage interest rate risk. At the end of 2021 interest fixing period was 
within the policy with 6 months, bridge loan of EUR 95 million excluded due to the temporary nature of the 
loan. According to Group Treasury Policy Purmo Group may use interest-rate swaps, cross-currency swaps or 
options to manage the interest-rate risk either by synthetically converting floating-rate loans into fixed-rate 
loans through the use of derivatives or buying an option or options to set limits to interest rate fluctuation. At 
the reporting date the Group had no interest rate hedging in place.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
Had interest rates been 100 basis points higher/lower during the year, profit before tax for the period would 
have been EUR 0.4 million lower / EUR 0.0 million higher (EUR 2.0 million lower / EUR 1.2 higher) mainly due to 
the change in the interest rate of the variable rate related party loans. This sensitivity simulation calculates the 
interest effect of a 100 basis point parallel shift in interest rates on all floating rate instruments excluding cash 
equivalents from their next reset date to their original maturity date. The impact of the decrease of interest 
rate is smaller than the impact of the interest increase, due to that the majority of the loans had interest 
floored to zero.

5.3 Financial assets and liabilities
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The Group classifies financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss and amortised cost. The classification of financial assets is based on the cash flow 
characteristics and the business model the asset is managed in.

The Group classifies financial liabilities into the following categories: financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss and amortised cost.

Financial assets and financial liabilities – recognition and derecognition
The Group initially recognises financial assets and financial liabilities when the entity becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither transfers nor 
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the 
transferred asset. Any interest in such derecognised financial assets that is created or retained by the 
Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability. The Group has entered into factoring arrangements, 
whereby significant risks and rewards are transferred to the counterparty. 

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or expire.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends 
either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Financial assets – measurement
Financial assets at amortised cost
A financial asset is classified and subsequently measured at amortised cost if its cash flows consist solely 
payments of principal and interest, in other words, meets the SPPI criterion, and is managed within a held 
to collect business model. Trade and other receivables, which are not subject to factoring, and vendor 
note receivable from the ultimate parent company  are included in this category. Interest income on these 
items is recognised using effective interest method and presented as finance income.
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Carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments
The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, 
including their levels in the fair-value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for trade receivables 
and payables or other current financial assets and financial liabilities, as their carrying amount is a 
reasonable approximation of fair value. 

Items where the carrying amount equates to the fair value are categorised to three levels:
• Level 1. Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
• Level 2. Fair value determined by observable parameters
• Level 3. Fair value determined by non-observable parameters
 

Balance at 31 Dec 2021
Carrying amount

EUR million

Fair value – 
hedge 

accounting

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss
Amortised 

cost Total Fair value
Fair value 
hierarchy

Financial assets
Forward foreign exchange contracts 0.1 0.5 0.7 0.7 Level 2

Related party vendor note receivable - -
Trade receivables 77.1 77.1 77.1 Level 2

Cash and cash equivalents 177.6 177.6
Total assets 0.1 0.5 254.7 255.4 77.8

Financial liabilities
Forward foreign exchange contracts 1.4 0.6 2.0 2.0 Level 2

Loans and other liabilities from 
related party - -
Loans from financial institutions 372.7 372.7 372.7 Level 2

Redemption liability 8.1 8.1 8.1 Level 3

Trade payables 116.7 116.7 116.7 Level 2

Total liabilities 1.4 0.6 497.5 499.4 499.4

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for classification as subsequently measured at either 
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income are classified and subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss.  In Purmo Group derivative assets and such trade 
receivables which are subject to non-recourse factoring arrangement but not yet derecognised on the 
balance sheet date are classified within this category.

Financial assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for the expected credit losses for financial assets not classified as 
fair value through profit or loss. The loss allowance is estimated as the full lifetime expected credit loss 
if the credit risk of the instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, otherwise the loss 
allowance is estimated as the 12 months expected credit loss at the reporting date. Possible increase in 
credit risk for said assets is assessed at the end of each reporting period.

The loss allowance for trade receivables is estimated using the simplified method and measured 
as life time expected credit losses. The expected credit loss is based on historical and forward-looking 
information and is estimated at the end of each reporting period.

Financial liabilities – measurement
Financial liabilities are classified as at fair value through profit or loss or amortised cost. 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are initially recognised at fair value less any directly 
attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Loans and trade and other payables are included in this category.

Only derivative liabilities are classified at fair value through profit and loss. 
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Balance at 31 Dec 2020
Carrying amount

EUR million

Fair value – 
hedge 

accounting

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss
Amortised 

cost Total Fair value
Fair value  
hierarchy

Financial assets
Forward foreign exchange contracts 0.7 0.4 1.2 1.2 Level 2

Related party vendor note receivable 4.2 4.2 4.2 Level 2

Trade receivables 53.1 53.1 53.1 Level 2

Cash and cash equivalents 55.0 55.0
Total assets 0.7 0.4 112.3 113.4 58.4

Financial liabilities
Forward foreign exchange contracts 0.1 0.8 1.0 1.0 Level 2

Loans and other liabilities  
from related party 90.0 90.0 90.0 Level 2

Loans from financial institutions 4.5 4.5 4.5 Level 3

Trade payables 80.2 80.2 80.2 Level 2

Total liabilities 0.1 0.8 174.7 175.7 175.7

The Group does not have any material trade receivables on the balance sheet, which will be subject to factoring.

5.4 Cash and cash equivalents
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less. These are readily convertible to a known 
amount of cash and the risk of changes in value is low. Bank overdrafts, if any, are included in current 
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The Group’s equity consists of share capital, reserve of invested unrestricted, translation differences, fair 
value reserve, reserve of share based payments and retained earnings.

Other reserves
The Company’s other reserves include fair value reserve, cumulative translation difference reserve and 
share-based payments reserve. The fair value reserve includes fair value changes of the spot component 
of derivative instruments used for cash flow hedging. The translation difference reserve comprises all 

Cash and cash equivalents
EUR million 2021 2020
Bank balances 177.6 55.0 

Total 177.6 55.0 

Purmo Group Plc (formerly Virala Acquisition Company Plc) obtained EUR 96.8 million of proceeds in the 
initial public offering in blocked bank accounts. As the terms and conditions of the escrow agreement were 
met at the end of 2021, funds were already booked to bank balances. On the basis of escrow agreement the 
funds were released to Purmo Group Plc’s bank account on 3 January 2022.

5.5 Equity
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Share capital and number of shares
In this note the shares, share capital and reserve of unrestricted equity has been presented as of the 
accounting acquiree Virala Acquisition Company Plc (“VAC”). The combined company’s registered share 
capital on 31 December 2021 was EUR 3,080,000. The Company has two share classes of which class C shares 
are listed and class F shares are held by VAC’s founding shareholder, Virala Corporation. The number of 
outstanding shares at the end of the year was 40,374,531 C-shares and 1,565,217 F-shares. The Company has 
no treasury shares.

Changes in share capital and invested unrestricted equity reserve

Number of outstanding shares (pcs)
Share capital  
(EUR million)

Unrestricted 
equity reserve 

(EUR million)
E-share  

(earlier A-share)
F-share  

(earlier B-share) C-share
1 Jan 2021  330 0 0 0.0 -

7 May 2021
Bonus issue of class A  
(later class E) shares 869,235     

7 May 2021
Share issue of class B  
(later class F share) shares  695,652  0.1 0.1

10 May 2021 Share issue of class C shares   30,000  0.2

28 Jun 2021
Bonus issue of class B  
(later class F) shares  241,739    

Number of outstanding shares (pcs)
Share capital  
(EUR million)

Unrestricted 
equity reserve 

(EUR million)
E-share  

(earlier A-share)
F-share  

(earlier B-share) C-share

28 Jun 2021
Redemption of class A  
(later class E) shares -241,739     

28 Jun 2021
Offering of class C shares net of 
EUR 4.7 million transaction costs   10,750,000  102.8

31 Dec 2021
Merger consideration and 
 increase of share capital -627,826 627,826 29,594,531 3.0 255.9

31 Dec 2021  0 1,565,217 40,374,531 3.1 358.9

Prior to the merger VAC had three share classes, which carried different voting rights in VAC’s and different 
rights to distributions of funds. Prior to admitting VAC’s class C shares to trading, VAC's share classes were 
renamed so that class A shares were renamed as class E shares and class B shares were renamed as class F 
shares. class C shares were not renamed.

On 7 May 2021 VAC issued 869,235 new Class A shares to VAC’s sole shareholder Virala Corporation in a 
directed bonus issue.

In addition, on 7 May 2021 VAC issued 695,652 new class B shares for subscription at consideration to VAC’s 
sole shareholder Virala Corporation in a directed share issue with a subscription price of EUR 0.22/share. 
Total proceeds from the subscription were EUR 0.2 thousand. VAC’s share capital increased to EUR 0.1 million 
so that EUR 0.1 million of the total subscription price of Class B Shares was recorded to the share capital. The 
remaining balance of EUR 0.1 million was recorded to the reserve for invested unrestricted equity of VAC. 
With the proceeds from the share issue, VAC covered the costs incurred in analysing and investigating the 
expansion of its operations.

On 10 May 2021, VAC directed a total of 30,000 new class C shares for subscription with consideration 
to Jaakko Eskola, Makai Holding Oy (a company controlled by Mammu Kaario) and Seico Investments Oy 
(a company controlled by Kai Seikku). The subscription price was EUR 5.00/share and total proceeds from 
the subscription were EUR 0.2 million. Total subscription price was recorded to the reserve for invested 
unrestricted equity of VAC. With the proceeds from the share issue, VAC covered the costs incurred in 
analysing and investigating the expansion of its operations. Class C shares subscribed in the directed share 
issue are subject to the terms of consent that restrict the right to transfer or dispose them during a period of 
three years from the listing becoming effective. These class C share subscriptions are transactions within the 
scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, but as the subscription price is considered to reflect the fair value of 
the shares at the subscription date no compensation expense will be recognized.

foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. 
The share-based payments reserve represents the portion of the grant date fair value of share-based 
incentive plans granted to the key management personnel of the Group that has been recognized in 
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments.

Profit distribution
Profit distribution includes dividends, group contributions and capital repayments. Dividends and capital 
repayments proposed by the Board of Directors are recognized in the consolidated financial statements 
when they were approved by the shareholders at the General Meeting. 
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On 28 June 2021, a technical bonus issue of the class B shares and a redemption of the class A share was 
carried out, in which the number of class B shares were increased by 241,739 shares to a total of 937,391 
shares, which is equivalent to 8 % of the number of class C and F shares issued by the VAC.

In VAC’s IPO that was completed on 28 June 2021, 10,750,000 class C shares were issued at a subscription 
price of EUR 10. Of the subscription price, a total of EUR 0.1 million was netted against transaction costs of 
EUR -4,7 million and the remaining amount of EUR 102,8 million was recorded in VAC's reserve for invested 
unrestricted equity.

On 20 September 2021 it was announced that subsequent to the positive market reaction of the merger 
announcement between Virala Acquisition Company Plc and Purmo Group Ltd, the first share price hurdle of 
EUR 12.00 set out in the articles of association had been exceeded, pursuant to which 18.75 per cent of class F 
shares held by VAC’s founding shareholder, Virala Corporation, have become eligible for conversion into class 
C shares at the start of the conversion period on 28 June 2024.

On the merger acquisition date 31 December 2021, Virala Acquisition Company Plc had 10,780,000 class 
C shares, 627,826 class E shares and 937,391 class F shares with no nominal value. The VAC and Purmo 
Group Ltd merger led to an increase in share capital of EUR 3.0 million, and an increase in the reserve 
of unrestricted equity of EUR 255,9 million. The shareholders of Purmo Group Ltd received 31 December 
2021 as merger consideration 2.600334506 new class C shares in VAC for each class K share and class K1 
share, and 4089.270894510 new class C shares for each class P share they held in Purmo Group Ltd (the 
“Merger Consideration”), that is, the Merger Consideration was issued to the shareholders of Purmo Group 
Ltd in proportion to their existing shareholding of each class of shares in Purmo Group Ltd. The aggregate 
number of new class C shares in VAC issued in connection with the Merger was 29,594,531 shares, resulting in 
40,374,531 class C shares in total in the Combined Company.

The shares have no nominal value. The Company's Class F shares (“Founder Shares”) are subject to 
redemption and consent clauses in accordance with the articles of association, which restrict the rights to 
transfer or acquire Founder Shares. The Founder shares are not publicly traded.

Share classes
According to the Articles of Association of Purmo Group the rights of share classes to dividends and to other 
distributions of assets shall be the following:

VAC announced on 20 September 2021 that the first share price hurdle as set out in the Company’s articles 
of association had been exceeded, pursuant to which 18.75 per cent of class F shares held by VAC’s founding 
shareholder, Virala Corporation, have become eligible for conversion into class C shares at the start of the 
conversion period on 28 June 2024.

1. Class C Share carries a preferential right to dividends and to other distributions of assets until an 
aggregate amount of EUR 60,000,000 has been distributed to Class C Shares whereafter Class C Share and 
Class F Share carry equal right to dividends and to other distributions of assets unless otherwise stipulated 
herein;

2. Prior to the fulfilment of the aggregate amount referred to in item 1 above, Class F Shares carry a right to 
dividends and other distributions of assets in accordance with the following: 

(i) If the Share Price Hurdle (as defined in section 10 § of the Articles of Association taking into account 
possible adjustments thereto) referred to in section 10 §, item 3, sub-item (i) of the Articles of Association has 
been satisfied at any point in time but at the latest two weeks prior to a General Meeting resolving on a 
dividend payment or other distribution of assets and provided that the Class F Shares eligible for conversion 
referred to in section 10 §, item 3, sub-item (i) of the Articles of Association have not been converted into Class 
C Shares referred to in section 10 § of the Articles of Association, Class F Shares carry a right to such asset 
distribution equivalent to 0.70 per cent of the assets resolved to be distributed;

(ii) If the Share Price Hurdle referred to in section 10 §, item 3, sub-item (ii) of the Articles of Association 
has been satisfied at any point in time but at the latest two weeks prior to a General Meeting resolving on a 
dividend payment or other distribution of assets and provided that the Class F Shares eligible for conversion 
referred to in section 10 §, item 3, sub-item in (ii) of the Articles of Association have not been converted into 
Class C Shares referred to in section 10 § of the Articles of Association, Class F Shares carry a right to such 
asset distribution equivalent to 0.93 per cent of the assets resolved to be distributed in addition to the right to 
distribution referred to in sub-item (i) above;

(iii) If the Share Price Hurdle referred to in section 10 §, item 3, sub-item (iii) of the Articles of Association 
has been satisfied at any point in time but at the latest two weeks prior to a General Meeting resolving on a 
dividend payment or other distribution of assets and provided that the Class F Shares eligible for conversion 
referred to in section 10 §, item 3, sub-item (iii) of the Articles of Association have not been converted into 
Class C Shares referred to in section 10 § of the Articles of Association, Class F Shares carry a right to such 
asset distribution equivalent to 0.93 per cent of the assets resolved to be distributed in addition to the rights to 
distribution referred to in sub-items (i) and (ii) above;

(iv) If the Share Price Hurdle referred to in section 10 §, item 3, sub-item (iv) of the Articles of Association 
has been satisfied at any point in time but at the latest two weeks prior to a General Meeting resolving on 
a dividend payment or other distribution of assets, Class F Shares carry a right to such asset distribution 
equivalent to 1.17 per cent of the assets resolved to be distributed in addition to the rights to distribution 
referred to in sub-items (i)-(iii) above.
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The determination of whether the Share Price Hurdles have been met for the purposes of sub-items (i)-(iv) 
above shall be made based on the Average Share Price referred to in section 10 §, item 3 of the Articles of 
Association in the same manner as the determination of whether the Share Price Hurdles have been met for 
the purposes of the conversion right referred to in section 10 §, item 3 of the Articles of Association.

If the company decides to issue Class C Shares or any rights entitling to Class C Shares (including Class C 
Shares held by the company or its subsidiaries) in a directed issue, where pre-emptive rights of shareholders 
are not afforded to the holders of Class F Shares (the “Dilution Event”), the percentages set out in sub-items 
(i)-(iv) above shall be decreased, effective immediately following the registration of such Class C Shares or 
rights entitling to Class C Shares, to reflect such dilution of the number of Class F Shares compared to the 
number of Class C Shares.

Each Class C Share and Class F Share is assigned one vote.

Authorization to purchase own shares
On 13 December 2021, the Extraordinary General Meeting of VAC (subsequently Purmo Group Plc) resolved 
in accordance with the proposal of the Board of Directors to resolve on the issuance of class C shares as 
well as the issuance of special rights entitling to class C shares referred to in Chapter 10, Section 1 of the 
Finnish Companies Act in one or several tranches. The number of class C shares to be issued based on 
this authorization shall not exceed 8,000,000 shares (including shares to be received based on special 
rights), which corresponds to approximately 20 per cent of all of class C shares in the company. However, a 
maximum of 25 per cent of the authorization, i.e. a maximum of 2,000,000 class C shares (including shares 
to be received based on special rights) may be used for incentive arrangements and remuneration schemes. 
The authorization is effective until the end of the next Annual General Meeting, however, no longer than until 
30 June 2022. The authorization revokes previous authorizations granted by a unanimous resolution of the 
shareholders to the Board of Directors on 13 June 2021 to resolve on the issuance of shares as well as on the 
issuance of special rights entitling to shares.

The Extraordinary General Meeting resolved in accordance with the proposal of the Board of Directors to 
authorize the Board of Directors to resolve on the repurchase of the company’s own class C shares as well 
as on the acceptance of them as pledge. The number of class C shares to be repurchased or accepted as 
pledge by virtue of this authorization shall not exceed 4,000,000 own class C shares in the company, which 
corresponds to approximately 10 per cent of all of class C shares in the company, subject to the provisions of 
the Finnish Companies’ Act on the maximum amount of own shares owned by or pledged to the Company 
and its subsidiaries. The authorization is effective until the end of the next Annual General Meeting, however 
no longer than until 30 June 2022.

Parent company distributable funds
After the balance sheet date, the Board of Directors proposed that a payment of funds from the invested 
unrestricted equity reserve as a return of capital of EUR 0.36 per share be paid for class C share and EUR 0.07 
per share for class F share totalling approximately EUR 14.9 million and that no dividend will be paid for the 
financial year 2021. No dividend has been distributed from the 2020 results. 

Additional information on equity is presented in Notes to the parent company financial statements,  
in Note 8.10.

Earnings per share
The basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the equity owners of the 
parent company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. The diluted 
earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares with the 
dilutive effect of all the potential dilutive shares, such as shares from share-based payments.

Comparative earnings per share (basic and diluted) have been restated for the effect of the merger for 
comparability purposes. The weighted average number of shares outstanding prior to the merger has been 
adjusted by reflecting the exchange ratio of number of shares as merger consideration.

Earnings per share, basic
2021 2020

Profit/loss attributable to shareholders of the parent company for C shares (EUR million) -18.7 24.9

Profit/loss attributable to shareholders of the parent company for F shares (EUR million) -0.1 -

Profit/loss attributable to the owners of the Company (EUR million) -18.8 24.9

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (pcs) 29,124,487 28,787,686

Basic earnings per share (EUR) -0.65 0.86
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Non-current liabilities

EUR million 2021 2020
Related party loans 277.7 -

Other loans 8.1 -

Lease liabilities 30.7 29.7

Total 316.5 29.7

Current liabilities

EUR million 2021 2020
Related party loans - 90.0

Loan from financial institutions 95.0 4.5

Lease liabilities 5.6 5.9

Total 100.6 100.4

Total liabilities 417.1 130.2

5.6 Interest-bearing liabilities
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
Long-term debt is initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The difference, between the debt amount 
recognized and the redemption amount, is recognized in income statement as interest expense over 
the period of the borrowings. The fair value changes in borrowings covered by fair value hedge are, in 
respect of hedged risk, recognized through profit and loss. A portion of long-term debt is classified as 
short-term debt, when the settlement of the liability is due within 12 months from the balance sheet date. 
Borrowings are derecognized only, if the contractual obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized in income statement as other finance 
expenses over the period of the facility, or, if withdrawal of the loan is probable, as part of the transaction 
cost. Transaction costs arising from modification to debt instruments are included in the carrying value 
of the debt and amortized using the effective interest method over the remaining period of the modified 
liability, provided that the new conditions obtained through the modification do not substantially differ 
from those of the original debt. Modification gains or losses are recognized in the income statement at 
the time of non-substantial modification.

Earnings per share, diluted
2021 2020

Profit/loss attributable to shareholders of the parent company for C shares (EUR million) -18.7 24.9

Profit/loss attributable to shareholders of the parent company for F shares (EUR million) -0.1 -

Profit/loss attributable to the owners of the Company (EUR million) -18.8 24.9

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (pcs) 29,124,487 28,787,686

Adjustments:  

Average number of treasury shares it is possible to be issued on the basis of the  
share-based payments (pcs) - 177,195

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (pcs) 29,124,487 28,964,881

Diluted earnings per share (EUR) -0.65 0.86

The earnings per share for 2021 is negative due to the EUR 52.3 million non-cash IFRS 2 merger impact which 
was recognised in other operating expenses and equity.
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Changes in financial liabilities arising from cash flow from financing activities

EUR million
Loans from 

related party
Loans from 

financial institutions Lease liabilities Total
1 Jan 2020 137.1 3.3 39.5 179.9
Changes from financing cash flows
Repayment of long-term borrowings to 
related party -30.2 -30.2

Proceeds from short-term borrowings 
from related party 89.0 89.0

Proceeds from short-term borrowings 1.4 1.4

Repayment of short-term borrowings 
from related party -105.4 -105.4

Repayment of lease liabilities -7.0 -7.0

Total -46.6 1.4 -7.0 -52.2

New leases 3.1 3.1

Exchange differences and other -0.4 -0.1 -0.6

31 Dec 2020 90.0 4.5 36.7 130.2

Terms and repayment schedule

The terms and conditions of outstanding loans are as follows:
Carrying amount

EUR million Currency Year of maturity 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Loans from related party EUR 2021 - 90.0

Loans from financial institutions EUR 2021-2024 372.7 -

Loan from financial institutions CNY 2021 - 4.5

Lease liabilities EUR 2021- 36.4 35.7

Total borrowings   409.0 130.2

Changes in financial liabilities arising from cash flow from financing activities

EUR million
Loans from 

related party
Loans from 

financial institutions Lease liabilities Total
1 Jan 2021 90.0 4.5 35.7 130.2
Changes from financing cash flows
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 280.0 280.0

Proceeds from short-term borrowings 
from related party 8.0 8.0

Proceeds from short-term borrowings 95.0 95.0

Repayment of short-term borrowings -4.9 -4.9

Repayment of short-term borrowings 
from related party -98.0 -98.0

Repayment of lease liabilities -7.8 -7.8

Total -90.0 370.1 -7.8 272.3
    

New leases 7.8 7.8

Interest expense -2.3 -2.3

Interest paid 0.4 0.4

31 Dec 2021 0.0 372.7 35.7 408.3
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5.7 Derivative financial instruments
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group holds derivative forward contracts to hedge its foreign currency exposures. Derivatives are 
initially measured at fair value. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether 
the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument.

Since November 2020, Purmo Group designates the spot component of foreign exchange forward 
contracts hedging the operative cash flows as hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow 
hedges). At inception of the hedge relationship, the group documents the economic relationship between 
hedging instruments and hedged items, including whether changes in the cash flows of the hedging 
instruments are expected to offset changes in the cash flows of hedged items. The group documents its 
risk management objective and strategy for undertaking its hedge transactions.

Until November 2020, all derivative contracts were made with the Group’s ultimate parent, Rettig Group 
Ltd. The Group’s policy was not to apply hedge accounting, but rather recognise the fair value changes in 
profit or loss. Upon establishment of Purmo Group’s stand-alone treasury function in November 2020, the 
management decided to start to apply hedge accounting to derivatives hedging the Group’s forecasted 
operative cash flows.

The Group has designated the forward contracts as hedges of the foreign currency risk arising from 
the net position of highly probable forecast sales and purchases. The hedging results hedging the net 
fx-position are recycled from other comprehensive income and presented on a net basis either in other 
income or other expenses.

Derivatives are presented as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value 
is negative .The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when 
the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months; it is classified as a current asset or 
liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as 
cash flow hedges is recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve within equity. The interest component of 
the hedging instruments is presented in financial items. Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified 
to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. When the hedged transaction 
results in recognition of inventory, the amount accumulated on hedging reserve directly adjusts the value 
of the inventory.

Changes in fair value of economic hedging derivatives, for which hedge accounting is not applied, 
are recognised in profit or loss and presented in finance income and finance expenses when they hedge 
finance items, and in other income or other expenses when they hedge operating items, such as future 
forecasted sales and purchases.  Interest component of all derivatives are included in financial items.

Derivatives and hedge accounting
The following table summarises the effects of the foreign-currency related hedging instruments on the 
Group’s financial position and performance, including amounts recycled to profit or loss during the year.

EUR million unless otherwise stated 31 Dec 2021
Foreign currency forward contracts 
Carrying amount, assets 0.5

Carrying amount, liabilities 1.4

Notional amount 114.1

Hedge ratio 1:1

Hedging results, recycled to other expenses -1.9

Weighted average hedged rates (FX rate)  

GBP 0.87

PLN 4.70

SEK 10.25

RON 5.08

Maturity breakdown of notional amounts  

Total 153.7

Between 1 and 6 months 80.2

Between 6 and 12 months 73.5

Between 12 and 15 months -

Derivatives are subject to netting agreements. Netting agreement allows for settling on a net basis all 
outstanding items within the scope of the agreement, such as in the event of default. As the Company does 
not meet IFRS right of set-off, these amounts are presented gross on the balance sheet. At the reporting 
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date, the remaining net settlement, as allowed by the netting arrangements, was EUR 1.4 (0.4) million for the 
derivative liabilities and EUR 0.1 (0.4) million for derivative assets. 

The Group is also exposed to equity translation risk through its investments in foreign operations.  The 
Group’s policy is not to hedge this risk.

Exposure to currency risk
Currency risk sensitivity to a +/- 10 per cent change in the exchange rate is shown for the net currency position 
per currency. The summary of quantitative data relating to the Group’s exposure to currency risk as reported 
to the Group management is as follows.

Currency risk

2021

EUR million GBP PLN SEK CNY RON
Forecast transactions, net 26.0 -46.4 31.9 - 25.7

 

Balance sheet exposure, financing items -15.9 -40.5 -13.8 -9.1 2.1

Hedging instruments under hedge 
 accounting, nominal amount -13.4 30.8 -16.9 - -15.7

Hedging instruments, no hedge 
 accounting, nominal amount 16.3 40.5 13.9 9.0 -2.1

Net balance sheet exposure -13.0 30.8 -16.8 -0.2 -15.7

      

Sensitivity analysis (+/- 10%)      

EUR million      

Income statement 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Equity (hedge reserve) 1.3 -1.6 1.5 - 1.0

Currency risk

2020

EUR million GBP PLN SEK CNY RON
Forecast transactions, net 22.0 -24.9 17.9 0.0 12.5

 

Balance sheet exposure, financing items -0.3 2.6 14.5 9.2 1.8

Hedging instruments under hedge accounting, 
nominal amount -13.4 12.2 6.1 0.0 -6.6

Hedging instruments, no hedge  accounting, 
nominal amount 0.0 -23.7 -19.9 -9.2 0.0

Net balance sheet exposure -13.7 -8.9 0.7 0.0 -4.8

      

Sensitivity analysis (+/- 10%)      

EUR million      

Income statement 0.0 -2.1 -0.5 0.0 0.2

Equity (hedge reserve) 1.3 1.2 0.6 0.0 -0.7
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Guarantees
EUR million 2021 2020
Guarantees
Bank guarantees 8.0 4.3

Parent guarantees 21.0 10.2

Total 29.0 14.5

Off-balance sheet leases include low-value leases, and leases that have not yet commenced. The Group 
does not have material lease agreements not yet commenced as at the balance sheet dates. Information on 
leases is disclosed in Note 3.4 Right-of-use assets.

Disputes and legal proceedings 
Purmo Group is involved in some minor legal actions, claims and proceedings. The final outcome of these 
matters cannot be predicted. Considering all available information to date the outcome is not expected to 
have material impact on the financial position of the Group.

5.8 Commitments and contingent assets and liabilities
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
Purmo Group has guaranteed obligations arising in the ordinary course of business. Typically, guarantees 
given to secure commercial contractual obligations, or received advance payments. The Group discloses 
contingent liabilities and commitments as off-balance sheet liabilities and recognises them only when the 
realisation of them is probable.

6. Group structure
6.1 Business combinations

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred 
to the Group. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is measured at fair value, as are the 
identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any gain on a 
bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred. 
The consideration transferred does not include amounts relating to the settlement of pre-existing 
relationships. Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an 
obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified 
as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent 
changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired 
entity’s net identifiable assets.

2021
On 31 December Purmo Group Ltd and Virala Acqusition Company Plc were merged according to the 
merger plan approved 13 December 2021. As VAC didn’t meet the definition of a business, the merger was 
not accounted for as a business combination but as a reverse recapitalization, in which no goodwill was 
recognized and Purmo Group obtained a public company status. The difference of the fair value of the equity 
instruments issued by VAC and the fair value of VAC’s net assets was accounted for as a non-cash share-
based payment in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-Based Payments and recorded as an expense through the 
income statement and was considered to represent a service for listing of Purmo Group’s shares. 

As a result of the application to IFRS 3 reverse acquisition guidance by analogy to the merger , Purmo 
Group’s operating history and financial performance forms the basis for the comparative consolidated 
financial information for the combined company.

On 4 November 2020 Purmo Group signed an agreement to acquire 51% of the issued share capital 
of Euroradiators Holding B.V from Bosch Group. The closing date of the acquisition was 30 April 2021 
when Purmo Group gained control over Euroradiators. Euroradiators holds all shares in Evroradiators 
LLC, a Russian limited liability company operating a radiator factory in Engels, Russia. The factory has 
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approximately 110 employees. The purchase price for the 51% share was EUR 5.5 million, fully paid in cash 
at the acquisition date and the acquisition date net present value for the put and call option was EUR 5.6 
million. which has been recognized as a redemption liability. The redemption liability is calculated based 
on a fixed amount of EUR 4.8 million, adjusted with estimated net cash, capital expenditure, and changes 
in net working capital levels. This redemption liability forms part of the provisional purchase consideration, 
amounting to approximately EUR 11.1 million. The redemption liability is fair valued through profit and loss at 
each subsequent reporting date. 

The provisional fair value of the net assets acquired at the acquisition date was EUR 7.1 million and 
accordingly Purmo Group recognized a provisional goodwill of EUR 4.0 million, which has been allocated 
to Radiators cash-generating unit for impairment testing purposes. Goodwill is considered to comprise 
of acquired assembled workforce and enhancing the Company’s position in the Russian market creating 
synergies in servicing its Russian clients. The acquisition did not have a material impact on the Group’s 
revenue or profit for the period. 

The redemption liability to redeem the 49% minority has been increased by EUR 2.2 million post-acquisition. 
which corresponds to the cash injection to the investee by the minority shareholder.  In accordance with the 
put and call option terms, the redemption liability is increased with a corresponding amount.

Fair values of acquired assets and liabilities at time of the acquisition:

EUR million
Intangible assets 0.0

Tangible assets 2.9

Right-of-use assets 0.5

Inventories 2.8

Other current assets 2.7

Total assets 8.9
  

Interest bearing liabilities 1.0

Deferred tax liabilities 0.1

Current liabilities 0.7

Total liabilities 1.8

Net assets acquired 7.1

Provisional consideration
Cash consideration 5.5

Redemption liability 5.6

Provisional consideration transferred 11.1

Net assets acquired 7.1

Goodwill 4.0

Cash flow of acquisition:

Consideration, paid in cash 5.5

Cash and cash equivalents in the acquiree -1.0

Direct transaction costs1 -0.0

Net cash flow 4.5

1 Costs incurred in previous financial periods amount to EUR 422 thousand.

2020
The Group had no business acquisitions during 2020.
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Country of incorporation Activities % Equity interest
Purmo Group Oyj Parent Holding 100

Purmo Group Finland Oy Ab Finland Sales 100

Purmo Group Latvia SIA Latvia Sales 100

Purmo Group Estonia AS Estonia Sales 100

ZAO Rettig Varme RUS Russia Sales 100

Purmo Group Denmark ApS Denmark Sales 100

Rettig Heating Equipment (Jiangsu) Co. Ltd China Production and sales 100

Purmo Group Poland Sp. z o.o Poland Production and sales 100

Purmo Group Sweden AB Sweden Production and sales 100

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or 
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, and any non-controlling interests and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when 
control is lost. Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 
recognised as equity transactions.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in 
equity and balance sheet respectively.

All intercompany transactions, receivables, liabilities, unrealised profits and distribution of profits within 
the Group are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.

6.2 Subsidiaries Country of incorporation Activities % Equity interest

Emmeti S.p.A Italy Production and sales 100

Emmeti Iberica S.L. Spain Sales 100

Fabricca Italiana Valvole S.r.l Italy Production and sales 100

SFERA Comercial e Importadora Brazil Sales 100

Sigarth GmbH Germany Sales 100

Sigarth Sp. z o.o. Poland Production and sales 100

PG Austria GmbH Austria Production and sales 100

PG Hungary Kft Hungary Production and sales 100

PG Hrvatska d.o.o. Croatia Sales 100

PG Slovenija d.o.o. Slovenia Sales 100

PG Germany GmbH Germany Production and sales 100

Hewing GmbH Germany Production and sales 100

NORAL Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG Germany Services 100

Rettig Heating Group UK Ltd United Kingdom Dormant 100

Purmo Group Belgium NV Belgium Production and sales 100

Purmo Group Ireland Limited Ireland Production and sales 100

PG Ceska s.r.o Czech Republic Sales 100

Purmo Group USA Inc United States Sales 100

Lampo Heating (Tianjin) Co. Ltd China Dormant 100

Purmo Group TurkeyTicaret ve Sanayi A.S. Turkey Production and sales 100

Purmo Group Romania srl Romania Sales 100

CAN Sp. z o.o Poland Services 100

Purmo Group France SAS France Production 100

Finimétal SASU France Production and sales 100

Purmo Group (UK) Ltd United Kingdom Production and sales 100

Purmo Group UK Pension Trustee Limited United Kingdom Dormant 100

Vogel & Noot Products Ltd United Kingdom Dormant 100

Emmeti UK Ltd United Kingdom Dormant 100

Euroradiators Holding B.V. Netherlands Holding 51

Evroradiators LLC Russia1 Russia Production and sales 51

1 100% owned by Euroradiators Holding B.V.

Purmo Group’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated the portion of 
ownership interest held equals the voting rights held by the Purmo Group. 
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6.3 Exchange rates 7. Other notes
7.1 Related party transactions
Purmo Group’s related parties include subsidiaries as well as the members of the Board and CEO and 
members of the Group management. In addition, the immediate parent company Rettig Group Ltd and the 
ultimate controlling party Rettig Capital Ltd and their subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures 
are related parties. All transactions and outstanding balances with these related parties are priced on an 
arm’s length basis. Tomas von Rettig and Maria von Rettig have significant influence over Rettig Capital Ltd.  
All transactions and outstanding balances with the related parties are made on an arm’s length basis.

Until merger 31 of December 2021, Purmo Group's related parties also included Purmo Group Ltd’s Board 
of Directors and the members of the management team, including the CEO, as well as their family members.

During the reporting period Purmo Group acquired the 10% minority of PG Germany GmbH from Rettig 
Group Ltd through converting the EUR 4.2 million vendor note receivable. The acquisition didn’t have a 
material impact on the Group. 

Rettig Group Ltd held 68.28% of the Company's shares and voting rights on 31 December 2021 and 99.23% 
in 31 December 2020, respectively.

Parent and ultimate controlling party
2021 2020

Items in the income statement
Interest income 0.1 0.9

Interest expense -2.2 -8.0

Purchases                      -0.5 -0.6

Derivative instruments, gain -0.0 0.4

Sales - -0.0

Items in the balance sheet
Vendor note receivable - 4.2

Loans - 90.0

Current liabilities 0.0 0.1

Current receivables 0.1 0.0

Items recognised in equity
Dividend and repayment of capital -266.4 -15.0

Merger 152.1 -

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities 
at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional 
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are translated into the functional currency at 
the exchange rate at the date when the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences are 
generally recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in 
a foreign currency are not retranslated. Foreign exchange gains and losses, net that relate to operating 
items are presented in other income or expenses, depending of the net position. Foreign exchange gains 
and losses, net, that relate to financing items are presented in finance  
income or expenses, depending of the net position.

Foreign operations
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’. 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro, which is the Company’s functional and 
presentation currency. The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value 
adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated into euro at the exchange rates at the reporting date. 
The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated into euro at the exchange rates at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign currency differences arising from the translation of foreign entities are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve, except to the 
extent that the translation difference is allocated to a non-controlling interest.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that control, significant influence 
or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve relating to that foreign operation 
is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. If the Group disposes of part of 
its interest in a subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is 
reattributed to non-controlling interests.
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Transactions with key management personnel

Key management personnel compensation
The information of the key management personnel compensation and remuneration is disclosed only for the 
key management of Purmo Group. Purmo Group did not have any transactions with the key management 
personnel of Rettig Group Ltd or Rettig Capital Ltd.

Remuneration to the members of the Board of Directors

EUR thousand 2021 2020
Fees 168.2 383.0

Management incentive program (share-based payment) 335.0 378.0

Total 503.2 761.0

Compensation and remuneration to the CEO and the members of the Management team

2021
EUR thousand CEO

Members of the 
Management team

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 498.7 946.7

Short term incentives 352.7 477.5

Post-employment benefits 63.5 67.5

Management incentive program (share-based payment) 247.0 660.3

Termination benefits - -

Total 1,161.9 1,384.6

 

Compensation and remuneration to the CEO and the members of the Leadership team

2020
EUR thousand CEO¹

Members of the 
Management team

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 574.5 1,724.5

Short term incentives 117.2 551.7

Post-employment benefits 118.0 226.0

Management incentive program (share-based payment) 83.0 1,623.0

Termination benefits 720.0 877.0

Total 1,612.8 5,002.2

1 Includes the remuneration to current CEO John Peter Leesi for the period of 1 July-31 December 2020 and the remuneration of Purmo Group’s former 
CEO for the period of 1 January-30 June 2020.

In 2018 Purmo Group Ltd implemented a long-term incentive plan to key management and in 2020 the 
Company implemented an incentive plan for certain key employees. For more information of incentive plans 
see note 2.5 Share-based payments. In 2020, the key management personnel of the Company subscribed 
in total 19 088 of former class K1 shares and 160 of former class P shares based on the terms of the incentive 
plans.

Purmo Group has outstanding loan receivables from key management personnel of EUR 0.2 million at 
31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: EUR 0.2 million). The loans were granted during 2018 and 2020 to 
make the initial personal investment to subscribe the Company’s former class K in connection of participants 
becoming eligible for the 2018 and 2020 incentive plans. The loans are subject to 12-month Euribor plus a 
margin of 1.00 per cent. The interest is due annually and interest payable by key management personnel 
totals to EUR 0.0 million at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: EUR 0.0 million). The loans and any accrued 
interest thereon are repayable on 30 June 2024 at the latest, or earlier if the borrower’s employment with 
the Group ends. The shares subscribed by the borrowers are pledged as security for the repayment of loan 
balance.

In 2021 Purmo Group has purchased 7 741 (34 219) former class K shares from the key management with 
a total consideration of EUR 0.4 million, (EUR 1.5 million in 2020). The treasury shares were acquired from 
the key management personnel based on the terms and the leaver conditions outlined in the Minority 
shareholders agreement dated 30 May 2018. Further, the key management personnel have received a total 
of dividends and repayments of capital by the amount of EUR 0.4 million in 2021 and EUR 0.1 million in 2020.
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7.2 Taxes
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Management judgement is required in assessing whether certain deferred tax assets and deferred 
tax liabilities are recognized on the balance sheet. Deferred tax assets are recognized only where it is 
considered probable that they will be recovered, which is dependent on the generation of sufficient future 
taxable profits. Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax 
assets that can be recognised for tax losses carried forward.

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Income tax
The income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax is recognised 
in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity, respectively.

Current tax
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year 
and any adjustment to tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current 
tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that 
reflects uncertainty relating to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax 
assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be 
used. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the 
probability of future taxable profits improves. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each 
reporting date and recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which they can be used. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to 
the same taxation authority.

Amounts recognised in profit and loss

EUR million 2021 2020
Income tax expense

For the financial period -13.4 -12.6

For previous financial periods 0.4 -0.2

Change in deferred taxes -0.8 6.1

Total -13.7 -6.6

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income

EUR million 2021 2020
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss  

Tax related to post-employment defined benefit plans 0.2 0.1

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss

Cash flow hedges 0.2 0.1

Total 0.3 0.2
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Reconciliation of effective tax rate

EUR million 2021 2020
Profit before tax -5.1 31.9

Tax using the Company's domestic tax rate 1.0 0.0

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions -1.8 0.3

Non-deductible expenses -3.5 -2.5

IFRS 2 merger impact -10.5 -

Tax-exempt income 2.5 1.1

Current year losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised -0.5 -2.2

Utilization of tax losses for which no deferred tax has been recognised - 2.0

Change in unrecognised temporary differences (tax losses 1.3 3.7

Prior year taxes 0.4 -0.2

Effect of tax consolidation/tax group in one country 0.0 0.0

Other -2.7 -2.4

Tax in profit and loss statement -13.7 -6.6
   
Effective tax rate -269.7%1 20.82%

1 Without the one-time, non-cash IFRS 2 merger impact the comparable tax rate would have been 29.1%

The total income tax expense of the Group for 2021 was EUR 13.7 million. Defining effective tax rate or 
comparing it to previous periods is not meaningful for 2021 as the Group result before taxes was negative 
due to the non-cash IFRS 2 merger impact of EUR 52.3 million. The comparable effective tax rate without the 
IFRS 2 listing expense was 29.1% (20.8%). The tax cost was burdened by significant profits in the countries with 
higher corporate income tax rate than Finland (especially Italy and Germany), tax rate based devaluation of 
deferred tax assets in France and Ireland as well as merger related real estate tax in Germany. The cost side 
was balanced by positive profit outlook in e.g. Austria and Sweden allowing recognising of deferred tax asset 
on losses for previous fiscal periods.
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Deferred tax assets

2021

EUR million 1 Jan

Recognised 
in income 
statement

Exchange 
differences

Recognised 
in OCI

Acquisitions 
and other 31 Dec

Property, plant and equipment 1.9 -0.1 0.0 - 1.7

Financial assets 0.5 -0.1 0.0 0.2 - 0.6

Inventories 1.7 0.8 - - 2.4

Post-employment benefit 
obligations /assets 3.7 -0.1 0.0 0.0 -0.1 3.5

Provisions 3.9 0.5 0.0 0.0 4.4

Tax losses carried forward 17.7 -2.3 0.3 3.5 19.2

Other temporary differences 3.6 0.7 0.1 -1.5 3.0

Deferred tax assets, total 33.0 -0.6 0.4 0.1 2.0 34.9
Offset against deferred tax liabilities -7.6 -0.8 -8.4

Total deferred tax 25.5 -0.6 0.4 0.1 1.1 26.5

Deferred tax liabilities

2021

EUR million 1 Jan

Recognised 
in income 
statement

Exchange 
differences

Recognised 
in OCI

Acquisitions 
and other 31 Dec

Intangible assets 0.5 0.4 - 0.0 0.8

Property, plant and equipment 8.1 -1.1 0.0 -0.4 6.5

Financial assets 0.6 -0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.4

Inventories 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Post-employment benefit 
obligations /assets 0.2 0.0 - -0.2 -0.1 -0.1

Provisions 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1

Other temporary differences 2.1 1.1 0.0 0.1 3.3

Deferred tax liabilities total 11.4 0.2 0.0 -0.2 -0.5 11.0
Offset against deferred tax liabilities -7.6 -0.8 -8.4

Total deferred tax 3.9 0.2 0.0 -0.2 -1.3 2.6

Deferred tax assets

2020

EUR million 1 Jan

Recognised 
in income 
statement

Exchange 
differences

Recognised 
in OCI

Acquisitions 
and other 31 Dec

Property, plant and equipment 0.8 1.1 0.0 1.9

Financial assets 0.1 0.3 0.0 0.1 0.5

Inventories 1.8 -0.1 -0.1 1.7

Post-employment benefit 
obligations /assets 2.7 0.8 0.0 0.2 3.7

Provisions 3.8 0.2 -0.1 3.9

Tax losses carried forward 13.9 3.9 0.0 17.7

Other temporary differences 2.4 1.3 -0.1 3.6

Deferred tax assets, total 25.4 7.7 -0.3 0.3 - 33.0
Offset against deferred tax liabilities -6.0 -1.6 -7.6

Total deferred tax 19.5 6.0 -0.3 0.3 - 25.5

Deferred tax liabilities

2020

EUR million 1 Jan

Recognised 
in income 
statement

Exchange 
differences

Recognised 
in OCI

Acquisitions 
and other 31 Dec

Intangible assets 0.5 0.5

Property, plant and equipment 8.2 0.0 -0.2 8.1

Financial assets 0.1 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.6

Inventories 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Post-employment benefit 
obligations /assets 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.2

Provisions 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1

Other temporary differences 1.4 0.7 0.0 2.1

Deferred tax liabilities total 9.9 1.1 -0.2 0.1 - 11.4
Offset against deferred tax liabilities -6.0 -1.6 -7.6

Total deferred tax 4.0 -0.5 -0.2 0.1 - 3.9

Why Purmo GroupPurmo Group in 2021 Sustainability Governance

Annual Report 117

2 
0 
2 
1

Financial review



Deferred tax assets have been booked on the losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which to utilise the benefits.

On 31 December 2021, Purmo Group had EUR 36.0 (31 Dec 2020: 17.2) million of tax losses carried forward 
for which no deferred tax assets were recognised because it is not probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which to utilise the benefits. Tax losses of EUR 3.0 (31 Dec 2020: 5.0) million will expire during 
the next five years and EUR 33.0 (31 Dec 2020: 12.2) million have no expiry date or will expire after five years. 

The Group does not provide for deferred taxes on the distributable earnings of non-Finnish subsidiaries, to 
the extent that such earnings are intended to be permanently reinvested in those operations and repatriation 
would give rise to tax expenses.

7.3 Events after the balance sheet date
Trading in the merger consideration shares and the existing class C shares on the official list of Nasdaq 
Helsinki Ltd commenced on 3 January 2022 under the trading code PURMO (ISIN code: FI4000507488).

Purmo Group Plc (formerly Virala Acquisition Company Plc) deposited EUR 96.8 million of proceeds in the 
initial public offering in blocked bank accounts. On the basis of escrow agreement the funds were released 
to Purmo Group Plc’s bank account on 3 January 2022. As the terms and conditions of the escrow agreement 
were met during Q4 2021, funds were already booked to cash and equivalents. The funds were used to repay 
the EUR 95.0 million bridge loan facility. 

As announced by former Virala Acqusition Company Plc on 8 September 2021, Virala Corporation had 
an option to acquire further 689,576 class C shares from Rettig Group Ltd following the completion of the 
merger. Virala Corporation has on 5 January 2022 exercised the option and Rettig Group Ltd has therefore 
disposed 689,576 class C shares in Purmo Group Plc held by it to Virala Corporation

The Extraordinary General Meeting, held on 13 December 2021, resolved that the members of the 
Nomination Board will be based on the three largest shareholders in Purmo Group Plc on the tenth business 
day following the effective date. In a stock exchange release on 20 January 2022 Purmo Group announced 
that the three largest shareholders nominated the following representatives to the Nomination Board; 
Matts Rosenberg (appointed by Rettig Group Ltd), Alexander Ehrnrooth (appointed by Virala Corporation, 
and Peter Seligson (appointed by Ahlstrom Invest B.V.). Matts Rosenberg has been elected Chairman of 
the Nomination Board. Tomas von Rettig, Chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors, acts as an expert 
member in the Nomination Board.

In a stock exchange release on 25 January 2022 Purmo Group announced that the Shareholders' 
Nomination Board proposes to the Annual General Meeting, planned be held on 25 April 2022, that 
the number of members of the Board of Directors, the composition of the Board of Directors and the 
remuneration of the Board of Directors are kept unchanged and in line with the resolutions of the 
Extraordinary General Meeting of Virala Acquisition Company Plc held on 13 December 2021, as follows:
• The Shareholders’ Nomination Board proposes that the number of members of the Board of Directors is 

seven. 
• The Shareholders’ Nomination Board proposes that Tomas von Rettig, Matts Rosenberg, Carina Edblad, 

Alexander Ehrnrooth, Carlo Grossi, Jyri Luomakoski and Catharina Stackelberg are re-elected as members 
of the Board of Directors.

• The Shareholders’ Nomination Board proposes that Tomas von Rettig is re-elected as the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors and Matts Rosenberg is re-elected as the Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors.

• The Shareholders’ Nomination Board proposed also on the remuneration of the Board of Directors and 
Board Committees.

On 3 February 2022 Purmo Group completed the syndication of the EUR 280 million term loan and EUR 80 
million revolving credit facility that were signed in September 2021. 

In a stock exchange release on 1 March 2022 Purmo Group announced that it has acquired the entire share 
capital of TT Thermotech Intressenter AB, the Nordic heating systems company. The acquisition was valued at 
SEK 265 million (EUR 25 million) on a cash and debt free basis. In 2021, the company’s total turnover was SEK 
252 million (EUR 23.8 million) and EBITDA SEK 38 million (EUR 3.6 million) in accordance with Swedish GAAP.

Given the uncertainty and risk arising from the geopolitical situation in Ukraine and Russia, including 
imposed sanctions and possible future sanctions and counter sanctions and their consequences, there may 
be impact to the fair values and economic lives of assets, as well as on the commodity prices. The direct 
exposure to the Russian and Ukrainian markets are not material for the Group. Purmo Group's net sales to 
Ukraine account for less than 1 per cent and to Russia for less than 5 per cent of total net sales, and total 
assets in these countries represents less than 3 per cent of the Group's assets. The indirect impacts on other 
markets that Purmo Group operates in are difficult to assess at this stage. The Company announced 3 March 
2022 that it suspends all sales and operations in Russia until further notice. Purmo Group actively monitors the 
situation in order to ensure continued compliance with prevailing rules and applicable sanctions laws.
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EUR thousand Note 2021 2020
Employee benefit expenses 8.2 -137 - 

Other operating expenses 8.3 -9,926 -1

Operating profit/loss  -10,063 -1
    

Financial expenses 8.4 0 - 

Profit/loss before appropriations and taxes  -10,063 -1
    

Income tax expense 8.5 2,013 - 

Profit/loss for the period  -8,050 -1

8. Parent company financial statements

EUR thousand Note 2021 2020

Assets    

Non-current assets    

Intangible assets 8.6 28,933 - 

Tangible assets 8.7 3 - 

Investments 8.8 559,634 - 

Total non-current assets  588,570 - 
  

Current assets  

Long-term receivables 8.9 29,179 - 

Short-term receivables 8.9 111,393 - 

Cash and cash equivalents  163,304 2

Total current assets  303,876 2
   

Total assets  892,446 2

Equity and liabilities  

Equity  

Share capital 8.10 3,080 3

Reserve of invested unrestricted equity 8.10 385,917 - 

Retained earnings 8.10 -2 -1

Profit/loss for the fiscal period  -8,050 -1

Total equity  380,945 2
  

Liabilities  

Non-current liabilities 8.11 277,654 - 

Current liabilities 8.11 233,847 - 

Total current liabilities  511,501 - 
   

Total equity and liabilities  892,446 2

Parent company income statement Parent company balance sheet
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EUR thousand 2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities  

Profit before appropriations and taxes -10,063 -1

Finance income and expenses 0 -

Other adjustments 0 - 

Operating profit before change in working capital -10,063 -1

 

Change in working capital

Increase (-) / decrease (+) of current receivables -532 0

Increase (+) / decrease (-) of current non-interest bearing liabilities 2,660 - 

Cash flows from operating activities before financial items and taxes -7,936 0

 

Interests paid and other finance costs 0 -

Net cash from operating activities -7,936 0

 

Cash flows from investing activities

Business acquisition - transferred assets and liabilities from Purmo Group 63,434  -

Net cash fom investing activities 63,434 0

EUR thousand 2021 2020

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from share capital increase 77 -

Proceeds from share issues 226 -

Proceeds from offering 107,500 -

Net cash fom financing activities 107,803 0

 

Change in cash and cash equivalents 163,302 0

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 2 2

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 163,304 2

Parent company cash flow statement
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Notes to the parent company financial statements
8.1 Accounting principles
The financial statements of the parent company, Purmo Group Plc (formerly Virala Acqusition Company Plc), 
have been prepared in accordance with the Finnish Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. The financial 
statements are presented in thousand euros.

Acquisitions
The merger of Virala Acquisition Company Plc and Purmo Group Ltd was completed on 31 December 2021. 
Virala Acquisition Company Plc continues as the Parent Company changing its name to Purmo Group Plc. 
The received assets and liabilities were recorded in book values. The published merger plan agreed on 13 
December 2021 lists details of the transferred assets and liabilities.

Foreign currency translations
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the date of the 
transaction. At the end of the accounting period, monetary items are valued at the rate of exchange 
prevailing at the end of period.

Derivatives
Derivatives are measured at fair value on the balance sheet date. Changes in the fair value of derivatives 
under hedge accounting against external counterparties are recognised in the other comprehensive income. 
Changes in the fair value of derivatives, to which hedge accounting is not applied and internal counterparties 
are recognised in financial income or expense in profit and loss. More information about risk management 
and derivatives in Notes 5.2 Financial risk management and 5.7 Derivative financial instruments in the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

Tangible and intangible assets
Tangible and intangible assets are valued at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation according to plan. 
Depreciation and amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives of the 
assets as follows:

Trademarks 5–10 years

Computer software 3–5 years

Other tangible assets 20 years

Receivables
Receivables are valued to acquisition cost or to a lower probable value.

Loan arrangement fee
The loan arrangement fee is recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Leases
Lease payments are treated as rentals.

Income taxes
Income tax expense includes taxes calculated for the financial year, adjustments to prior year taxes, and 
changes in the deferred taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been recognized in the financial 
statements. 

Dividends
Dividends proposed by the Board of Directors are not recorded in the financial statements until they have 
been approved by the Annual General Meeting.

8.2 Employee benefit expenses
EUR thousand 2021 2020
Salaries and fees -135 - 

Social security costs -2 - 

Total -137 - 

Salary and bonus expenses of Chief Executive Officer and 
Members of the Board of Directors
Chief Executive Officer - - 
Board of Directors -135 - 

  
Personnel on average - -
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8.3 Other operating expenses
EUR thousand 2021 2020
Expenses related to the share issue -6,114 - 

Administration -3,654 - 

Other expenses -158 -1

Total -9,926 -1

Auditors' fees

EUR thousand 2021 2020
Authorised Public Accountants KPMG
Audit -34 -

Audit related -22 -

Tax consultation -2 -

Other services -346 -

Total -404 -

8.4 Financial income and expenses
EUR thousand 2021 2020
Interest and other financial expenses

To others

Interest expenses 0 - 

Total 0 - 

Financial income and expenses total 0 - 

8.5 Income taxes
EUR thousand 2021 2020
Change in deferred taxes 2,013 - 

Total 2,013 - 

8.6 Intangible assets
EUR thousand 2021 2020
Intangible rights
Acquisition cost 1 Jan - -

Additions - -

Additions coming from the merger 36,377 -

Disposals - -

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 36,377 0
   

Accumulated amortisation 1 Jan - -

Accumulated amortisation of the merger -7,443 -

Amortisations for the financial year - -

Accumulated amortisation 31 Dec -7,443 0
Book value 31 Dec 28,933 0
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8.7 Tangible assets
EUR thousand 2021 2020
Intangible rights   

Acquisition cost 1 Jan - -

Additions - -

Additions coming from the merger 46 -

Disposals - -

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 46 0
   

Accumulated depreciation 1.10. - -

Accumulated depreciation of the merger -43 -

Depreciations for the financial year - -

Accumulated amortisation 31 Dec -43 0
Book value 31 Dec 3 0

8.8 Investments
EUR thousand 2021 2020
Investments in Group companies   

Acquisition cost 1 Jan   

Increases coming from the merger 559,634 - 

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 559,634 0

8.9 Receivables
Long-term receivables

Receivables from Group companies

EUR thousand 2021 2020
Loan receivables 26,754 - 

Total 26,754 0

Receivables from others

EUR thousand 2021 2020
Interest receivables 413 -

Total 413 0

Deferred tax assets

EUR thousand 2021 2020
Deferred tax assets 1 Jan   

From result for the financial year 2,012 - 

Deferred tax assets 31 Dec 2,012 - 

Long-term receivables total 29,179 0
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Short-term receivables

Receivables from Group companies

EUR thousand 2021 2020
Loan receivables 101,558  

Interest receivables 428  

Trade receivables 2,970  

Other receivables 3,448  

Total 108,403 0

Receivables from others

EUR thousand 2021 2020
Value added tax receivables 2,124  

Other receivables 233  

Prepayments and accrued income 633  

Total 2,989 0
   

Short-term receivables total 111,393 0

8.10 Equity

EUR thousand
Share 

capital
Reserve of invested 
unrestricted equity 

Retained 
earnings

Equity 
total

Equity 1 Jan 2020 3 0 -2 2
Merger  278,191  278,191

Share issue 3,077 107,726  110,803

Result for the financial year   -8,050 -8,050

Equity 31 Dec 2021 3,080 358,917 -8,050 380,945
     

Equity 1 Jan 2019 3 0 -1 2
Result for the financial year   -1 -1

Equity 31 Dec 2020 3 0 -2 2

Distributable equity

EUR thousand 2021 2020
Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 385,917 0

Retained earnings -2 -1

Net result for the financial period -8,050 -1

Total 377,865 -2
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8.11 Non-current liabilities
EUR thousand 2021 2020
Loans from financial institutions 277,654 -

Total 277,654 0
   

Non-current liabilities total 277,654 0

8.12 Current liabilities
Liabilities to Group companies

EUR thousand 2021 2020
Loan payables 43,147 - 

Interest receivables 30 - 

Trade payables 1,444 - 

Cash pool payables 67,645 - 

Other accruals and deferred income 18,475 - 

Total 130,741 0

Liabilities to others

EUR thousand 2021 2020
Loans from financial institutions 95,000 -

Trade payables 3,425  -

Other liabilities 983 -

Accruals and deferred income 3,698 -

Total 103,106 0
   

Current liabilities total 233,847 0

8.13 Collaterals
Pledges

EUR thousand 2021 2020
Pledges given on behalf of group companies 21,006 -

Total 21,006 0

Lease commitments

EUR thousand 2021 2020
Payments in the following year 65 -

Payments later 13 -

Total 78 0

8.14 Derivative contracts
EUR thousand 2021 2020
Foreign currency derivatives   

Foreign exchange contracts, nominal value 276,751 -
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Proposal of the Board of Directors
Purmo Group Plc’s distributable funds on 31 December 2021 total EUR 377,864,962.16, which includes EUR 
-8,050,436.89 in net profit/loss for the year. The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting 
convening that a return of capital of EUR 0.36 per class C share be paid for the financial year 2021 and that 
a return of capital for class F shares be paid in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company 
for the financial year 2021 from the reserve for invested unrestricted equity of the Company. All the class C 
shares in the Company are entitled to a return of capital except for treasury shares held by the Company 
on the return of capital record date. In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company and as a 
consequence of the first share price hurdle for conversion of class F shares into class C shares having been 
exceeded in September 2021, class F shares currently carry a right to asset distribution equivalent to 0.69 per 
cent of the return of capital proposed to be distributed to class C shares, which corresponds to a return of 
capital of EUR 0.07 per class F share.

The dividend shall be paid in two instalments. The first instalment of EUR 0.18 per class C share and 
EUR 0.03 EUR per class F share, based on the class F shares right to asset distribution in accordance with 
the Articles of Association shall be paid to the shareholders who are registered in the list of shareholders 
maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd on the dividend record date of 27 March 2022. The payment day 
proposed by the Board for this instalment is 4 May 2022.

The second instalment of EUR 0.18 per class C share and EUR 0.04 per class F share, based on the class F 
shares right to asset distribution in accordance with the Articles of Association. The dividend record day for 
the second instalment as per the current rules of the Finnish book-entry system would be 26 September 2022 
and the dividend payment day 3 October 2022.

No significant changes have taken place in the company’s financial position since the end of the financial 
year. The company’s liquidity is good and in the opinion of the Board of Directors the proposed return of 
capital will not put the company’s solvency at risk. Auditor’s note

Our auditor’s report has been issued today.

Helsinki, 25 March 2022

KPMG Oy
Authorized Public Accountant Firm
 

Kim Järvi
APA

Helsinki, 25 March 2022
 

Tomas von Rettig Alexander Ehrnrooth
Chairman of the Board
 
 
Carina Edblad Carlo Grossi
 
 

Jyri Luomakoski Catharina Stackelberg-Hammarén
 
 

Matts Rosenberg John Peter Leesi
 CEO
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Auditor’s report
To the Annual General Meeting of Purmo Group Oyj

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Purmo Group Oyj (business identity code 2890898-5) for the 
year ended 31 December 2021. The financial statements comprise the consolidated balance sheet, statement 
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and notes, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies, as well as the parent company’s balance sheet, income 
statement, statement of cash flows and notes.
In our opinion
• the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the group’s financial position, financial 

performance and cash flows in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the EU

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the parent company’s financial performance and 
financial position in accordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of financial 
statements in Finland and comply with statutory requirements.

Our opinion is consistent with the additional report submitted to the Audit Committee.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing practice in Finland. Our responsibilities under 
good auditing practice are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the parent company and of the group companies in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are applicable in Finland and are relevant to our audit, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

In our best knowledge and understanding, the non-audit services that we have provided to the parent 
company and group companies are in compliance with laws and regulations applicable in Finland regarding 
these services, and we have not provided any prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5(1) of 
regulation (EU) 537/2014. The non-audit services that we have provided have been disclosed in note 2.3 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. The materiality is determined 
based on our professional judgement and is used to determine the nature, timing and extent of our audit 
procedures and to evaluate the effect of identified misstatements on the financial statements as a whole. The 
level of materiality we set is based on our assessment of the magnitude of misstatements that, individually or 
in aggregate, could reasonably be expected to have influence on the economic decisions of the users of the 
financial statements. We have also taken into account misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in 
our opinion are material for qualitative reasons for the users of the financial statements.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. The significant risks of material misstatement referred to in the EU Regulation No 
537/2014 point (c) of Article 10(2) are included in the description of key audit matters below.

We have also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls. This includes consideration of 
whether there was evidence of management bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to 
fraud.
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The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in the audit
Valuation of goodwill (refer to accounting principles for the consolidated financial statements and note 4.1)

• At the end of the financial year, the group had EUR 369 
million of goodwill. The goodwill amounts to 95 % of the 
group equity and 35 % of the group’s total assets on 31 
December 2021.  

• Goodwill is tested for impairment when indicators of 
impairment exist, or at least annually. Goodwill impairment 
testing is conducted by comparing the carrying value with 
the recoverable amount using a discounted cash flow model.

• Determining the key assumptions used in the cash flow 
forecasts requires management judgement and estimates 
especially relating to long term growth, profitability, and 
discount rates.

• Valuation of goodwill is considered a key audit matter due to 
the significant carrying value and high level of management 
judgement involved.

• We assessed the impairment tests prepared by the Company. 
• Our detailed audit work with the involvement of KPMG 

valuation specialists included testing the integrity of the 
calculations and the technical model. We challenged the 
assumptions used by management in respect of forecasted 
growth rates and profitability as well as the appropriateness 
of the discount rates used. We also validated the assumptions 
used in relation to market and industry information.

• We also compared the cash flows used in the testing to the 
group’s business plans to our views.

• Furthermore, we have considered the adequacy of the group’s 
disclosures in respect of the impairment testing.

Revenue recognition (refer to note 2.2 of the consolidated financial statements)

• Revenue is mainly generated through the sale of 
manufactured goods. The revenue is generated by 
subsidiaries in different countries. The revenue earned from 
the sale of goods is recognised when the control associated 
with ownership is transferred to the buyer in accordance with 
the terms of delivery.

• In general, revenue recognition within the group is not 
complex but the large volumes of transactions and the fact 
that the revenue is generated through subsidiaries in different 
countries makes revenue recognition an area of focus in the 
audit and is therefore determined as a key audit matter.

• Auditors of subsidiaries have performed testing of controls 
related to revenue recognition and performed substantive 
procedures such as testing of sales agreements and year-
end transactions. 

• On group level we have assessed the revenue recognition 
principles and based on the work performed by the auditors 
in the subsidiaries evaluated compliance with group revenue 
recognition principles.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in the audit
Valuation of Inventories (refer to note 4.1 of the consolidated financial statements)

• The value of inventories amounted to EUR 157 million at the 
end of the financial year. It is essential from an accounting 
perspective that the internal control related to inventory 
accounting and valuation is appropriately organized. 

• The valuation of inventories is based on management 
estimates in respect of slow moving and obsolescence 
assessment.

• Due to the significant carrying amount and management 
judgement involved, valuation of inventories is determined as 
a key audit matter that our audit is focused on.

• In our audit the key focus has been on the pricing and 
valuation of inventories. Our component auditors carried out 
controls testing and substantive testing in relation to inventory 
costing and obsolescence provisions including monitoring of 
inventory levels.

• On group level we have assessed the work performed by 
the auditors in the subsidiaries and on group level made an 
overall assessment of the valuation of inventories.

Merger transaction of Virala Acquisition Company Plc and Purmo Group Ltd (refer to accounting principles, notes 2.3 and 6.1)

• Virala Acquisition Company Plc (“VAC”, the first company 
listed on the SPAC segment of the regulated market of 
Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd (“Nasdaq Helsinki”) and Purmo Group 
Ltd, merged on December 31, 2021.

• The merger is accounted for under IFRS within scope of IFRS 
2 Share-based payments by analogy to IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations. Goodwill is not recognized, as VAC is not 
a business as defined by IFRS 3. The difference of EUR 
52 million in the fair value of equity instruments held by 
VAC shareholders over the fair value of net assets of VAC 
represents a service of listing and is recorded as an expense 
through the income statement with a corresponding entry in 
equity.

• The transaction is complex and as such determined as a key 
audit matter that our audit has focused on.

• We have considered the accounting treatment of the merger 
transaction in relation to the requirements set under IFRS 2 
and IFRS 3.

• Our testing has focused on the merger transaction.
• We involved KPMG IFRS and financial instruments specialists 

in the audit of the transaction.
• Furthermore, we considered the appropriateness of the 

disclosures in respect of the merger transaction 
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Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the Financial Statements 
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, and of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of financial statements in Finland and 
comply with statutory requirements. The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are also responsible 
for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible 
for assessing the parent company’s and the group’s ability to continue as going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting. The financial 
statements are prepared using the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to liquidate 
the parent company or the group or cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with good auditing practice will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with good auditing practice, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the parent company’s or the group’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ and the Managing Director’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the parent company’s or the 
group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the parent 
company or the group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events so that 
the financial statements give a true and fair view.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Other Reporting Requirements
Information on our audit engagement
We were first appointed as auditors by the Annual General Meeting for the financial period ended 31.12.2018. 
Purmo Group Oyj (formerly Virala Acquisition Company Oyj) has become a public interest entity on 29.6.2021.

Other Information
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the report of the Board of Directors and the information included in the Annual 
Report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We have obtained the 
report of the Board of Directors prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the Annual Report is expected 
to be made available to us after that date. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
With respect to the report of the Board of Directors, our responsibility also includes considering whether the 
report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.
In our opinion, the information in the report of the Board of Directors is consistent with the information in 
the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in accordance with the 
applicable laws and regulations. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Helsinki, 25 March 2022
KPMG OY AB

Kim järvi
Authorised Public Accountant, KHT
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